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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Introduction
The Philippine Amusement and Gaming Corporation (PAGCOR) is a wholly-owned government
corporation created on January 1, 1977 by virtue of Presidential Decree (PD) No. 1067-A, which
was later amended by PD Nos. 1067-B, 1067-C, 1399 and 1632. These were subsequently
consolidated into one statute on July 11, 1983 under PD No.1869, also known as the
PAGCOR’s Charter. Its Office is located at6F New World Manila Bay Hotel
1588 MH Del Pilar corner Pedro Gil Streets Malate, Manila, Philippines 1004.
The 25-year franchise of PAGCOR expired on July 11, 2008. However, this was renewed by
Congress for another 25 years, or until July 11, 2033, under Republic Act (RA) No. 9487. The
three-pronged mandates of PAGCOR are: to regulate all games of chance, particularly casino
gaming in the country;to raise funds for the government’s socio-civic and national
developmental efforts; and to help boost the country’s tourism industry.
PAGCOR is successful in its bid to achieve ISO 9001:2008 Certification in 2016. Certifying
Body SGS Philippines, Inc. conducted Stage 1 audit on September 21, 2016 and Stage 2 audit
from December 5 to 7, 2016.
The audits resulted in SGS Philippines’ favorable
recommendation for PAGCOR’s ISO Certification covering all processes for four sites (three
Corporate Offices and pilot branch Casino Filipino Tagaytay).On January 9, 2017, it opened
Winford Casino (under an income sharing arrangement with a proponent).
The following are the updates on Community Relations and Services Programs:
o

PAGCOR School Building Project
Since 2012, PAGCOR has shown its advocacy towards education by providing funds for
the construction of much needed school buildings.
As of January 2017, 4,051 classrooms have been completed in 716 sites; 2,404
classrooms are presently under construction in 220 sites; 173 classrooms in 22 sites are
under procurement; and preparation of Program of Work (POW) is being done for 293
classrooms in 39 sites. In total, 6,921 classrooms in 997 sites will be constructed with
the funding that PAGCOR gave to the project.

o

Feeding Program
In partnership with the Department of Education, PAGCOR conducts a feeding program
for undernourished children in public elementary schools. For the school year 20162017, the PAGCOR Board approved the conduct of the program with a total of 10,110
children from various public schools nationwide (in areas where PAGCOR operates
casino branches) as chosen beneficiaries.

o

PamaskongHandog
A total of 14 beneficiaries in Metro Manila, that is, the elderly, the indigenous peoples,
orphans, the sick and the needy benefited from the 2016 PamaskongHandog, an annual
Christmas gift-giving program of PAGCOR.
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o

Financial/Medical Assistance
PAGCOR granted financial assistance to the following provinces affected by Typhoon
Lawin for the acquisition of construction and other related materials in the total amount
of P11.0 million; P3.0 million to Ilocos Norte; P2.0 million each to Cagayan and Isabela;
and P1.0 million each to Ilocos Sur, Kalinga,Apayao and Mt. Province. Financial
assistance was likewise given to the City Government of Davao of P5.0 million for the
victims of the bombing incident at the Davao City Night Market on September 2, 2016.
Community Relations andServices Department (CRSD) likewise facilitated the grant of
cash incentives and other benefits to the sports-related beneficiaries and activities.

o

Relief Operations
PAGCOR conducted relief operations and distributed relief packs to victims of typhoons
in affected provinces.

Audit Scope, Objectives and Methodology
The audit covered the examination, on a test basis, of the accounts, transactions and operations
of PAGCOR for CY 2016 in accordance with Philippine Public Sector Standards on Auditing
(PPSSA). It was also aimed at expressing an opinion on the fairness of presentation of
PAGCOR’s financial position, results of operations and cash flows in accordance with PPSSA
and at determining its compliance with laws, rules and regulations.

Financial Highlights
a. Comparative total assets, liabilities, equity, income and expenses
CY 2016

CY 2015
(As restated)

Increase
(Decrease)

Assets

P34,256,879,913

P32,030,922,893

P2,225,957,020

Liabilities
Equity

P20,752,067,280
13,504,812,633

P21,803,562,634
10,227,360,259

P(1,051,495,354)
3,277,452,374

Income
Total Income

P55,060,021,558

P47,199,033,483

P7,860,988,075

Expenses
Personal Services
MOOE
Financial Expenses
Operating Expenses
5% Franchise Tax
Contributions to
Government

P 7,618,352,388
6,433,356,563
71,523,242
P14,123,232,193
2,665,414,857

P 7,750,225,771
6,485,396,159
96,955,506
P14,332,577,436
2,169,139,265

P (131,873,383)
( 52,039,596)
(25,432,264)
P (209,345,243)
496,275,592

33,811,302,289

26,879,952,967

6,931,349,322

Total Expenses

P50,599,949,339

P43,381,669,668

P7,218,279,671
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CY 2015
(As restated)

CY 2016
Net Profit

P 4,460,072,219

P 3,817,363,815

Increase
(Decrease)
P642,708,404

b. Comparative actual and budgeted expenditures
2016
Actual
Personal Services
Maintenance and Other
Operating Expenses
Financial Expenses
Total Operating Expenses

Budget

Over Budget

P 7,618,352,388

P8,069,004,625

P 450,652,237

6,433,356,563

7,356,991,974

923,635,411

71,523,242

105,172,941

33,649,699

P 14,123,232,193

P 15,531,169,540

P 1,407,937,347

2015 (As Restated)
Actual
Personal Services
Maintenance and Other
Operating Expenses
Financial Expenses
Total Operating Expenses

Budget

Over Budget

P 7,750,225,771

P 7,931,078,987

P 180,853,216

6,485,396,159

7,041,339,937

555,943,778

96,955,506

144,010,203

47,054,697

P14,332,577,436

P15,116,429,127

P783,851,691

Independent Auditor’s Report on the Financial Statements
The Auditor rendered an unmodified opinion on the fairness of presentation of the financial
statements of PAGCOR for CY 2016.
Summary of Significant Audit Observations and Recommendations
The significant observations and recommendations for CY 2016 are presented below, details of
which are discussed in Part IIof this Report, as follows:
1. The year-end balance of Property, Plant and Equipment (PPE) account totaling P18.307
billion included unserviceable PPE and those which were beyond economic repair
amounting to P75.432 million which was not in consonance with the provisions of Philippine
Accounting Standard (PAS) No. 16 and semi-expendable items in the amount of P24.538
iii

million, which were below the P15,000.00 threshold. Discrepancies amounting to P53.477
million between the balance per books and the Annual Physical Inventory Report were also
noted.
We recommended that Management implement the following:
a. Reclassify to Other Assets account the unserviceable PPE in order to derecognize them
from the PPE account pursuant to Paragraph 67, PAS 16;
b. Comply with the prescribed criteria for the recognition of PPE and application of the
capitalization threshold of P15,000.00; and
c. Conduct deeper investigation into the big LBNF items that were not found during the
physical count. In case it could no longer be located, require the accountable
employees/officers determined to be liable for the loss of PPE items to file relief from
property accountability in accordance with Section 105 of PD No. 1445. Subsequently,
make the necessary adjusting entry for the fair presentation of the PPE account in the
financial statements.
2. The continued differing interpretation of the clause “aggregate gross earnings from its
Franchise” in Section 12, PD No. 1869, resulted in under remittances to the Bureau of
Treasury (BTr) aggregating P26.833 billion as of December 31, 2016. Also, the computation
of the 50 per cent cash dividend required under Section 3 of RA No. 7656 was still
overstated by P6.160 billion.
We reiterated our previous audit recommendation that Management comply with Section 12
of PD No. 1869 and consider not only income from gaming operations but from the entire
income in computing the 50 per cent government share. To avoid accumulation of
PAGCOR’s obligation to the BTr, it was recommended that PAGCOR remit the amount of
P20.673 billion representing the net amount of the total under remittance of P26.833 billion
and the over remittance of P6.160 billion.
3. PAGCOR did not impose the required posting of performance cash deposit (PCD) to various
electronic and traditional bingo operators which was contrary to the provisions of Section
4(a), Regulation 4 on the Fees and Monetary Requirements as provided in the Gaming Site
Regulatory Manual (GSRM) Version 2.0 for Bingo Games resulting in non-collection of PCD
amounting to P115.818 million.
We recommended that Management:
a.

Implement strictly the provisions of the Gaming Site Regulations Manual for the
Bingo Games on the posting/payment of the required PCD;

b.

Exert effort in collecting the required balance of the PCD as PAGCOR’s safety
measure in case of Bingo Operator’s failure to comply with its financial obligations
and for payment of penalties for offenses committed, if any; and

c.

Consider the suspension/revocation of the licenses of bingo operators until they fully
complied with the payment of the required PCD.
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Status of Suspensions, Disallowances and Charges
Notice of Disallowance amounting to P671.620 million and US$8,978.58, and Notice of Charge
amounting to P40.857 million remained unsettled as of December 31, 2016. Details were
presented in Part II of the Report.
Beginning balance,
January 1, 2016

Audit Action
Suspensions
Charges
Total

199,420.20

P 126,038,125.36

P126,237,545.56

197,953,543.82

474,226,836.50

560,428.58

671,619,951.74

648,000.00

40,209,095.49

0

40,857,095.49

P198,800,964.02

P 640,474,057.35

P 126,797,974.14

P 712,477,047.23

Issued

Settled

Beginning balance,
January 1, 2016

Audit Action
Suspensions

Settled

P

Disallowances

$

Ending Balance,
December 31, 2016

Issued

0

$

768.88 $

P

0

Ending Balance,
December 31, 2016

768.88

$

0

Disallowances

0

9,468.50

489.92

8,978.58

Charges

0

0

0

0

Total - USD

$

0

$ 10,237.38 $

1,258.80

$

8,978.58

Status of Implementation of Prior Year’s Audit Recommendations
Out of the 36 audit recommendations embodied in the prior year’s Annual Audit Report, 16 were
fully implemented, 10were partially implemented and 10 were not implemented. Details were
presented in Part III of the Report.
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PHILIPPINE AMUSEMENT AND GAMING CORPORATION
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As of December 31, 2016
(With corresponding figures for 2015)
(In Philippine Peso)

Notes

2016

2015
(As Restated)

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Receivables - Net
Inventories
Prepayments
Total Current Assets

3
4
2.5, 2.6 & 5
6

10,913,434,423
2,720,647,023
534,687,488
259,839,875
14,428,608,809

8,588,425,566
1,584,132,114
485,984,691
98,863,874
10,757,406,245

7
8
2.7 & 9
10

143,170,380
52,215,880
18,307,054,069
1,325,830,775
19,828,271,104

143,170,380
52,075,609
19,237,437,293
1,840,833,366
21,273,516,648

34,256,879,913

32,030,922,893

1,655,146,768
7,958,275,844
100,000,000
1,116,079,580

3,860,102,620
7,190,658,542
100,000,000
903,218,848

10,829,502,192

12,053,980,010

6,073,756,001
3,848,809,087

6,500,005,575
3,249,577,049

9,922,565,088

9,749,582,624

TOTAL LIABILITIES

20,752,067,280

21,803,562,634

EQUITY

13,504,812,633

10,227,360,259

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
34,256,879,913
The notes on pages 9 to 33 form part of these financial statements.

32,030,922,893

Non-Current Assets
Investments
Receivables
Property, Plant and Equipment - Net
Other Assets
Total Non-Current Assets
TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current Liabilities
Accounts Payable
Inter-Agency Payables
Intra-Agency Payables
Other Liability Accounts

11
12
13 & 27.d
14

Total Current Liabilities
Non-Current Liabilities
Long-Term Liabilities
Deferred Credits
Total Non-Current Liabilities

15
16
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PHILIPPINE AMUSEMENT AND GAMING CORPORATION
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the Year Ended December 31, 2016
(With corresponding figures for 2015)
(In Philippine Peso)

PARTICULARS
INCOME FROM GAMING OPERATIONS
Less: Gaming Taxes and Contributions
5% Franchise Tax
50% Government Share
Dangerous Drugs Board (RA 9165)
Total Gaming Taxes and Contributions
Total Gaming Income Net of Gaming Taxes and Contributions
INCOME FROM OTHER RELATED SERVICES
OTHER INCOME

Notes

2016

2015
(As Restated)

2.4, 2.9 &18

53,308,297,148

43,382,785,295

19.a
19.b
19.c

2,665,414,857
25,261,441,145
60,000,000
27,986,856,002

2,169,139,265
20,546,823,015
60,000,000

22,775,962,280

25,321,441,146
1,681,721,659
70,002,751

20,606,823,015
1,773,599,935
2,042,648,253

27,073,165,556

24,423,071,203

7,618,352,388
6,433,356,563
71,523,242

7,750,225,771
6,485,396,159
96,955,506

24.a
24.b & 24.c
24.d.i
24.d.ii
24.d.iii

441,720,000
6,005,070,255
12,061,351
1,000,000
92,644,953

442,120,000
4,051,197,513
9,536,120
9,500,000
51,936,186

25.a
25.b
25.c
25.d
25.e

1,266,072,057
500,000,000
100,000,000
16,994,583
23,716,317
22,582,511,709

1,030,341,151
500,000,000
100,000,000
8,138,923
37,934,330

20,573,281,659

4,490,653,847
30,581,628

3,849,789,544
32,425,729

4,460,072,219

3,817,363,815

2.4, 2.9 & 20
2.4, 2.8, 2.9 & 21

Total Income Net of Gaming Taxes and Contributions
EXPENSES
Operating Expenses
Personal Services
Maintenance and Other Operating Expenses
Financial Expenses
Corporate Social Responsibility Projects
Host Cities' Share
Subsidy to NGAs
Subsidy to LGUs
Subsidy to NGOs / POs
Donations
Contributions Mandated by Special Laws
5% PSC's Share (RA 6847)
Early Childhood Care and Development (RA 10410)
National Endowment for Culture and the Arts (RA 10066)
Mandated Contribution to NGAs - Others (RA 10699)
1% Board of Claims' Share (RA 7309)
Total Expenses
Net Income / (Loss) Before Corporate Income Tax
Corporate Income Tax
NET INCOME / (LOSS)
The notes on pages 9 to 33 form part of these financial statements.

2.9 & 22

26

6

PHILIPPINE AMUSEMENT AND GAMING CORPORATION
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the Year Ended December 31, 2016
(With corresponding figures for 2015)
(In Philippine Peso)
Notes
Capital Stock

71,430,752

Restricted Capital
Balance, Beginning
Current Appropriations
Balance, End
Retained Earnings
Balance, Beginning
Declared Cash Dividends

2016

28
29

Current Appropriations
Other Property, Plant & Equipment

2015
(As Restated)
71,430,752

4,834,428,313
(262,975,609)

5,080,000,956
(245,572,643)

4,571,452,704

4,834,428,313

5,235,994,739
(1,182,619,845)

3,071,377,299
(1,898,319,018)

262,975,609

245,572,643

262,975,609

245,572,643

Net Income for the Year

4,460,072,219

3,817,363,815

Balance, End

8,776,422,722

5,235,994,739

85,506,455

85,506,455

TOTAL EQUITY
13,504,812,633
The notes on pages 9 to 33 form part of these financial statements.

10,227,360,259

Total Current Appropriations

Appraisal Capital

17
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PHILIPPINE AMUSEMENT AND GAMING CORPORATION
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2016
(With corresponding figures for 2015)
(In Philippine Peso)

Notes

2016

2015

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Income from Casino Customers
Income from Junket Operations, Non-Casino Customers and Other Income
Interest Income
Payments to Employees, Suppliers, Lessors and Other Creditors
50% Government Income Share
Other Mandated Contributions
Other Operating Disbursements (net of non-cash transactions)
Taxes Remitted to Bureau of Internal Revenue
Interest Paid on Loans / Payables
Gain / (Loss) on Foreign Exchange
2.8
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities

22,068,833,323
31,788,133,926
78,643,585
(21,975,986,298)
(24,937,784,131)
(3,481,138,040)
687,946,926
(412,560,433)
(79,552,128)
(14,879,127)

21,600,763,169
23,563,839,270
56,927,246
(18,724,877,655)
(20,055,055,876)
(6,963,821,986)
4,810,641,132
(2,120,727,407)
(93,079,225)
(60,589,923)

3,721,657,603

2,014,018,745

(1,396,648,746)

2,001,789,980
(2,975,770,199)

(1,396,648,746)

(973,980,219)

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Proceeds from Sale/Disposal of Property, Plant and Equipment
Purchase of Property, Plant and Equipment/Stocks
Net Cash Used in Investing Activities
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Loan Proceeds
Payment of Loans
Net Cash Used in Financing Activities
Net Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents

-

-

-

-

2,325,008,857

1,040,038,526

Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Year

3

8,588,425,566

7,548,387,040

Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Year
The notes on pages 9 to 33 form part of these financial statements.

3

10,913,434,423

8,588,425,566
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(All amounts in Philippine Peso unless otherwise indicated)

1. General Information
The Philippine Amusement and Gaming Corporation (PAGCOR), with business
address at New World Manila Bay Hotel, M. H. Del Pilar corner Pedro Gil Street,
Malate, Manila, is a 100 per cent government-owned and controlled corporation
(GOCC) domiciled in the Republic of the Philippines. It was created on January 1,
1977 by virtue of Presidential Decree (PD) No. 1067-A. This was amended under PD
Nos. 1067-B, 1067-C, 1399 and 1632 which were subsequently consolidated into one
statute, PD No. 1869 (PAGCOR’s Charter), on July 11, 1983. PAGCOR was created
with a three-pronged mandate: To regulate all games of chance, particularly casino
gaming in the country, To raise funds for the government's socio-civic and national
developmental efforts, and To help boost the country's tourism industry. PAGCOR’s 25year franchise, which expired on July 11, 2008, has been renewed by Congress for
another 25 years or until July 11, 2033 under Republic Act (RA) No. 9487.
PAGCOR operates 10 casino branches in major cities in the country, aside from minicasinos, slot machine arcades and PAGCOR clubs. These casinos are Casino Filipino
(CF)-Malate and CF-Pavilion in Manila, CF-Angeles, CF-Bacolod, CF-Cebu, CF-Davao,
CF-Iloilo, CF-Laoag, CF-Olongapo, and CF-Tagaytay. The junket operations at CFLaoag ceased its operations on December 4, 2016.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
The significant accounting policies that have been used in the preparation of these
financial statements are summarized below. These policies have been consistently
applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.
2.1 Basis of Accounting
From July 15 to December 31, 1986, PAGCOR followed the accrual basis of
accounting. However, in 1987 the Corporation shifted to the modified cash basis of
accounting on account of its commitment to directly transfer its net cash income to
the Social Fund under the Office of the President. Under this method of accounting,
the company recognized winnings, rental and other income when collected,
regardless of when they were earned. Likewise, operating and other expenses were
generally recognized when paid regardless of when they were incurred. Capital
expenditures were also charged outright to expenses so that depreciation was no
longer provided.
Subsequently, in compliance with (a) COA Circular No. 2004-002 dated April 29,
2004 - Prescribing the Chart of Accounts Under the New Government Accounting
System (NGAS) for GOCC and (b) COA Circular Letter No. 2004-001 dated May 7,
2004 - Accounting Guidelines and Procedures on the Adoption of the Chart of
Accounts under the NGAS by GOCC, PAGCOR adopted the NGAS and shifted
from the modified cash to accrual basis of accounting effective January 1, 2005.
9

2.2 Combined Financial Statements
The combined financial statements of PAGCOR reflect the financial position and
results of operations of the Home Office and its branches. Inter-branch accounts
have been eliminated in the consolidation.

2.3 Presentation Currency
PAGCOR’s financial statements are presented/reported in Philippine peso, its
functional currency, or the currency of the primary economic environment in which
the company operates.

2.4 Revenue Recognition
Revenue is recognized when the amount of revenue can be measured reliably and
the inflow of economic benefits associated with the transaction is probable. Income
is generally recognized when realized or earned, except for revenues where the
accrual method is impractical, such as table games and slot machine winnings,
since these cannot be measured reliably until cash is actually received.
2.5 Inventory Procedure and Valuation Method
Supplies and materials purchased for stock, whether they are consumed or not
within the accounting period, are recorded using the Perpetual Inventory System.
The cost of inventory issued and its ending balance is computed using the Moving
Average Method.
2.6 Change in Accounting Policy for Chips and Tokens
Under the modified cash basis of accounting adopted by PAGCOR prior to CY
2005, purchases of chips and tokens were immediately charged to expense upon
payment. Subsequently, when PAGCOR shifted to the accrual basis of accounting
under NGAS on January 1, 2005, purchases of chips and tokens were capitalized
under the account Other Property, Plant and Equipment: Chips and Tokens.
The policy was amended in CY 2007 when all chips and tokens actually on hand at
the Corporate Vaults and Tokens Storeroom as of September 30, 2007 were taken
up in PAGCOR’s books of accounts as Other Supplies Inventory: Chips and
Tokens. The book value of said inventory was determined based on the following:
a. Physical count per Finance and Treasury Department’s (FTD’s) Location
Summary Report generated from its Vault Inventory System for Chips and
Tokens as of September 30, 2007.
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b. Insurable value per unit of chips and tokens based on FTD’s memo to
Accounting Department (AD) dated September 5, 2007 on the subject Supplies
Inventory – Vault Inventory System Interface (SIS-VIS), submitting to AD the
summary of estimated purchase cost of chips and tokens used by FTD in
computing insurable value as of May 23, 2007.
Insurable value per unit was adopted by PAGCOR as basis since no complete
records of the acquisition costs of chips and tokens are available. Insurable
value is either the actual acquisition cost, if available, or an estimated cost
based on the latest purchase price for similar items.
After the booking as inventory of chips and tokens on hand at Corporate as of
September 30, 2007, all issuances starting October 1, 2007 are now being charged
to the receiving branches using weighted average cost and taken up as Other
Supplies Expenses: Chips and Tokens. Any returns from the branches to Corporate
are added back at zero cost to the quantity on hand at FTD.
Additional amendments were made to preclude further reduction of Chips and
Tokens’ unit cost, based on existing guidelines, and to record actual inventory
balance of Chips and Tokens at Corporate Office and Casino Branches. The
following accounting treatment and procedures were adopted in November 2015:
a. All Chips and Tokens at the Corporate Office and Casino Branches as of
October 31, 2015 were accounted.
b. To arrive at the unit of cost of Chips and Tokens, divide the Chips and Tokens
Inventory account balance at the Corporate Office by the total quantity of
accounted Chips and Tokens at the Corporate Office and Casino Branches.
c. Using the quantity of accounted Chips and Tokens, charge/transfer to branches
their Chips and Tokens Inventory account balance.
d. All other guidelines in handling of chips and tokens shall remain in full force and
effect.

2.7 Property, Plant and Equipment
Acquisitions of Property, Plant and Equipment, except for the initial set-up of
existing Property, Plant and Equipment following the shift from modified cash to
accrual basis of accounting on January 1, 2005, are recorded at historical cost. The
cost of an item of Property, Plant and Equipment shall consist of its purchase price
and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to working condition for its
intended use.
Depreciation Method - As required under NGAS, particularly COA Circular No.
2003-007 dated December 11, 2003, the straight line method of computing
depreciation for property, plant and equipment is followed by PAGCOR.
Considering that nothing is gained from the disposal of gaming equipment since
usable parts and materials are scavenged for the maintenance and reconditioning of
11

other units, leaving only scraps for donation, the Residual Value shall be pegged at
P1.00 for monitoring purposes only since some gaming equipment outlive their
estimated useful life and may continue to be used even after being fully depreciated.
This will also preclude cases where that last branch using the equipment bears the
full burden of the loss from the write-off of a higher Residual Value. The adjustment
and the corresponding depreciation expenses shall only be effected for those
gaming equipment with remaining useful life of at least six months and over as of
December 31, 2014.
Estimated Useful Lives - PAGCOR has generally complied with COA Circular No.
2003-007 on the Revised Estimated Useful Life in Computing Depreciation for
Government Property, Plant and Equipment (PPE). However, in view of the nature
of the company’s business and specialized equipment used (such as Closed Circuit
Television or CCTV, slot machines and gaming tables), different estimated useful
lives for certain assets have been adopted. The schedule of estimated useful lives
of PPE is shown below:
Particulars

Estimated Useful Life (in years)
Buildings
30 *
30, or term of lease, or expiry of
Leasehold Improvements
PAGCOR’s franchise on July 11,
2033, whichever is shorter
Office Equipment
5 to 10
Office Furniture and Fixtures
10
Gaming Furniture and Fixtures
4 to 10
Communication Equipment
5 to 10
Firefighting Equipment and Accessories
10
Medical, Dental and Laboratory Equipment
10
Military and Police Equipment
10
Sports Equipment
10
Gaming Equipment
5
Bingo Equipment
5
Other Machinery and Equipment
10
Transportation Equipment
7
Other Property, Plant and Equipment - Others
5
* For subsequent acquisitions after PAGCOR’s shift to the NGAS/Accrual Basis of
Accounting effective January 1, 2005, estimated useful life is 30 years. Existing
buildings and structures as of December 31, 2004 were set up in our books of
accounts in January 2005 using appraised values and estimated remaining useful
lives, per Appraisal Reports of Land Bank of the Philippines dated August 6 and 7,
2004, which ranged from 25 to 35 years for buildings and from 20 to 32 years for
other structures.
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2.8 Foreign Exchange Transactions
Foreign currency transactions, such as dollar table winnings, are recorded on initial
recognition in PAGCOR’s functional currency (Philippine peso) by applying to the
foreign currency amount the exchange rate between the functional currency and the
foreign currency at the date of the transaction, which is defined as the date on which
the transaction first qualifies for recognition in accordance with Philippine Financial
Reporting Standards (PFRS). In the case of dollar table winnings, this is the actual
date on which the winnings are generated from the tables.
At each subsequent balance sheet date henceforth, foreign currency monetary
items, such as Cash in Bank – Foreign Currency and other dollar-denominated
receivable and payable accounts are revalued at month-end, with the difference
recognized in our books as Foreign Exchange Gain or Foreign Exchange Loss.

2.9 Change in Accounting Policy on Recording of Various Income and Expense Accounts
Effective January 1, 2009, in compliance with COA recommendations and as
provided under Philippine Accounting Standards (PAS) No. 1, expenses relative to
Bingo Operations, Hotel Operations, Gasoline Service Operations, Entertainment,
and other revenue-generating activities are no longer offset against the income
account but recorded separately under the corresponding proper accounts.
Moreover, effective January 1, 2010, for alignment to PAGCOR income definition,
various income accounts and categories were created, renamed and reclassified, as
follows:

From
Business Income
01. Winnings - Table Games
02. Winnings - Slot Machines
03. Winnings - Dollar Pit
04. Winnings - Intercity/Casino Link
05. Winnings - Electronic Gaming
Other Business Income:
06. Bingo Operations In-House
(a) Regular
(b) Instant Bingo I
(c) Instant Bingo II
(d) Pop Pera
(e) Mobile

To
Income from Gaming Operations
01. Winnings - Table Games
02. Winnings - Slot Machines
03. Winnings - Dollar Pit
04. Winnings - Intercity/Casino Link
05. Winnings - Electronic Gaming
Income from Other Related Services
01. Bingo Operations In-House
(a) Regular
(b) Instant Bingo I
(c) Instant Bingo II
(d) Pop Pera
(e) Mobile
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From
07. Bingo Franchisees - Traditional
08. Bingo Franchisees - Electronic
09. Management Fees
10. Rent Income

To
02. Bingo Operations - Franchisees
(a) Traditional
(b) Electronic
03. Management Fees
04. Rent Income
05. Others
(a) Internet Gaming Operations
(b) Licensed Casinos
(c) Mobile Gaming Operations
(d) Poker Operations
(e) Income from SM Demo Units
Other Income
01. Entertainment
02. Gasoline Service Operations
03. Hotel Operations
04. Minimum Guaranteed Fee
05. Reimbursement of Manpower Costs
06. Interest - Peso Accounts
07. Interest - Dollar Accounts
08. Dividend Income
09. Miscellaneous Income
10. Other Fines and Penalties

11. Entertainment
12. Gasoline Service Operations
13 Hotel Operations
14. Others 1]
Other Income
01. Interest - Peso Accounts
02. Interest - Dollar Accounts
03. Dividend Income
04. Miscellaneous Income
05. Other Fines and Penalties
Gain/Loss
01. Gain/Loss on Foreign Exchange (FOREX)
11. Gain/Loss on Foreign Exchange (FOREX)
02. Gain/Loss on Sale of Disposed Assets 2]
03. Gain/Loss on Sale of Securities 2]
1] For deletion
2] For classification under Miscellaneous Income
Effective July 1, 2010, the Income from In-House Bingo Operations was reclassified
as part of Income from Gaming Operations subject to five per cent Franchise Tax,
50 per cent Government Share and five per cent Philippine Sports Commission
(PSC) Share.
Management Fees pertains to the payment received by PAGCOR, equivalent to a
certain percentage of winnings, for the operation of Clark Development
Corporation’s casino in CF-Mimosa and for the Pachinko/Pachisuro operations that
last up to March 2011 at CF-Paranaque.
The Management Fees of CF-Mimosa were reclassified as part of Income from
Gaming Operations: Winnings-Table Games Peso or Dollar, subject to five per cent
Franchise Tax, 50 per cent Government Share and five per cent PSC Share
effective July 1, 2010.
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Effective January 1, 2013, the Income from eBingo was reclassified as part of
Income from Gaming Operations subject to five per cent Franchise Tax, 50 per cent
Government Share and five per cent PSC Share.
The following income accounts from Income from Other Related Services were
reclassified to Income from Gaming Operations effective January 1, 2014:
a. Bingo Operations – Franchisees
b. Junket Operations (except Rent Income derived from the operations of the
Fort Ilocandia Promotions Limited (FIPL) that is fixed in nature)
c. Electronic / Mobile Gaming Operations
d. Poker Operations
Further reclassification were made effective January 1, 2015 where Income from
Licensed Casinos and Minimum Guaranteed Fees were reclassified from Income
from Other Related Services to Income from Gaming Operations. Also, to set the
distinction between gaming and non-gaming other income, the Other Services
account was created where all gaming-related other income, previously recorded
under Miscellaneous Income account, will now be recorded.

3. Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and Cash Equivalents include time deposits with maturities of two months or less
and treasury fund capital for PAGCOR’s gaming operations.

PARTICULARS
Cash on Hand
Cash in Bank - Local Currency
Cash in Bank - Foreign Currency
Treasury Fund Capital
Total Cash and Cash Equivalents

2016
49,680,249
8,102,987,861
1,598,854,789
1,161,911,524
10,913,434,423

2015
5,228,300
7,332,812,557
257,496,308
992,888,401
8,588,425,566

a. Cash on Hand – This consists of collections and deposits made by Collecting
Officers, amount of cash advances granted to Regular and Special Disbursing
Officers for payment of salaries and disbursements made in payment of authorized
official expenditures. It also includes Petty Cash Funds and various revolving funds
maintained in the Home Office and branches.
b. Cash in Bank – Local/Foreign Currency - This account represents the bank accounts
with the Philippine National Bank and Land Bank of the Philippines maintained by
the Home Office and branches. It includes placements in time deposits which can
be pre-terminated when necessary.
c. Treasury Fund Capital - This account pertains to the cash capital for gaming
operations kept in the vault of the branches’ Treasury and back-up capital deposited
in the banks.
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4. Current Receivables, Net
This pertains to the current portion of amounts owed to PAGCOR, as follows:

PARTICULARS

2016

2015
(As Restated)

Receivable Accounts
Accounts Receivable - Officers & Employees
Accounts Receivable - Others
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts - Others
Net

2,537,097
2,763,451,153
(359,068,113)
2,406,920,137

1,908,035
1,577,148,097
(345,942,309)
1,233,113,823

Due from Officers & Employees
Interests Receivable
Total Receivable Accounts

241,684,501
4,783,931
2,653,388,569

276,121,316
2,093,187
1,511,328,326

0
1,908,486
1,908,486

35,200,000
3,292,788
38,492,788

556,006
64,793,962
65,349,968

705,300
33,605,700
34,311,000

2,720,647,023

1,584,132,114

Inter-Agency Receivables
Due from NGAs - Others
Due from GOCCs - SSS
Total Inter-Agency Receivables
Other Receivables
Advances to Officers & Employees
Others
Total Other Receivables
Total Current Receivables, Net

In conformity with PAS No. 8, the current receivables accounts are restated as follows:

Unrestated Amount as of December 31, 2015
Double take-up of fines and penalties
Restated as of December 31, 2015 - A/R - Others

1,587,267,517
(10,119,420)
1,577,148,097

Unrestated Amount as of December 31, 2015
Adjustment pertaining to prior years' collectibles
Restated as of Dec.31, 2015-Allowance for Doubtful Accts:Others

(349,757,662)
3,815,353
(345,942,309)

Unrestated Amount as of December 31, 2015
Disallowed benefits/personal accounts
Restated as of December 31, 2015 - Due from Officers & Employees

276,095,643
25,673
276,121,316
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Unrestated Amount as of December 31, 2015
Adjustment of non-trade collectibles
Restated as of December 31, 2015 - Other Receivables - Others

33,505,700
100,000
33,605,700

a. Accounts Receivable–Officers and Employees – This account represents amounts
due from officers and employees for the sale of bingo tickets.
b. Accounts Receivable – Others – This refers to trade receivables from other
companies, individuals and organizations, such as amounts due from bingo
franchisees, junket, poker and licensed casino operators.
c. Due from Officers and Employees – This includes the personal accounts of officers
and employees such as car plan account of officers and meal charges.
d. Interests Receivable – This represents accrued interest income from Peso and
Dollar time deposits as of December 31, 2016.
e. Due from National Government Agencies (NGA)-Others – This account is used to
record advances and other amounts that may be due from other national
government agencies.
f. Due from GOCCs – This account pertains to the amount advanced by PAGCOR for
the maternity and sickness benefits of officers and employees from the Social
Security System.
g. Advances to Officers and Employees – This pertains to cash advances granted for
official travel and other special purpose/time-bound undertakings to establish the
accountability of the recipient.
h. Other Receivables – This account consists of amounts due from the following:

PARTICULARS
Adriatico Consortium, Inc.
Evercrest Golf Club
Treeside Corporation
Bykes@Lancaster, Inc.
Others
Total Other Receivables

2016
7,667,520
720,000
287,841
258,639
55,859,962
64,793,962

2015
(As Restated)
7,667,520
720,000
817,198
258,639
24,142,343
33,605,700

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts was provided for estimated uncollectible trade
receivables using the Percentage of Receivables Method based on the aging of
accounts receivable approach, as follows:
Age of Account
1 to 60 days

Percentage of Amount of
Accounts Receivable
1.00%
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Age of Account
61 to 180 days
181 to 360 days
More than 360 days

Percentage of Amount of
Accounts Receivable
2.00%
3.00%
5.00%

For specific accounts that are identifiable as credit risks or highly uncollectible the
following were used as basis for the provision of Allowance for Doubtful Accounts:
Status of Account
Referred to Corporate Legal
Services
Department
(CLSD) for legal action

With pending court case

Provision to be Established
50% of outstanding balance or
other appropriate percentage as
may be determined depending
on the specific circumstances of
the case
80% of outstanding balance

5. Inventories
This account consists of the following inventories:

PARTICULARS
Chips and Tokens
Gaming Supplies
Office Supplies
Construction Materials
Spare Parts
Other Supplies
Food Supplies
Merchandise
Raw Materials
Finished Goods
Medical, Dental & Laboratory Supplies
Accountable Forms
Drugs and Medicines
Total Inventories

2016
198,317,988
111,936,133
53,285,469
37,869,173
37,513,989
35,573,007
31,883,662
14,806,072
5,897,015
4,787,962
1,245,274
830,625
741,119
534,687,488

2015
(As Restated)
198,332,142
86,635,462
38,264,977
8,183,824
30,082,283
53,428,073
23,209,219
16,061,185
24,830,835
4,953,277
35,016
940,639
1,027,759
485,984,691

In conformity with PAS No. 8, the inventory accounts are restated as follows:

Unrestated Amount as of December 31, 2015
Satellite Operations Group 1 stock adjustment
Restated as of December 31, 2015 - Office Supplies Inventory

36,047,974
2,217,003
38,264,977
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Unrestated Amount as of December 31, 2015
Satellite Operations Group 1 stock adjustment
Restated as of December 31,2015 - Food Supplies Inventory

22,605,222
603,997
23,209,219

The following issuances from inventory during CY 2016 were recognized as expense
and charged to various accounts:

PARTICULARS
Other Supplies - Others
Other Supplies - Gaming
Office Supplies
Food Supplies
Raw Materials
Merchandise
Construction Materials
Spare Parts
Other Supplies - Gift Certificates
Drugs and Medicines
Finished Goods
Other Supplies - Bingo
Accountable Forms
Medical, Dental & Laboratory Supplies
Total Issuances from Inventory

AMOUNT
104,500,873
83,148,328
54,265,291
44,854,029
39,766,990
19,045,465
15,113,230
14,236,873
3,602,686
1,132,697
1,072,751
907,499
638,315
129,155
382,414,182

6. Prepayments
This account includes the following:

PARTICULARS
Rent
Deferred Charges (Current)
Insurance
Others
Total Prepayments

2016
157,940,009
72,499,179
12,973,291
16,427,396
259,839,875

2015
(As Restated)
1,016,416
72,665,295
12,124,414
13,057,749
98,863,874

In conformity with PAS No. 8, the Prepayments accounts are restated as follows:

Unrestated Amount as of December 31, 2015
Adjustment in insurance amortization
Restated as of December 31, 2015 - Prepaid Insurance

12,181,846
(57,432)
12,124,414
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7. Investments
This pertains to the following:
2016
PARTICULARS
A. Investment In Stocks
Wack-Wack Golf & Country Club
20,500,000
Rockwell Land Corporation
4,222,000
Cebu Golf & Country Club
2,500,000
Alabang Country Club
2,167,500
Tagaytay Highland International Golf Club
1,475,000
The Orchard Golf & Country Club
1,350,000
Alta Vista Golf & Country Club/Vista Mar Beach Resort 1,070,000
Baguio Country Club / Golfers Club Shares, Inc.
1,067,000
Tagaytay Midlands Golf Club
950,000
Riviera Golf & Country Club
910,000
Manila Southwoods Golf & Country Club
900,000
Banyan Tree Nasugbu Evercrest
800,000
Subic Leisureworld,Inc.(Subic Bay Golf & Country Club) 800,000
Fairways & Bluewater Resort & Country Club
704,000
Eagle Ridge Golf & Country Club
640,000
Mimosa Golf & Country Club
622,500
Apo Golf & Country Club
400,000
Tagaytay Royale Estate
148,500
Greenland Sports Resort
70,000
Romeo G. Guanzon Recreation Center
50,000
Philippine Columbian Association
32,000
Total Investment in Stocks
41,378,500
B. Investment In Bonds
Retail Treasury Bonds Tranche 17 (RTB 17)
Total Investment in Bonds
C. Other Investments & Marketable Securities
Philippine Long Distance Telephone Co.
Pilipino Telephone Corporation
Total Other Investments & Marketable Securities
Total Investments

2015
20,500,000
4,222,000
2,500,000
2,167,500
1,475,000
1,350,000
1,070,000
1,067,000
950,000
910,000
900,000
800,000
800,000
704,000
640,000
622,500
400,000
148,500
70,000
50,000
32,000
41,378,500

100,000,000
100,000,000

100,000,000
100,000,000

1,778,500
13,380
1,791,880

1,778,500
13,380
1,791,880

143,170,380

143,170,380
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8. Non-Current Receivables
This account consists of the following:

PARTICULARS
Grand Boulevard Hotel - rental deposits
Romeo Bauzon - advance rental and deposits and
payment of real estate tax
Pryce Plaza - rental deposits
Others
Total Non-Current Receivables

2016
42,247,047

2015
42,247,047

9,141,272
687,290
140,271
52,215,880

9,141,272
687,290
0
52,075,609

9. Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, Plant and Equipment (PPE) includes the following:

Particulars

Land &
Improvements

Buildings &
Other
Structures

Leasehold Construction
Improvements in Progress

Cost
January 1, 2016
15,660,708,613 265,610,091 441,002,856
Additions
0
0
9,787,533
Disposals/Retirements
0
0 (14,225,400)
Reclassifications
0 (3,756,615)
975,825
December 31, 2016 15,660,708,613 261,853,476 437,540,814
Accumulated Depreciation
January 1, 2016
2,419,819
Depreciation
502,575
Disposals/Retirements
0
Reclassifications
0
December 31, 2016
2,922,394

Furniture &
Equipment

Total

643,727 9,911,134,680 26,279,099,967
0 284,921,121
294,708,654
0 (253,994,860) (268,220,260)
(643,727)
(332,099)
(3,756,616)
0 9,941,728,842 26,301,831,745

29,894,719
3,082,895
0
0
32,977,614

336,976,052
46,815,041
(12,673,113)
22,417
371,140,397

0 6,672,372,084 7,041,662,674
0 1,138,479,324 1,188,879,835
0 (223,091,720) (235,764,833)
0
(22,417)
0
0 7,587,737,271 7,994,777,676

Net Book Value
December 31, 2016

15,657,786,219 228,875,862

66,400,417

0 2,353,991,571 18,307,054,069

Net Book Value
December 31, 2015

15,658,288,794 235,715,372

104,026,804

643,727 3,238,762,596 19,237,437,293
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10. Other Assets
This account consists of the following:

PARTICULARS
Other Assets-Intangible Assets
Accumulated Amortization - Intangible Assets
Miscellaneous Deposits
Deferred Charges (Non-Current)
Other Assets-Real Estate for Employees' Housing
Other Assets-Fixed Assets for Disposition
Total Other Assets

2016

2015

573,388,729
558,109,382
(310,005,865) (238,099,773)
469,060,045
724,758,956
297,379,871
501,493,612
292,150,744
292,150,744
3,857,251
2,420,445
1,325,830,775 1,840,833,366

11. Payable Accounts
This consists of the following:

PARTICULARS
Accounts Payable
Contractors / Suppliers
Proponents
Others
Due to Officers and Employees
Unclaimed Salaries and Wages
Bonuses / Other Employees' Benefits
Salaries and Other Employees' Benefits
Interests Payable
Total Payable Accounts

2016

2015
(As Restated)

545,804,883
333,612,032
313,750,397

745,885,910
293,549,160
2,601,573,409

13,263,095
439,858,147

11,765,362
189,960,435
167,335

8,858,214
1,655,146,768

17,201,009
3,860,102,620

In conformity with PAS No. 8, payable accounts are restated as follows:

Unrestated Amount as of December 31, 2015
Payable to suppliers, contracted obligations and voided APVs
Restated as of December 31, 2015 - A/P-Contractors/Suppliers
Unrestated Amount as of December 31, 2015
Payable adjustments, amicable tax settlement and voided APVs
Restated as of December 31, 2015 - A/P - Others

752,387,751
(6,501,841)
745,885,910
409,464,139
2,192,109,270
2,601,573,409
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Unrestated Amount as of December 31, 2015
Reversal of unclaimed benefits of reinstated employee
Restated as of December 31, 2015 - Due to O & E: Unclaimed
Salaries & Wages

12,000,165
(234,803)

Unrestated Amount as of December 31, 2015
Excess funding allocation for uniforms and other benefits
Restated as of December 31, 2015 - Due to O & E: Provision for
Bonuses & Other Benefits

250,681,417
(60,720,982)

11,765,362

189,960,435

12. Inter-Agency Payables
This account pertains to the following:

PARTICULARS

2016

Due to National Treasury *
Due to Bureau of Internal Revenue (BIR)
Due to Other National Government Agencies (NGA)
Due to Other GOCCs
Due to Pag-Ibig
Due to Philhealth
Total Inter-Agency Payables

3,347,573,708
2,995,537,383
1,577,044,311
28,694,541
6,515,180
2,910,721
7,958,275,844

2015
(As Restated)
3,676,815,275
662,754,730
2,811,302,816
29,886,038
6,956,347
2,943,336
7,190,658,542

*Includes computed cash dividends for CY 2016 for remittance to BTr on or before May
15, 2017
In conformity with PAS No. 8, the Inter-agency payables are restated as follows:

Unrestated Amount as of December 31, 2015
Adjustments in regular bingo income and minimum guaranteed fee
Restated as of December 31, 2015 - Due to National Treasury
Unrestated Amount as of December 31, 2015
Tax (withholding, franchise, fringe benefits and income tax) adjustments

Restated as of December 31, 2015 - Due to BIR
Unrestated Amount as of December 31, 2015
Adjustments on regular bingo income and minimum guaranteed fee
Restated as of December 31, 2015 - Due to Other NGAs

3,677,966,467
(1,151,192)
3,676,815,275
660,616,427
2,138,303
662,754,730
2,811,360,375
(57,559)
2,811,302,816
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Aging of the Due to BIR account as of December 31, 2016 is presented below:

Nature
Franchise Tax
Compensation
Expanded
GMP
VAT
Fringe Benefits
Income Tax
Total

Balance

Date Filed
19-Jan-17
2,975,849,330
/ Various Dates
(10,255,330)
09-Jan-17
39,050,696
563,271
12,359
15,622,720
(25,305,663)
2,995,537,383

10-Jan-17

Reference Code
321700018355044
/ Manual Payments
011700018145063
201700018199826/
201700018205384

08-Jan-17

171700018114671

12-Jan-17
02-Mar-17

041700018237673
121700018966834

Remittance
2,975,840,792
(10,135,959)
39,414,240
583,199
15,622,720
(25,305,664)
2,996,019,328

13. Intra-Agency Payables
This pertains to payables of PAGCOR for monthly remittance to the Retirement Fund.
14. Other Liability Accounts
This includes the following:

PARTICULARS
Guaranty Deposits Payable
Other Payables
Total Other Liability Accounts

2016
260,020,722
856,058,858
1,116,079,580

2015
(As Restated)
164,612,500
738,606,348
903,218,848

In conformity with PAS 8, the other liability accounts are restated as follows:

Unrestated Amount as of December 31, 2015
Adjustment in CF-Tagaytay rentals

748,680,264
(10,073,916)

Restated as of December 31, 2015 - Other Payables

738,606,348
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15. Long-term Liabilities
PAGCOR has the following long-term liabilities:

PARTICULARS
Guaranty Deposits Payable
Others
Total Long-Term Liabilities

2016
1,414,951,268
4,658,804,733
6,073,756,001

2015
(As Restated)
782,485,821
5,717,519,754
6,500,005,575

In conformity with PAS 8, the long-term liabilities are restated as follows:

Unrestated Amount as of December 31, 2015
Adjustment in cash bond
Restated as of December 31, 2015 - OLTL: Guarantee Deposits
Payable

782,385,821
100,000
782,485,821

a. Guaranty Deposits Payable consists of deposits made by suppliers, bingo
franchisees and others, as required by PAGCOR, to ensure the delivery of supplies
or services and are refundable upon fulfillment of the contract. Also included are
cash deposits from proponents of certain gaming operations.
b. Others – This refers to the following outstanding obligations of PAGCOR:
1. Philippine Reclamation Authority (PRA) for the purchase of real estate property
at the Central Business Park I, Bay City, Paranaque:
i)

Forty hectare parcel of land located at Islands B and C per Deed of
Conditional Sale dated November 29, 2007 (P839,484,017.70)

ii) Additional 161,937 square meters (sq. m.) parcel of land also located at
Islands B and C (P2,073,829,552.93)
iii) Fifteen-hectare parcel of land located at Nayong Pilipino Theme Park, MIA
Road, Pasay City (P1,057,764,705.87).

2. Procurement of Slot Machines Under Two-Year Payment Arrangement
PAGCOR entered into contract with suppliers of stand-alone slot machines for
the procurement of slot machines. Payment of the contract price shall be the
amount equivalent to 15 per cent of PAGCOR’s net income / win from the
operations of the delivered machines based on the schedule stated in the
contract. The first monthly payment shall be due 45 days after installation. At the
end of the 24 months, if the accumulated payment has not reached the total
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contract price/sale amount, PAGCOR shall pay in full the remaining balance, if
and when no patent and latent defects are noted.
As of December 31, 2016, the total outstanding balance of the contract price for
these slot machines amounted to P687,726,457 at the following sites:

Branch
SOG 4
Cebu
SOG 1
Angeles
Pavilion
Davao
Bacolod
Tagaytay
Iloilo
Corporate
Total

Amount
154,691,942
153,585,359
122,979,164
70,342,844
44,705,173
40,921,171
35,394,544
34,403,358
24,578,756
6,124,146
687,726,457

16. Deferred Credits
This account pertains to the amount collected for revenues not yet earned, e.g., set-up
of development cost of Imus and Alfonso Housing Project payable by employeeavailees over five and 10 years, respectively, training accountabilities of PAGCOR
employees, and set-up of lost assets for restitution.
17. Appraisal Capital
This refers to the increase in the value of buildings and other structures as a result of
the appraisal conducted by Land Bank of the Philippines per its Appraisal Reports
dated August 6 and 7, 2004, for initial set-up purposes following the shift from modified
cash to NGAS/accrual basis of accounting in 2005.
18. Income from Gaming Operations
This account is composed of the following:

PARTICULARS
Income from Gaming Operations
Winnings - Table Games
Table Operations
Junket Operations
Minimum Guaranteed Fee
Poker Operations
Mahjong Operations *

2016

2015
(As Restated)

10,138,844,878
618,840,223
227,304,348
91,894,082
39,968

10,572,276,996
504,257,334
197,057,403
102,221,805
0
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PARTICULARS
Winnings - Electronic Gaming Machines
Slot Machines
Electronic Bingo
Electronic Gaming Operations
Bingo Operations
In House Bingo
Bingo Franchisees
Income from Licensed Casinos
Income from Offshore Gaming Operations *
Total Income from Gaming Operations

2016

2015
(As Restated)

11,929,988,444
8,567,234,109
1,713,084,800

11,028,486,172
6,315,155,033
2,235,368,174

169,957,599
968,415,388
18,808,970,069
73,723,240
53,308,297,148

158,505,459
977,531,987
11,291,924,932
0
43,382,785,295

* Newly created accounts

19. Gaming Taxes and Contributions
a. As provided under Section 12 of PD No. 1869 or the “PAGCOR’s Charter”, as
amended by RA No. 9487, a franchise tax of five per cent was computed on income
from gaming operations.
b. The share of the National Government from PAGCOR’s income is computed at 50
per cent of income from gaming operations, after deducting the five per cent
franchise tax, and is remitted directly to the Bureau of the Treasury.
c. From the 50 per cent Government Share, P5 million a month or P60 million annually
were taken for remittance directly to the Dangerous Drugs Board per RA No. 9165
or the “Comprehensive Dangerous Drugs Act of 2002”. The fund is for the
establishment of adequate drug rehabilitation centers in the country and its
maintenance and operations.
20. Income from Other Related Services
This account is composed of the following:

PARTICULARS
Income from Other Related Services
Rent Income
Entertainment
Reimbursement of Manpower Costs
Other Services
Total Income from Other Related Services

2016
55,105,564
503,400
274,367,098
1,351,745,597
1,681,721,659

2015
(As Restated)
58,344,300
428,100
285,163,425
1,429,664,110
1,773,599,935

Entertainment Income refers to the ticket sales for entertainment shows. Effective
January 1, 2009, in compliance with COA recommendations and as provided under
PAS 1, related expenses are no longer offset against the income account but recorded
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separately under the corresponding proper accounts. Moreover, effective January 1,
2010, the recognition of income from PAGCOR’s own expenses was discontinued.
Effective January 1, 2015, Entertainment Income and other revenues generated from
the operations of PAGCOR-owned/operated and licensed casinos not directly
consequent to or resulting from gaming (Manpower reimbursements, chips rental and
others) were reclassified from Other Income to Income from Other Related Services
which is more aligned with the revenue classification under PD No. 1869. Also, to set
the distinction between gaming and non-gaming other income, the Other Services
account was created for all gaming-related other income previously recorded under
Miscellaneous Income account.
21. Other Income
This account refers to revenues earned from other sources aside from those classified
as income from gaming operations and other related services:

PARTICULARS

2016

Other Income
Interest Income
Other Fines and Penalties
Miscellaneous Income
Gain / (Loss) on Foreign Exchange (FOREX)
Total Other Income

81,334,329
16,323,542
(12,775,993)
(14,879,127)
70,002,751

2015
( As Restated )
56,381,933
48,841,805
1,998,014,438
(60,589,923)
2,042,648,253

22. Operating Expenses
This account consists of the following:

2016

2015
(As Restated)

Personal Services
Salaries and Wages
Other Compensation
Personnel Benefits Contributions
Other Personnel Benefits
Total Personal Services Cost

1,457,112,443
1,362,277,370
182,500,113
4,616,462,462
7,618,352,388

1,483,266,602
1,479,115,924
186,771,768
4,601,071,477
7,750,225,771

Maintenance and Other Operating Expenses
Rent Expenses
23
Marketing Expenses
Non-Cash Expenses
Utility Expenses

1,781,860,021
1,473,495,426
1,277,697,034
426,525,743

1,699,805,994
1,760,460,858
1,292,096,530
455,426,319

PARTICULARS

NOTES
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PARTICULARS
Professional Services
Repairs and Maintenance
Entertainment Expenses
Supplies and Materials Expenses
Taxes, Insurance Premiums and Other
Traveling Expenses
Communications Expenses
Advertising Expenses
Public Relations Expenses
Training and Scholarship Expenses
Representation Expenses
Transportation and Delivery Expenses
Membership Dues and Contributions
Subscription Expenses
Printing and Binding Expenses
Confidential and Extraordinary Expenses
Other Maintenance and Operating
Total Maintenance and Other
Operating Expenses
Financial Expenses
Interest Expenses
Bank Charges
Documentary Stamps Expenses
Total Financial Expenses
Total Operating Expenses

421,743,207
340,160,607
227,128,285
138,837,702
96,648,096
51,938,189
41,825,398
29,736,125
23,533,083
13,239,342
9,257,693
3,136,984

2015
(As Restated)
404,059,162
150,075,116
225,802,759
142,373,892
80,680,148
53,510,853
49,598,597
44,724,961
24,709,892
10,209,955
14,942,146
3,197,674

2,402,778
1,063,175
347,600
0
72,780,075

2,014,589
1,063,084
592,005
20,000,000
50,051,625

6,433,356,563

6,485,396,159

71,209,334
217,842
96,066
71,523,242

96,134,667
813,064
7,775
96,955,506

14,123,232,193

14,332,577,436

2016

Effective January 1, 2009, in compliance with COA recommendations and as provided
under PAS 1, related expenses are no longer offset against the income account but
recorded separately under the corresponding proper accounts. Moreover, effective
January 1, 2010, the recognition of income from PAGCOR’s own expenses was
discontinued.
23. Rent Expenses
Lease payments under PAGCOR’s operating leases are recognized as expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term in line with PAS 17 (Leases).
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24. Corporate Social Responsibility Projects
This includes the following:
a. Grant of donations / financial assistance to cities and provinces hosting the casinos
in amounts approved by the Board of Directors and the Office of the President.
b. Contributions to the Socio-Civic Projects Fund of the Office of the President as
supported by Section 7(a) of the Presidential Decree No. 1869, or the PAGCOR
Charter.
c. Contributions to other National Government agencies not falling under any of the
specific subsidy or funding requirement as mandated by law.
d. Financial and other forms of assistance granted to the following:
i. Local government units (LGUs) for the purpose of pursuing government
programs or projects of public interest, e.g., street lighting project, medical and
dental missions and relief operation projects
ii. Non-government organizations and private organizations for the purpose of
pursuing projects of public interest.
iii. Individuals/private groups for the purpose of furthering programs and policies
adjudged to be in the interest of the government and PAGCOR, e.g.,
financial/medical assistance given to indigents and scholarship programs.

25. Contributions Mandated by Special Laws
a. The PSC’s share from PAGCOR income is computed at five per cent of income from
gaming operations, after the five per cent franchise tax and the 50 per cent
Government share.
b. Under RA No. 10410 - An Act Recognizing the Age from Zero to Eight as the First
Crucial Stage of Educational Development and Strengthening the Early Childhood
Care and Development System, Appropriating Funds Therefor and for Other
Purposes, PAGCOR shall contribute to the Early Childhood Care and Development
Council (ECCD) an amount of P500 million pesos per year for five years from its
gross income to fund the establishment of National Child Development Centers and
the conversion of existing Day Care Centers into Child Development Centers in
various LGUs.
c. As mandated by RA No. 10066 – An Act Providing for the Protection and
Conservation of the National Cultural Heritage, Strengthening the National
Commission for Culture and the Arts and its Affiliated Cultural Agencies, and for
Other Purposes, otherwise known as the “National Cultural Heritage Act of 2009”,
PAGCOR contributes at the minimum rate of P100 million pesos per year for five
years for the establishment of a National Endowment for Culture and the Arts.
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d. RA No. 10699 – An Act Expanding the Coverage of Incentives Granted to National
Athletes and Coaches, Appropriating Funds Therefor, Repealing for the Purpose RA
No. 9064, also Known as the “National Athletes, Coaches and Trainers Benefits and
Incentives Act of 2001” requires that the amount necessary for the cash incentives
and retirement benefits be taken from PAGCORs the net cash income to be
remitted directly to the National Sports Development Fund (NSDF) of the PSC. This
is in addition to the regular income share of the PSC pursuant to RA No. 6847.
Any additional funding requirement necessary to implement the increase of cash
incentives and retirement benefits shall be sourced from the 50 per cent National
Government share in the gaming revenue of PAGCOR under PD No. 1869, as
amended.
e. The Board of Claims’ Share from PAGCOR income is computed at one per cent of
adjusted net income as mandated under RA No. 7309.

26. Corporate Income Tax
Remittance of corporate income tax pertaining to CY 2016 is up-to-date in compliance
to the National Internal Revenue Code (NIRC) and BIR Revenue Memorandum
Circular (RMC) No. 8-2012 that was issued on February 29, 2012. The Corporate
income tax for CY 2016 amounting to P30,581,628 is broken down as follows:

Period
1st Quarter
2nd Quarter
3rd Quarter
4th Quarter
Total

Amount
8,124,959
5,932,578
3,869,274
12,654,817
30,581,628

27. Retirement Plan
a. Approval of PAGCOR’s Modified Retirement/Separation Benefit Plan
PAGCOR’s Modified Retirement / Separation Benefit Plan (MRSBP) was approved by
the Board of Directors on February 27, 2002. It is a Defined Benefit Plan, under which
amounts to be paid as retirement benefits are determined actuarially by reference to a
formula usually based on employees’ remuneration and/or years of service.
On April 27, 2006, the BIR confirmed the PAGCOR’s Retirement Plan to be a
“reasonable retirement benefit plan” within the contemplation of Section 32 (B) (6) (a) of
the Tax Code of 1997 and, accordingly, the retirement benefits to be received by the
employee-member shall be exempt from all taxes; the income of the Trust Fund from
its investments are exempt from income tax; and the contributions of the company to
the retirement fund are deductible from its gross income.
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b. Funding Requirement Based on Actuarial Valuation
To ensure adequate funding for future availments under the MRSBP, PAGCOR
contracted E.M. Zalamea Actuarial Services, Inc. to determine the amount to be set
aside. Based on its actuarial valuation report dated February 29, 2012 for the valuation
date December 31, 2011, PAGCOR should set aside the following amounts for the
Retirement Fund:
i) Past Service Liability (PSL) - P10,234,164,258.00; and
ii) Annual Normal Cost (ANC) - P562,311,522.00 for CY 2012 and from CY 2013
onwards, the actuarial funding rate of 38.50 per cent based on covered payroll
shall be used until the next actuarial valuation.
c. Setting up of Retirement Fund
PAGCOR’s Board approved on May 11, 2005 the setting up of a Retirement Fund with
an initial funding/seed money of P60 million to be handled by Provident Fund
Management Unit as Fund Manager. This Fund is intended to cover funding
requirements for employees availing themselves of the MRSBP.
d. Status of Retirement Fund
As of December 31, 2016, the total amount of P10,884,786,348.34 including the initial
funding of P60,000,000.00, has already been set up, i.e. recognized as expense and
liability. Of this amount, P10,784,786,348.34 has been remitted to the Retirement Fund
managed by the Provident Fund Management Unit, leaving a balance of P100,000,000
for remittance.

28. Retained Earnings
In compliance with PAS 8 (Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and
Errors), the Retained Earnings as of January 1, 2015 has been restated as follows:

PARTICULARS
Unrestated Balance, January 1, 2015
2014 Other Personnel Benefits: Officer's Quarterly Incentives
2014 Janitorial Services
2014 Membership Dues and Contributions to Organizations
2014 Subsidy to LGUs: Community Relations
2014 In-House Training Expenses
2013 Subsidy to NGAs
2013 Electricity Expenses : Premises
2013 Subsidy to NGOs/POs
2013 Communication Expenses: Cable, Satellite and Telegraph
2013 Food Supplies Expenses

AMOUNT
5,229,606,881
31,833,813
58,543
6,500
4,000
624
32,326,889
713,578
300,000
45,000
3,480
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PARTICULARS
2013 and 2014 Other Personnel Benefits: Meal Expenses
2013 to 2014 Other Maintenance and Operating Expenses
2013 and 2014 Donations
2011 Clothing/Uniform Allowances
2011 and 2013 Repairs and Maintenance
2010, 2013 and 2014 Marketing Expenses
2010 and 2014 Representation Expenses
2009 to 2014 Taxes, Duties & Licenses: Other Local Tax, Lic.& Fee

2008 to 2014 Rent Expenses : Premises
2007, 2008, 2010 to 2013 Corporate Income Tax
2007, 2010 to 2013 Other Maintenance and Operating Expenses: Others

2007 and 2011 Documentary Stamps Expenses
2007 Loss of Assets
2006 Miscellaneous Income
2003, 2007, 2010 to 2013 Fringe Benefits Tax
2002, 2013 to 2014 Water Expenses: Premises
Retained Earnings, January 1, 2015 (As Restated)

AMOUNT
53,755
5,699
5,000
145,128
24,313
524,933
11,816
(249,552,674)
25,199,787
(1,068,715,591)
(591,057,933)
(4,308,427)
100,000
(100,000)
(335,916,167)
58,352
3,071,377,299

29. Cash Dividends
RA No. 7656 requires GOCCs to declare dividends under certain conditions to the
National Government, and for other purposes. All GOCCs shall declare and remit at
least 50 per cent of their annual net earnings as cash, stock and/or property dividends to
the national government.
Considering PAGCOR’s net earnings for dividend year 2016, declared cash dividends
amounted to Pesos: One Billion One Hundred Eighty Two Million Six Hundred Nineteen
Thousand Eight Hundred Forty Four and 91/100 (P1,182,619,844.91) for remittance to
the National Treasury on or before May 15, 2017. Said cash dividends were computed
following the Revised Implementing Rules and Regulations (RIRR) to RA No. 7656
(2016) for FY 2016 earnings, i.e., for 2017 remittance onwards.
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AUDIT OBSERVATIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS
A.

FINANCIAL AND COMPLIANCE

1.

The continued differing interpretation of the clause “aggregate gross earnings
from its Franchise” in Section 12, P.D. No. 18691, resulted in under remittances
to the Bureau of Treasury (BTr) aggregating P26.832 billion as of December 31,
2016. Also, the computation of the 50 per cent cash dividend required under
Section 3 of RA No. 76562 was still overstated by P6.159 billion as shown below:

A. 50% Government Share (GS)
Particulars
Income from Gaming Operations
Income from Related Operations and Other Income
(including Gain/Loss of FX)
Gross Earnings
Less: 5% Franchise Tax (FT)
Gross Earnings after 5% FT
50% NG Share to be Remitted
Less: Remittances to Dangerous Drugs Board per
RA No. 9165
Net Government Share to be remitted to NG
Less: Actual remittances to BTr
Under remittance of 50% GS
B. 50% Dividend
Particulars
Gross Earnings
Less: 5% FT and Operating Expenses
Less: Total Contributions to the Government
Net Income
Add: Bad debts
Less: Additional 50% Government Share
Net Income, subject to 50% dividend, as adjusted
Dividend payable
Dividend actually paid to BTr*
(Over) remittance of dividend
Summary
Under remittance of 50% GS
(Over) remittance of dividend
Net under remittance of PAGCOR

2016
53.308

2015
43.383

(in Billion Peso)
Restated
2014
2013
29.931
27.583

1.752
55.060
2.665
52.395
26.197

3.816
47.199
2.169
45.030
22.515

10.058
39.989
1.497
38.492
19.246

0.060
26.137
25.260
0.877

0.060
22.455
20.548
1.907

0.060
19.186
14.157
5.029

2016
55.060
16.789
33.811
4.460
0.013
0.877
3.596
1.798
1.183
0.615
2016
0.877
0.615
1.492

2015
47.199
16.502
26.880
3.817
0.003
1.907
1.913
0.957
1.898
-0.941
2015
1.907
-0.941
0.966

2012
27.479

2011
25.010

Total
206.694

12.947
40.530
1.379
39.151
19.575

13.405
40.884
1.374
39.510
19.755

11.687
36.697
1.251
35.446
17.723

53.665
260.359
10.335
250.024
125.011

0.060
19.515
13.042
6.473
Restated
2014
2013
39.989
40.530
19.393
19.909
17.331
17.501
3.265
3.120
0.000
0.015
5.029
6.473
-1.764
-3.338
0.000
0.000
1.625
1.655
-1.625
-1.655
2014
2013
5.029
6.473
-1.625
-1.655
3.404
4.818

0.060
19.695
12.992
6.703

0.060
17.663
11.820
5.843

0.360
124.651
97.819
26.832

2012
40.884
20.544
17.325
3.015
0.009
6.703
-3.679
0.000
0.936
-0.936
2012
6.703
-0.936
5.767

2011
36.697
17.748
15.868
3.081
0.009
5.843
-2.753
0.000
1.617
-1.617
2011
5.843
-1.617
4.226

Total
260.359
110.885
128.716
20.758
0.049
26.832
-6.025
2.755
8.914
-6.159
Total
26.832
-6.159
20.673

1

P.D. No. 1869–Consolidating and Amending Presidential Decree Nos. 1067-A, 1067-B, 1067-C and 1632, relative to the
Franchise and Powers of the Philippine Amusement and Gaming Corporation (PAGCOR)
2

R.A. No. 7656 –An Act Requiring Government-Owned or Controlled Corporations To Declare Dividends Under Certain
Conditions To The National Government, and For other Purposes
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1.1

As can be gleaned from the Table, the under-remittance on the 50 per cent
government share and over-remittance on the 50 per cent cash dividend paid
to the BTr from CYs 2011 to 2016 were due to different interpretation of the
composition of aggregate gross earnings. The previous Audit Team already
emphasized that it is the opinion of the Office of the General Counsel (OGC),
Legal Services Sector (LSS), COA, that jurisprudence dictates that when we
speak of gross earnings, we mean the entire earnings or receipts of such
person or corporation from its business or operations. And since the law did
not distinguish what constitutes aggregate gross earnings PAGCOR has no
authority to make any distinction and must construe the words in its general
sense consistent with the principle Ubilex non distinguish necnos distinguire
debemos, or where the law does not distinguish, neither do we distinguish.

1.2

PAGCOR had consistently computed the 50 per cent payable to the National
Government based on the income from gaming operations only. In its reply to
previous audit observation, PAGCOR stressed that the operation of related
services is pursuant to PAGCOR’s exercise of corporate powers under Section
3, Title II, P.D. No. 1869, as amended, and it is not covered by PAGCOR’s
franchise which should be excluded in the computation of the 50 per cent
government share.

1.3

However, in PAGCOR’s Revised Accounting Manual, the transactions
enumerated below are included in Income from Other Related Services and
Other Income accounts that are deemed relevant to the Scope of Franchise, as
follows:
a. Income received from the rental of gaming area, equipment and other
facilities of the company by chip washing operators and lease of real
property;
b. Income from ticket sales for entertainment shows;
c. Reimbursement of salaries and benefits of PAGCOR personnel assigned in
junket operations, satellites and clubs;
d. Gaming-related income earned from sale of bingo daubers/markers, chips
rental, administrative fee, certificate in casino dealings and Treasury Fund
Capital check fee;
e. Interest and/or dividend earned from the cash and demand deposit and
investments (which generally came from gaming operations);
f.

Fines, penalties and other charges imposed by PAGCOR as a result of
delayed remittances by creditors, late deliveries of purchases and similar
instances of default; and

g. Gain/loss on foreign exchanges from cross and foreign currencies
denominated transactions
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1.4

Therefore, the income of related services and other income are mainly
generated in support to the additional rights and privileges granted to PAGCOR
under Section 11 of PD No. 1869 on the Scope of the Franchise.

1.5

We reiterated our previous audit recommendation that Management
comply with Section 12 of PD No. 1869 and consider not only income
from gaming operations but from the entire income in computing the 50
per cent government share. To avoid accumulation of PAGCOR’s
obligation to the BTr, it was recommended that PAGCOR remit the
amount of P20.673 billion representing the net amount of the total under
remittance of P26.832 billion and the over remittance of P6.159 billion.

1.6

Management commented that PAGCOR has consistently maintained its
position that the fifty per cent government share should be computed based on
its Income from Gaming Operations. A copy of PAGCORs Position Paper
regarding the computation of the 50 per cent government share that was
submitted to the BTr was furnished to the Audit Team.

1.7

Other than the legal basis of computing the fifty per cent government share, the
computation is also aligned with the application of Philippine Accounting
Standard 1 (PAS 1) – Presentation of Financial Statements to PAGCOR’s
operations/transactions wherein expenses are recorded to the appropriate
expense accounts and not being offset to income accounts, as can be seen in
the table below:
Income Account
Income from Other Related Service
Entertainment Income
Reimbursement of Manpower Costs
Other Services:
Rental of PAGCOR Facilities
Chips Rental
Certificate in Casino Dealing
Gaming License
Sales – VIP Bar Operations
Sales – Bingo Daubers / Markers
Sales – Used Playing Cards
TFC Check Fee

Other Income
Interest Income
Miscellaneous Income:
Training Accountability
Fees – Concessionaires
Sales – Employees’ Cafeteria /
Souvenir Shop
Sale of old newspapers, scrap and
waste materials

Expense Account
Various Expense accounts
Personal Services
Rent Expense / Interest Expense
Other Supplies Expense: Chips
and Tokens
Personal Services / Training
Expense
Personal Services / Training
Expense
Various Expense accounts
Other Supplies Expense: Bingo
Other Supplies Expense:
Gaming
Accountable Forms Expense
Tax on interest income
Personal Services / Training
Expense
Various Expense accounts
Various Expense accounts
Various Expense accounts
Various Expense accounts
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1.8

PAGCOR’s income classification, i.e. Income from Gaming Operations, Income
from Other Related Services and Other Income, is in line with Section 14 –
Other Conditions, No. 5 Operation of Related Services of PD No. 1869, to wit:
The corporation is authorized to operate such necessary and
related services, shows and entertainment. Any income that may
be realized from these related services shall not be included as
part of the income of the Corporation for the purpose of applying
the franchise tax, but the same shall be considered as a separate
income of the Corporation and shall be subject to income tax.

2.

1.9

Most of the Income from Other Related Services and Other Income has their
corresponding expenses resulting to very minimal net cash inflow. Application
of the 50 per cent government share will affect PAGCOR’s cash position and
significantly reduce the net taxable income / net income and the corresponding
income tax and cash dividends due for remittance to the Bureau of Internal
Revenue (BIR) and the BTr, respectively.

1.10

We took note of Management’s comments, however, we maintain our stand
that the same accounting principle is applied to Income from gaming operations
wherein the related expenses were not being offset to the income accounts.
Such expenses are rental expenses, supplies and materials and PAGCOR
personnel that were directly used in the gaming operations, depreciation
expenses of the gaming machines and other relevant expenses. Expenses
related to income from gaming operations were not the same considered in
computing the 50 per cent government share. Nevertheless, we further
recommended that Management seek clarification with the Office of the
President, through the Department of Finance, to settle the issue on the
interpretation of aggregate gross income from Franchise as a basis of
computing the 50 per cent government share.

The year-end balance of Property, Plant and Equipment (PPE) account totaling
P18.307 billion included unserviceable PPE and those which were beyond
economic repair amounting to P75.432 million which was not in consonance
with the provisions of Philippine Accounting Standard (PAS) No. 163 and semiexpendable items in the amount of P24.538 million, which were below the
P15,000.00 threshold. Discrepancies amounting to P53.477 million between the
balance per books and the Annual Physical Inventory Report were also noted.
2.1

Paragraph 67 of Philippine Accounting Standard No. 16 provides that:
The carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment
shall be derecognized: (a) on disposal; or (b) when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal.

2.2

3

Results of the annual physical inventory taking showed that the PPE account of
the PAGCOR Corporate and the following Casino Filipino (CF) branches
included various motor vehicles, furniture and fixture, and equipment totaling

PAS 16 – Property, Plant and Equipment
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P75.432 million, which were already unserviceable and beyond economic
repair as shown in the table below:
Particulars
PAGCOR Corporate
CF - Bacolod and Iloilo
CF - Angeles
CF - Olongapo

PPE Items
Motor Vehicles
Furniture and Fixture and
Equipment
Motor Vehicles and
Equipment
Furniture and Fixture and
Equipment

TOTAL

2.3

Amount
P 50,264,585.74
13,102,615.23
8,646,284.63
3,418,117.24
P 75,431,602.84

Verification of the list of PAGCOR Corporate Motor Vehicles as of December
31, 2016 disclosed the following:

Status
Included in Corporate
Disposal Committee
already approved for
disposal
No longer serviceable
and beyond economic
repair & to be
recommended for
disposal
TOTAL

Total
Acquisition
Cost
P 19,604,499.98

No. of
units
17

30,660,085.76

27

P50,264,585.74

44

No. of units/Location
1 – Old Corporate
16 –Old Nayong Pilipino.
3 – SOG4-Citystate
1 – PPD-Imus
1 – SOG3-Networld
1 – Old Corporate
1 – GD Annex
20 –Old Nayong Pilipino

2.4

Inquiry with the PAGCOR Corporate Disposal Committee and Accounting
Department, revealed that the list of vehicles for disposal was already
approved and turned over to the Disposal Committee for disposal that will be
included in the Inventory and Inspection (I&I) Report of Unserviceable
Property, a requirement prior to disposal, in this case through donation to
various charitable institutions and technical schools, which is PAGCOR’s
traditional mode of disposal. The Report will be the basis by the Accounting
Department in reclassifying the Motor Vehicle account to Other Assets
account. When the vehicle is already donated, Accounting Department’s basis
for dropping the Other Assets account will be the Deed of Donation submitted
to them by the Disposal Committee. However, upon inquiry with the Disposal
Committee, a particular vehicle subject for disposal through donation was not
included in the I&I Report of Unserviceable Property unless there is a
confirmed grantee or donee. The Committee even opined that they are having
a hard time looking for donee’s since these are beyond economic repair
already.

2.5

Based on the foregoing, it appeared that 17 motor vehicles with acquisition
cost of P19.604 million were already approved for disposal but were still
included in the PPE Motor Vehicle account and have not yet been disposed. In
addition, 27 motor vehicles with acquisition cost of P30.660 million which were
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unserviceable and beyond economic repairs have yet to be endorsed to the
Disposal Committee for disposal, leaving a total of 44 Corporate vehicles
parked and stacked in open air spaces at the Old Nayong Pilipino compound
and exposed to the various elements of weather. Management still has no
concrete action to-date to be undertaken in the disposal of these 44 Corporate
Motor Vehicles aside from thru donations.
2.6

Details of the unserviceable PPE of CF – Bacolod & Iloilo, Angeles, and
Olongapo as of December 31, 2016 were as follows:
PPE Items
Communication Equipment
Furniture and Fixture
Gaming Equipment
Medical. Dental &
Laboratory Equipment
Military Equipment
Motor Vehicles
Office Equipment
Gaming Furniture & Fixtures
Sports Equipment
Small Tangible Assets
Other Machinery &
Equipment
Other PPE
TOTAL

CF - Bacolod
& Iloilo
P 112,484.08
552,507.00
631,381.77
4,022.00

CF - Angeles
P 15,950.00
173,295.33
12,079.27
6,800.00

CF - Olongapo
P
2,867.29
620,964.20
100,572.21
3,000.00

230,000.00
3,484,000.00
3,551,905.49
0
0
0
3,179,766.00

0
3,001,363.10
2,022,598.58
1,303,083.92
30,000.00
319,858.18
1,546,096.50

0
0
1,552,813.20
210,366.25
0
0
822,629.09

1,356,548.89

215,159.75

104,905.00

P13,102,615.23

P8,646,284.63

P 3,418,117.24

2.7

As a result, the balance of the PPE account was not in consonance with PAS
16 due to the inclusion of motor vehicles, furniture and fixtures, and equipment
which are already approved for disposal as well as those that were
unserviceable and beyond economic repair.

2.8

We recommended that Management reclassify to Other Assets account
the unserviceable PPE in order to derecognize them from the PPE
account pursuant to Paragraph 67, PAS 16.

2.9

Moreover, the Report on the Physical Count of Property, Plant, and Equipment
(RPCPPE) of CF – Angeles and Olongapo as of December 31, 2016, disclosed
that this included semi-expendable items in the amount of P17.347 million and
P7.191 million respectively, or a total of P24.538 million, which are below the
P15,000.00 capitalization threshold in the recognition of PPE.

2.10

We recommended and CF – Angeles and Olongapo agreed to comply with
the prescribed criteria for the recognition of PPE and application of the
capitalization threshold of P15,000.00.

2.11

Likewise, results of the said annual physical inventory taking showed the
following discrepancies between the balance of the PPE account of the
PAGCOR Corporate and some Casino Filipino (CF) branches and the Annual
Physical Inventory Report totaling P53.478 million as shown in the table below:
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Particulars
PAGCOR Corporate
CF - Laoag
CF – Angeles
CF - Olongapo
TOTAL

2.12

Per Books
P 4,218,084,940
147,049,019

140,081,385

751,681,037
234,126,724
P 5,350,941,720

736,765,785
226,382,610
P 5,297,463,971

Discrepancy
P 23,850,749
6,967,634
14,915,252
7,744,114
P 53,477,749

The above figures showed that the quantity of the property count was short by
1,444 items amounting to P23.851 million due to various items that were
recorded in the books but were not found during the inventory count. But, the
“Listed But Not Found” (LBNF) items showed that compared to last year’s
balance, the deficiency had decreased as follows:

Particulars

Listed But Not Found Items
Quantity
Cost
1,444
P
23,850,748
3,675
182,726,110
2,231
P
158,875,362

As of December 31, 2016
As of December 31, 2015
Located items in CY 2016

2.13

Per Count
P 4,194,234,191

Although there was a significant improvement in locating the LBNF items
during the year, the year-end balance of LBNF items consisting of 1,444 items
with acquisition cost of P23.851 million included big PPE items, to wit:
Particulars

Year Acquired

7 units of Slot Mach. Signages
1 unit of Conventional LCD TV
1 set of Video Conference Equipment
1 set Bingo Control Board
1 unit Personal Computer
1 unit Duplicating Machine
I unit Air-conditioner
4 units Personal Computer
Others

Acquisition Cost

2009 to 2015
2008
2013
2000
2013
2013
2013
2016

P

TOTAL

10,354,674
180,000
457,808
61,074
231,952
184,888
63,350
218,542
12,098,461
P23,850,749

,

2.14

Management conducted a full swing investigation on these LBNF items as a
result of our previous year’s audit observation by creating various inventory
teams that conducted the year-end physical inventory taking that resulted in its
reduction by P52.298 million (NBV) comprising 2,231 items of PPE. We noted
however that the above listed LBNF items were acquired from the year 20082016 were bulky and noticeable equipment which we find impractical for these
items to be considered or categorized as unlocated items.

2.15

Breakdown of the LBNF PPE items of CF – Laoag, Angeles, and Olongapo are
shown below:
PPE Item

Qty

Communication

11

Laoag
Book Value
315,204

Qty
5

Angeles
Book Value
P 146,300

Qty.
10

Olongapo
Book Value
11,318

40

PPE Item
Equipment
Office Furniture &
Fixtures
Gaming Furniture &
Fixtures
Gaming Equipment
Military & Police
Equipment
Motor Vehicle
Office Equipment
Other machinery &
Equipment
Bingo Equipment
Other PPE: Others
TOTAL

Qty

Laoag
Book Value

Qty

Angeles
Book Value

Qty.

Olongapo
Book Value

12

146,297

8

25,000

18

266,613

9

119,908

11

90,720

73

398,330

17

5,940,659

27

8,258,632

8

4,667,884

0

0

1

28,000

0

0

0
16

0
183,317

1
84

611,818
5,663,596

0
43

0
969,997

17

250,268

6

75,449

57

1,219,679

0

0

0

0

1

3,950

2
84

11,981
P 6,967,634

2
145

15,737
14,915,252

13
223

206,342
7,744,113

2.16

We recommended that Management conduct deeper investigation into
the big LBNF items that were not found during the physical count. In
case it could no longer be located, require the accountable
employees/officers determined to be liable for the loss of PPE items to
file relief from property accountability in accordance with Section 105 of
PD No. 1445. Subsequently, make the necessary adjusting entry for the
fair presentation of the PPE account in the financial statements.

2.17

In addition, review of the Art Works Inventory disclosed the following:
a. Two paintings have the same PSN Number, to wit:
a.1

PSN No.
Painting title
Artist
Size
Acquisition cost
Location

PSN-022024
Bulacan Farmer
Nilo Badajos
18” x 24”
P65,000.00
Hyatt Board Room

PSN-022024
Bulacan Farmer
Art Gonzales
18” x 24”
P65,000.00
GSED Sr. Mgr Office

a.2

PSN No.
Painting title
Artist
Size
Acquisition cost
Location

PSN-022025
Anihan
Mata
24” x 32”
P105,000.00
CPD Hyatt

PSN-022025
Anihan
Rodolfo Roa
24” x 32”
P105,000.00
GLDD Old Corporate

b. Three paintings that were reported to be “listed but not found” were not
included in the summary master list of LBNF in the year-end PPE Physical
Inventory Report, to wit:
b.1

PSN No.
Painting Title
Artist

PSN-022020
Mother Bathing Her Child
Unknown
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3.

Size
Acquisition cost

Unknown
P70,000.00

b.2

PSN No.
Painting Title
Artist
Size
Acquisition cost

PSN-022212
Diaphanous
Unknown
Unknown
P70,000.00

b.3

PSN No.
Painting Title
Artist
Size
Acquisition cost

PSN-022569
Seascape
Unknown
Unknown
Unknown

2.18

We recommended and Management agreed that the Logistics
Management Department (LMD) conduct a thorough physical inventory of
all artworks and frames and to reconcile each individual description
against database records since these are expensive artworks that needs
to be preserved.

2.19

Management informed that a reconciliation in coordination with Logistics
Management Department (LMD) and Information Technology Department
(ITD), of the discrepancies between the balance of Corporate PPE account and
the Annual Physical Inventory Report is ongoing. Unlike private entities that
could just dispose their unserviceable and beyond economic repair PPEs,
PAGCOR as a government entity must undergo the tedious process of
disposing its PPEs. The PAGCOR Disposal Committee (PDC) was assigned to
handle such task. Pending actual disposal/donation, to present fairly the
unserviceable / for disposal PPEs in the financial statements, the Accounting
Department (AD) created the “Other Asset: Fixed Assets for Disposition”
account and issued the necessary accounting and procedural guidelines in
compliance with the derecognition provision of Philippine Accounting Standard
(PAS) 16, to wit:“67 The carrying amount of an item of property, plant and
equipment shall be derecognised: on disposal; or when no future economic
benefits are expected from its use or
disposal.” To facilitate the immediate
transfer of unserviceable PPE from PPE account to the “Other Asset: Fixed
Assets for Disposition” account, AD will coordinate with the PDC and/or
concerned department for the inclusion of all unserviceable PPE in the
Inventory and Inspection Report of Unserviceable Property (IIRUP) be it for
disposal or for donation with or without confirmed grantee or donee.

The presence of abnormal/negative balances and past due/dormant accounts in
Accounts Receivable –Others account may cast doubt on the reliability of its
balance of P2.556 billion as of December 31, 2016.
3.1

Despite the issuance of prior year’s audit observations on Accounts Receivable
Others (Corporate) disclosing several accounts with negative balances
particularly related to Bingo accounts, negative receivables amounting to
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P6.824 million or 60.83 per cent of its balance of P11.218 million as of
December 31, 2016 remained unadjusted nor corrected, casting doubt on the
validity and reliability of the recorded amounts in the book of accounts.
3.1.1

Breakdown of the changes of the said accounts as of December 31,
2015 and December 31, 2016 with negative balances having an age
of over 360 days are presented below:

Particulars
Over 360 days as of
12/31/2015
Add: 1-360 days as
of 12/31/2015
Total A/R-Others
with negative
balances as of
12/31/2015
Less: over 360 days
as of 12/31/2016

Increase(decrease)

3.1.2

Electronic
Bingo

Traditional
Bingo

(P2,384,152.46)

(P1,521,508.67)

(P3,319.77)

(P3,908,980.90)

(6,918,153.96)

(370,030.74)

(20,922.00)

(7,309,106.70)

(P9,302,306.42)

(P1,891,539.41)

(P24,241.77)

(P11,218,087.60)

(5,104,803.22)

(1,715,469.99)

(3,319.77)

(6,823,592.98)

(P4,197,503.20)

(P176,069.42)

(P20,922.00)

(P4,394,494.62)

3.2

TOTAL

In addition, receivable accounts with negative balances for bingo
accounts were increased by P2.472 million arising from 2016
transactions as shown below:
ACCOUNT

3.1.3

Rapid
Bingo

1-60 days

61-180 days

181-360 days

TOTAL

Electronic Bingo
Electronic Bingo
(erroneously posted to
over 360 days column)
Traditional Bingo

(P1,361,193.73)

(P47,428.47)

(P904,934.58)

(P2,313,556.78)

(71,163.69)

(71,163.69)

(6,750.06)

(0.15)

(80,692.65)

(87,442.86)

TOTAL

(P1,367,943.79)

(P47,428.62)

(P1,056,790.92)

(P2,472,163.33)

We recommended that Management cause immediate
reconciliation/validation of pertinent records relating to the
subject accounts with negative balances, more effort for over
360 days accounts, so that necessary adjusting entries may be
effected in order to present fairly the balance of the Accounts
Receivable-Others (Corporate) account in the financial
statements.

Accounts Receivable – Others (Corporate) amounting to P 443.338 million
exclusive of accounts with negative balances were already past due for more
than one year casting doubt on the collectability thereof and manifested
inadequate collection efforts. Receivables amounting to P 432.984 million
remained outstanding for more than 10 years and said to have subjected to
legal matters yet we were not informed about the legal status.
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3.2.1

Breakdown of the outstanding receivables which were aged over 360
days are presented below:
TRADITIONAL
BINGO
53,403,951.60
41,418.00

YEAR
2006
2007
2008
2009
2010
2011
2012
2013
2014
2015

E-BINGO

TOTAL

731,497.46 53,680,210.88

RAPID
BINGO

LICENSED
CASINO
379,579,964.54

POKER

IN-HOUSE
BINGO

45,114.11
0.01
52,382.42
576
261,951.42
250,529.50
166,058.11

214.09
0.06
121,920.42
60,727.28
6,865.32

764,502.79
2,078,219.52
5,315,421.67 821,711.81
390
48,828.80
317,029.28
657.02

0.48

657.02 384,895,776.69 3,713,262.92

317,029.28

OTHERS

TOTAL
432,983,916.14
41,418.00
0
45,114.11
764,502.80
2,130,816.03
6,137,709.54
433,090.64
628,286.06
0.01
173,580.93
0.01 443,338,434.25

A/R – Others with pending court cases
A/R – Others referred to CLSD
A/R – Others revoked with CLSD final demand letter
A/R-Others revoked and for offsetting to cash bond
Remaining A/R-Others to be acted upon

353,599,377.51
79,384,538.63
2,948,760.13
764,502.79
6,641,255.19

Total A/R – Others over 360 days

443,338,434.25

3.2.2

We recommended that Management:
a. Determine the validity of dormant and past due accounts and
exert extra effort to enforce collection of the non-moving
receivables. Insufficient monitoring of collection efforts may
decrease the probability of fully recovering outstanding
accounts receivable and may also have contributed to the
existence of long overdue accounts.
b. Submit status update with supporting legal documents on the
accounts receivable with pending court cases and those
referred to CLSD.

3.3

Accounts Receivables account included receivables from Electronic and
Traditional Bingo Grantees which are still in operation as of December 31,
2016 in the total amounts of P0.602 million and P 155,539, respectively, which
remained outstanding for more than one year. Despite the unreasonable delay
or default in remittance no sanction has been imposed pursuant to the pertinent
provisions embodied in the Authority to Operate Electronic/Traditional Bingo
Games. Thus, validity of claims was doubtful.
3.3.1

We recommended that Management:
a. Enforce collections of the long outstanding receivables; and
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b. Impose interest charges and/or administrative sanctions as
provided in the Authority to Operate Electronic/Traditional
Games, if circumstances warrant.
3.4

Management commented that Allowance for Doubtful Accounts was provided
for estimated uncollectible trade receivables using the Percentage of
Receivables Method based on the aging of accounts receivable approach, as
follows:
Percentage of Amount of
Accounts Receivable
1.00%
2.00%
3.00%
4.00%

Age of Account
1 to 60 days
61 to 180 days
1841 to 360 days
More than 360 days

3.5

For specific accounts that are identifiable as credit risks or highly uncollectible
the following were used as basis for the provision of Allowance for Doubtful
Accounts:
Status of Account
Referred to CLSD for legal
action

With pending court case

3.6

4.

Provision to be Established
50 per cent of outstanding balance
or other appropriate percentage as
may be determined depending on
the specific circumstances of the
case
80 per cent of outstanding balance

Concerned AD personnel will coordinate with the department directly
overseeing the pertinent receivable accounts for their possible collection or
write-off and refer to CLSD those with legal issues.

As of December 31, 2016, 81.86 per cent of the total Other Receivables - Others
account or about P47.392 million were outstanding from 4 to 20 years. Likewise,
the Accounts Receivable – Others account of CF –Tagaytay amounting to
P13.429 million or 91 per cent of the total receivable of P14.731 million were also
outstanding for more than ten years.

4.1

The breakdown and aging of the said receivables are as follows:

Particulars
Training Accountabilities of Separated
Employees
Various resigned PATUBIG Personnel
Various resigned PAGCOR employees
Negative Salary of Resigned Employees
Various Contractual Account
SSS Loan Condonation 2011
Car Loan and Comprehensive (dormant portion)
Housing Loan ( dormant portion)
Others (various)
Sub-total
Car loan (non-dormant portion)

1 year & below

2 to 3 years

4-20 years

TOTAL

P 7,347.04
0
6,951.47
189,121.93
0
0
1,912,073.03
0
156,174.97

P 38,345.05
0
16,533.99
365,482.97
1,621.75
21,292.40
942,437.72
293,415.77
229,021.99

P1,377,488.75
5,200.00
17,670.01
179,012.35
3,440.64
456,764.11
12,028,276.34
11,392,713.74
8,343,321.64

P 1,423,180.84
5,200.00
41,155.47
733,617.25
5,062.39
478,056.51
14,882,787.09
11,686,129.51
8,728,518.60

P2,271,668.44
0

P1,908,151.64
821,661.78

P33,803,887.58
0

P37,983,707.66
821,661.78
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Particulars
Housing Loan ( non-dormant portion)
TOTAL

1 year & below
0

2 to 3 years
5,498,988.09

4-20 years
13,588,553.66

TOTAL
19,087,541.75

P2,271,668.44

P8,228,801.51

P47,392,441.24

P57,892,911.19

4.2

This is a reiteration of previous years’ audit observation that the account
included receivables from PAGCOR’s officials and employees who were
already separated from the service due to various reasons. Some have already
retired/resigned, while others could no longer be located as their whereabouts
were unknown.

4.3

Training Accountabilities of Separated Employees pertained to unpaid training
fees of contractual employees whose contracts were not renewed.
Management explained that the bulk of training accountabilities amounting to
P0.748 million pertain to unrecorded training accountabilities of seceded
personnel as of December 31, 2004, prior to the official shift from the Modified
Cash Basis of Accounting to Accrual on January 1, 2005.

4.4

It was noted that Other Receivables – Others from Training Accountabilities of
Separated Employees in the amount of P0.813 million still remained
outstanding for more than 10 years already, thereby casting doubt on the
collectability of these accounts, as well as the accuracy of the account balance.

4.5

Moreover, notwithstanding the issuance of prior year’s AOM, claim from
Adriatico Consortium Incorporated (ACI) amounting to P7.668 million
representing six months security deposit, six months advance rentals and two
months construction bond, which was paid by PAGCOR Corporate Office
pursuant to a Contract of Lease dated January 27, 2004, entered into by and
between ACI and PAGCOR remained uncollected. It is worth mentioning that
the confirmation of rescission of the subject contract made by ACI was already
approved by Board of Directors on November 18, 2004. Considering that more
than 11 years had lapsed, it was evident that Management had failed to
enforce collection.

4.6

In addition, Car Loan and Comprehensive balance amounting to P12.028
million remained dormant for more than four years. These loans were
reportedly granted to former officers of PAGCOR. Further verification disclosed
that loans granted already exceeded the repayment period of five years.

4.7

Moreover, Housing Loans granted to then officers and employees amounting to
P11.393 million remained non-moving for more than four years. For violation of
any provision of the Housing Loan Agreement, its Implementing Rules and
Guidelines, and/or provisions of mortgage contracts, the mortgagor shall be
considered ipso facto in default without further notice and the balance of the
loan shall become immediately due and demandable and shall be deemed
sufficient ground for immediate foreclosure of mortgaged property, to wit:
Housing Loan Agreement with Real Estate Mortgage Paragraph 11 states that:
non-payment when due of any stipulated amortizations and
other fees shall be deemed sufficient ground for the
immediate foreclosure of this mortgage to recover the whole
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amount then remaining unpaid and outstanding, the period
herein above stipulated notwithstanding.
Promissory note drawn by the officer states that:
in the event of default in the payment of any of the said
installment when due as herein provided, time being of the
essence thereof, the holder of this note may, without prior
notice or demand, declare the entire sum then unpaid
immediately due and payable.
4.8

We recommended that Management:
a. Exert extra effort to enforce collection of the non-moving receivables.
Administrative and/or legal sanctions should be resorted to, if
circumstances warrant;
b. If the collection efforts proved futile, request for authority to write-off
accounts deemed uncollectible;
c. Furnish the Office of the Auditor with the status of the unrefunded
deposit of from Adriatico Consortium, Inc.; and
d. Submit to COA the actions taken as well as the status of these unpaid
accounts, especially the enormous balance of the Car Loan and
Housing Loan past due accounts.

4.9

Management commented that the concerned accounting personnel, in
coordination with concerned departments (e.g., ASD for car plan with
encumbrance and housing loans with non-transfer of title/ownership pending
full payment, HRDD for training accountabilities),were reminded and
encouraged to exert extra effort in enforcing the collection or prepare the
necessary request for possible write-off of some accounts and refer to
Corporate and Legal Services Department (CLSD) those with legal issues.

4.10

As to the unrefunded deposit of P7.668 million from Adriatico Consortium, Inc.
(ACI), please be informed that AD will coordinate with CLSD as to the outcome
of the demand letter that was sent to ACI on July 2014 by then Legal Officer.

4.11

The receivables from terminated employees with pending cases (e.g., BIDA,
Figaro, Baler, PASA, etc.) at the Ombudsman/Sandiganbayan are being
closely monitored pending final court decision. Moreover, existing guidelines
covering the handling of pertinent receivable transactions will also be reviewed
to minimize, if not totally avoid, the accumulation of uncollected receivables.

4.12

The details of the Accounts Receivable - Others account which remained in
the books of accounts of CF – Tagaytay for more than ten years are shown on
the next page:
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Debtor/Particulars

Period Covered

Amount

Proponent
Unpaid minimum guarantee deposit
Unpaid space rental
Unpaid manpower cost
Accrued interest receivable
Accrued interest receivable – space
Accrued interest receivable
Revaluation of minimum Guarantee
Forfeited guarantee deposit
Total Amount Due

09/24/04 - 06/26/05
09/24/04 - 06/26/05
09/24/04 - 06/26/05
09/24/04 - 06/26/05
04/01/05 – 05/31/05
04/01/05 – 05/31/05
09/04 – 04/05

P10,816,383.70
1,378,436.39
8,312,775.47
294,288.48
23,416.33
62,370.20
26,180.00
(7,484,750.50)
P 13,429,100.07

4.13

This receivable is being handled by Corporate and Legal Services Department.
(CLSD). The latest demand letters received by the proponent were dated April
28 and May 20, 2005. Since then, demand letters sent to the company’s last
known address were all returned by the local post office. According to the
CLSD, the proponent has no local subsidiary or resident agent to whom
PAGCOR can serve the demand letter.

4.14

Suggested recommendations remained unimplemented due to uncertainty of
collection despite consistent efforts made by Management to collect the same,
as evidenced by various communications and actions taken by the incumbent
General Managers and the Corporate and Legal Services Department from
2005 to 2014.

4.15

Considering the foregoing, the Agency should have undertaken the following
procedures, provided for in COA Circular No. 2016-005 dated December 19,
2016, in reconciling and cleaning its books of accounts of the aforementioned
dormant receivables:
”8.2 The Head of the government entity shall file the request
for authority to write-off dormant receivable accounts,
unliquidated cash advances, and fund transfers to the COA
Audit Team Leader (ATL), and/or Supervising Auditor (SA).
No filing fee is required.”

4.16

The request shall be supported by the following documents:
a. Schedule
of
dormant
accounts
by
accountable
officer/debtor/government entity and by account, certified by the
accountant and approved by the Head of the government entity.
b. Certified relevant documents validating the existence of the
conditions, as applicable, xxx” (underscoring supplied)

4.17

We recommended that the Officer-in-Charge:
a. Instruct the Accountant and other concerned officials to prepare the
necessary documents to substantiate the request for authority to
write-off the dormant accounts of P13.429 million; and
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b. File the request for authority to write-off the dormant accounts, to
COA, in accordance with COA Circular No. 2016-005 dated
December 19, 2016.
4.18

5.

The branch informed that they are waiting for the reply of their Corporate and
Legal Services Department (CLSD) to furnish them with the formal supporting
documents. The branch will request for authority to write-off once they receive
said supporting documents in accordance with COA Circular No. 2016-005
dated September 19, 2016.

PAGCOR did not impose the required posting of performance cash deposit
(PCD) to various electronic and traditional bingo operators which was contrary
to the provisions of Section 4(a), Regulation 4 on the Fees and Monetary
Requirements as provided in the Gaming Site Regulatory Manual (GSRM)
Version 2.0 for Bingo Games resulting in non-collection of PCD amounting to
P115.818 million.
5.1

Performance cash deposit is the monetary requirement or deposit paid by the
Operator in advance as PAGCOR’s measure of security against the Operator’s
non-compliance with its financial obligations relative to the gaming site
operation and penalties which may be imposed by PAGCOR.
“Section 4. Performance Cash Deposit
a.

The Operator will be required to post the
Performance Cash Deposit for each game offering:
Game Offering
Electronic Bingo
Traditional Bingo

b.

Performance Cash
Deposit
PhP 1,000,000.00
PhP 500,000.00

following

Where to Post
PAGCOR - FTD
PAGCOR - FTD

The following shall apply to posting of the Performance Cash
Deposit as prescribed in subsection (a) above:
1. For new sites, posting shall be done prior to
commencement of operation of the gaming site but not later
than six (6) months after receipt of notice of approval; or,
2. For additional game offering, posting shall be done prior to
commencement of operation of the additional game
offering.
3. For a change in operator of an existing gaming site, posting
by the new Operator shall be done upon receipt of notice of
approval.”

5.2

Records showed that there were 178 electronic bingo and 91 traditional bingo
operators that did not post or pay the required PCD of P1 million and P.500
million, for electronic and traditional bingo, respectively.
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Game
Offering
Electronic
Bingo
Traditional
Bingo
TOTAL

No. of
Operators

Required
Performance Cash
Deposit

Per Schedule
(Annex B)

Uncollected
Performance
Cash Deposit

178 operators

P178,000,000.00

P87,280,000.00

P 90,720,000.00

91 operators

45,500,000.00

20,401,981.37

25,098,018.63
P115,818,018.63

5.3

Verification revealed that payments made by various bingo operators were
below the required PCD which resulted in uncollected PCD of P90.720 million
for electronic bingo and P25.098 million for traditional bingo or a total of
P115.818 million as of December 31, 2016.

5.4

Furthermore, the following observations were also noted.
5.4.1

There were instances wherein the PCD was paid on installment basis
when in fact there was no provision for such payment scheme on the
GSRM for Bingo Games.

5.4.2

Bingo operators were allowed to continue their operations and were
able to renew their licenses despite the fact that their PCD were below
the required balance. This practice was inconsistent with Section 4(c)
of the GSRM which states that:
The Operator shall always maintain the Performance
Cash Deposit with PAGCOR. Should any deductions
be made from this Performance Cash Deposit to
settle the obligations of the Operator with PAGCOR,
e.g., penalties for offenses committed, the Operator
shall restore the deposit at its original level within
fifteen (15) calendar days from deduction. and
Section 4(d) also states that:
Failure to restore the performance cash deposit at the
amount prescribed for more than a total of six (6)
months shall be ground for revocation of the license.

5.5

Since PAGCOR did not impose the required PCD as provided under Section
4(a), Regulation 4 of the GSRM, it failed to collect the amount of P115.818
million as of December 31, 2016 which could have earned interest if collected
and place in short-term investments.

5.6

We recommended that Management:
a. Implement strictly the provisions of the Gaming Site Regulations
Manual for the Bingo Games on the posting/payment of the required
PCD;
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b. Exert effort in collecting the required balance of the PCD as
PAGCOR’s safety measure in case of Bingo Operator’s failure to
comply with its financial obligations and for payment of penalties for
offenses committed, if any; and
c. Consider the suspension/revocation of the licenses of bingo
operators until they fully complied with the payment of the required
PCD.

6.

PAGCOR did not impose the provisions of Regulation 6, Section 2 (c) of the
Gaming Site Regulatory Manual (GSRM) Version 2.0 for Bingo Games on the
non-renewal of license for Bingo Gaming Operations which led to continuous
operations of sixty-one bingo operators with expired licenses.
6.1

Regulation 6, Section 2 (c) of the GSRM Version 2.0 for Bingo Games states
that:
“Should the Operator fail to abide by these License renewal
guidelines, resulting in the imposition of penalties and
demerits, and/or the non-renewal of License upon expiration
of the current License, operations of the concerned site shall
be suspended. The Operator shall then be given thirty (30)
days from License expiration date to secure the License
renewal otherwise the gaming site shall be permanently
closed” EMPHASIS SUPPLIED

6.2

Analysis of the attached list submitted to the Office on April 17, 2017 containing
the names of Operators with their site location and gaming license validity date
showed that 61 of the 499 operators as of December 31, 2016, continue to
operate as Bingo Licensees even though their licenses had expired. The said
list submitted by the Compliance, Monitoring and Enforcement Department
(CMED) revealed that the renewal of their licenses are still in process as of the
said date.
Details of the expired licenses are as follows:
License Validity Date
Dec. 21, 2015
Feb. 9, 2016
Mar. 23, 2016
June 9 & 15, 2016
August 6, 2016
Sept. 2016 (various dates)
Oct. 2016 (various dates)
Nov. 2016 (various dates)
Dec. 2016 (various dates)
TOTAL

6.3

No. Of Bingo Operators
1
1
1
2
1
9
6
12
28
61

Based on the above table, the processing of renewal of Bingo Gaming License
take many months and even more than a year before the license is approved
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or issued. This only showed that the concerned department did not expedite
the processing of the licenses since the gaming operators still continue to
operate even without the required license. This was a blatant violation of
Regulation 6, Section 2 (c) of the GSRM on the non-renewal of license.
6.4

We recommended that Management:
a. Strictly implement the provisions of the Gaming Site Regulatory
Manual for Bingo Games on the non-renewal of license;
b. If warranted, review and/or revise the processes in the renewal of
licenses to expedite such function by the issuing department; and
c. Consider the suspension of the operations of the gaming sites until
their licenses are renewed.

6.5

Management commented that the renewal applications of the 61 bingo
operators with expired licenses have not yet been acted upon due to their
pending compliance with the new set of guidelines as provided in the Gaming
Site Regulatory Manual (GSRM) version 3.0 for Bingo Games. Below is the list
of operators and the status of their non-compliance to the following:

a.
b.
c.
d.
e.
f.
g.

GSRM Guidelines
Settlement of Additional Performance
Cash Deposit (PCD)
Site Evaluation and Inspection
Site Evaluation and Inspection and
Settlement of Additional PCD
On-Hold due to pending clarification on
the one (1) gaming site per location rule
Issued the Gaming License Renewal
Issued a Notice of Revocation/NonRenewal
Has yet to issue a Notice of
Revocation/Non-Renewal awaiting Board
action
TOTAL

Number of Operators
11
9
24
7
5
3

2
61

6.6

Management allowed the gaming site operators to continue operating even
after expiration date of their license on the basis that there is no legal
impediment to the practice since it is within its regulatory function, as long as
the operator’s license has not expired at the time of submission of their
application for renewal.

6.7

We took note of Management’s comments however, out of the 61 bingo
operators who have applied for renewal of their licenses, 35 were still noncompliant with the settlement of additional performance cash deposit. It is a
common knowledge that an expired license is equivalent to no license at all.
While it is the intention of these applicants for their licenses to be renewed,
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guidelines shall be observed and processes shall be followed, of which shall be
complied with in good faith. Hence, the Audit Team deem that Management
consider the imposition of the Regulation 6, Section 2 (c) paragraph 1 of the
GSRM which penalizes the non-compliance with suspension of gaming site
operations.
7.

The recorded receipts/collections in the amount of P12.921 million representing
only 30 per cent of PAGCOR’s share on the total collections of P43.071 million
generated from In-House Regular Bingo operations of the Satellite Operations
Group (SOG) 1 instead of recording gross receipts less payouts/consolation
prizes was not in accordance with Section 63 of PD No. 1445 on the proper
handling and accounting of government funds, which resulted in the
understatement of the cash in bank and the liability accounts by P30.150 million.
7.1

Section 63 of PD No. 1445 states that: “Except as may otherwise be
specifically provided by law or competent authority all moneys and property
officially received by a public officer in any capacity or upon any occasion must
be accounted for as government funds and government property.”

7.2

Under the approved guidelines for the recognition of in-house regular bingo
income of Satellite Operations Group (SOG) 1, the gross bingo sales should be
allocated into 30 per cent PAGCOR’s share and 70 per cent Promotional Bingo
Games (PBG) or Peoples’ Money (less payouts/consolation prizes).

7.3

Validation of transactions revealed that the recorded receipts from In-House
Regular Bingo operations as of December 31, 2016 amounted only to P12.921
million or 30 per cent of the gross bingo sales of P43.071 per cent. So, only
PAGCOR’s share was taken up in the books of account of SOG 1 under the
account Income from In-House Regular Bingo. The said share is being
deposited to the PNB Non-Opex account of SOG 1 and transferred to
Corporate PNB Opex account weekly upon approval of the authorized officials
while the 70 per cent PBG or Peoples’ Money (less payouts/consolation prizes)
is being deposited to the PNB Current Account-Bingo No. 6000255011 for
accumulation of the jackpot.

7.4

Hence, the recording of only the 30 per cent of gross bingo sales instead of
100 per cent is not in accordance with the proper accounting of receipts
officially received by a public officer, which must be wholly accounted as
government funds in accordance with Section 63, PD No. 1445.

7.5

Management explained that the 70 per cent, which is called Peoples’ Money, is
only for safekeeping since this is allotted for payment of PBG jackpot.
However, all receipts that were officially received by a public officer must be
accounted for as government funds except when specifically provided by law.

7.6

As a result, the recorded Cash in Bank was understated by P30.150 million and
there was an unrecorded liability by the same amount, which also resulted in
the understatement of the trust liability account in particular.

7.7

We recommended that the 70 per cent Peoples’ Money (less
payouts/consolation prizes) be recorded or taken up in the books as Cash
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in Bank with a corresponding credit to Trust Liability account for proper
accounting and monitoring of transactions and in accordance with
Section 63 of PD No. 1445.
7.8

Moreover, validation of deposit slips disclosed the following:
7.8.1

PAGCOR’s share on bingo gross sales was not deposited intact
daily contrary to Section 69 of PD No. 1445 and Section 21,
Volume 1 of the Manual of NGAS thereby exposing the same to
undue risk of loss or probable misuse.
Section 69 of PD No. 1445 provides that:
“Public officers authorized to receive and collect
moneys arising from taxes, revenues, or receipts of
any kind shall remit or deposit intact the full amounts
so received and collected and credited to the
particular accounts to which the said moneys belong.”
In addition, Section 21, Volume 1 of the Manual on NGAS states that
all collecting officers shall deposit intact all their collections daily or not
later than the next banking day.
Based on the above regulations, all collecting Officers are required to
deposit intact all their collections with Authorized Government
Depository Bank (AGDB) daily or not later than the next banking day.
However, verification of deposit slips revealed that there were
instances that the 30 per cent PAGCOR’s share on the bingo sales
were not deposited intact daily or on the next banking day, as shown
on the table below:

Sun-1/31/16

Sales,
Daubers &
Prize taxes
570,546.75

Sun-2/28/16

434,471.75

Fri-4/15/16
Sat-4/16/16
Sun-4/17/16
Fri-4/22/16
Sat-4/23/16
Sun-4/24/16
Fri-5/27/16
Sat-5/28/16
Sun-5/29/16
Fri-6/3/16
Sat-6/4/16
Sun-6/5/16
Thur-7/28/16

133,240.00
338,686.97
573,630.08
146,125.00
139,410.00
216,417.50
104,380.00
271,241.13
415,490.08
116,210.00
94,865.00
188,110.00
104,805.00

Game Date

Amount
Deposited

Date
Deposited

475,846.75
94,700.00
313,871.75
120,600.00

2/1/16
2/9/16
2/29/16
3/7/16

852,057.05

(Over)/Under
Deposit

Remarks

0

5 days delay

0

5 days delay

4/18/16

193,500.00

0

144,900.00
550,552.50

4/21/16
4/25/16

(193,500.00)

0

694,811.21

5/30/16

96,300.00

0

495,485.00
104,805.00

6/6/16
8/2/16

(96,300.00)
0

0
2 days delay
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Game Date
Fri-7/29/16
Sat-7/30/16
Sun-7/31/16
Fri-8/26/16
Sat-8/27/16
Sun-8/28/16
Mon-8/29/16
Sun10/30/16

Sales,
Daubers &
Prize taxes
117,080.00
263,549.08
541,557.25
99,175.00
198,880.62
325,822.33
91,905.00
506,719.33

Amount
Deposited

Date
Deposited

(Over)/Under
Deposit

Remarks

791,186.33

8/2/16
8/8/16

131,000.00
(131,000.00)

1 day delay
5 days delay

692,182.95

8/30/16
9/5/16
11/2/16
11/4/16
11/7/16

23,600.00
(23,600.00)
68,300.00
(40,000.00)
(28,300.00)

4 days delay
1 day delay
3 days delay
4 days delay

438,419.33

The above table showed that there were delays of 1 to 5 days in the
deposit of bingo sales during the year. The practice of delaying the
deposits of the above collections was tantamount to lapping or
covering up of the previous under deposit by a deposit using the
current collections.
7.8.2

Likewise, PAGCOR’s share on bingo sales of Winford Satellite, which
was operated by a proponent revealed that it was not also deposited
on the next banking day.
The 15 per cent PAGCOR’s share is being deposited by Winford
Satellite to the PNB Non-Opex account of SOG 1. However,
verification of subsequent deposits showed that in some instances,
there were delays in deposits, as shown below:
Game Date
Fri-5/6/16
Sat-5/7/16
Sun-5/8/16
Mon-Hol-5/9/16
Mon-5/23/16
Tues-5/24/16
Mon-6/13/16
Mon-6/20/16
Wed-6/29/16
Fri-7/1/16
Sat-7/2/16
Sun-7/3/16
Mon-7/4/16
Mon-8/1/16
Wed-8/17/16
Thurs-9/8/16
Mon-9/26/16
Mon-10/17/16
Tues-11/15/16
Wed-11/16/16
Wed-11/23/16
Thurs-11/24/16

PAGCOR’s
Share
10,642.50
13,575.00
14,010.00
14,737.50
28,057.50
24,652.50
26,977.50
30,172.50
35,662.50
47,970.00
43,125.00
40,215.00
24,375.00
36,885.00
33,765.00
23,317.50
24,532.50
27,907.50
24,930.00
27,697.50
26,542.50
29,100.00

Date
Deposited
5/11/16
5/11/16
5/11/16
5/11/16
5/25/16
5/27/16
6/15/16
6/22/16
7/1/16
7/7/16
7/7/16
7/7/16
7/7/16
8/3/16
8/19/16
9/13/16
9/28/16
10/19/16
11/18/16
11/18/16
11/28/16
11/28/16

Remarks
1 day delay
1 day delay
1 day delay
1 day delay
1 day delay
2 days delay
1 day delay
1 day delay
1 day delay
3 days delay
2 days delay
2 days delay
2 days delay
1 day delay
1 day delay
1 day delay
1 day delay
1 day delay
2 days delay
1 day delay
2 days delay
1 day delay
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Mon-11/28/16
Tues-11/29/16
Wed-Hol-11/30/16
Thurs-12/1/16
Fri-12/9/16
Tues-12/13/16
Wed-12/14/16
Thurs-12/15/16
Tues-12/20/16
Wed-12/21/16
Thurs-12/22/16
Fri-12/23/16
Tues-12/27/16
Wed-12/28/16
Thurs-12/29/16

29,520.00
31,710.00
38,122.50
34,200.00
25,447.50
25,942.50
26,392.50
23,955.00
27,352.50
23,347.50
29,287.50
29,730.00
29,527.50
31,897.50
27,187.50

12/5/16
12/5/16
12/5/16
12/5/16
12/13/16
12/19/16
12/19/16
12/19/16
12/27/16
12/27/16
12/27/16
2/27/16
1/4/17
1/4/17
1/4/17

3 days delay
2 days delay
2 days delay
1 day delay
1 day delay
3 days delay
2 days delay
1 day delay
4 days delay
3 days delay
2 days delay
1day delay
3 days delay
2 days delay
1 day delay

The practice of not depositing all collections intact daily or not later
than the following banking day was a violation of Section 69 of PD No.
1445 and Section 21, Volume 1 of the Manual on NGAS. Likewise,
this will expose the funds/collections to undue risk of loss or probable
misuse.

8.

7.9

We recommended that Management inquire and investigate the cause of
the delay in the deposit of bingo sales, which should be deposited intact
daily or the next banking day in compliance with Section 69 of PD No.
1445.

7.10

Management will implement the recording and corresponding credit of 70 per
cent People’s Money for proper accounting and monitoring of transactions.
Coordinate with the depository bank, through Finance and Treasury
Department, the problems encountered by Roving Tellers on the schedule of
pick-up of bingo sales to avoid delay in the deposit of the same.

7.11

By way of an audit rejoinder, Management should also consider the deposit of
the bingo sales in the afternoon of the following day upon the arrival of the
bank teller; it should also look into the cause of the 2 to 4 days delay in the
deposit of bingo sales especially during weekdays since this may lead to risk of
loss and probable misuse of the collections.

Transactions of Satellite Operations Group (SOG) 4 on the deposit of winnings
from Madison, Pan Pacific and Tropicana Satellites to Citystate, mother satellite
of SOG 4, were not deposited intact, contrary to the provisions of Section 69 of
Presidential Decree No. 1445 and Section 21, Volume 1 of the Manual of NGAS,
thereby exposing the same to undue risk of possible loss or probable misuse.
8.1

Section 69 of PD No. 1445 states that receipt and collection of revenues shall
be remitted and deposited intact the full amounts to the treasury of the
agency concerned and credited to the particular accounts in which the said
money belongs.
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Section 21, Volume 1 of the Manual of NGAS states that all collecting officers
shall deposit intact all their collections daily or not later than the next
banking day.
8.2

However, review of transactions of SOG 4 satellites/arcades revealed that daily
winnings were not deposited intact to the bank account of its mother satellite,
the Citystate.

Date
1-Dec-2016 (Thu)

Slot Machine
Winnings
P575,880.00

5-Dec-2016 (Mon)
9-Dec-2016 (Fri)
10-Dec-2016 (Sat)
11-Dec-2016 (Sun)
Total
12-Dec-2016 (Mon)
13-Dec-2016 (Tue)
16-Dec-2016 (Fri)
17-Dec-2016 (Sat)
18-Dec-2016 (Sun)

1,067,155.58
764,911.38
595,272.66
241,980.00
1,602,164.04
652,529.98
615,261.60
816,976.06
655,973.64
(47,747.40)

Total (net)
23-Dec-2016 (Fri)
28-Dec-2016 (Wed)
29-Dec-2016 (Thu)
30-Dec-2016 (Fri)
Total under deposit

1,472,949.70
1,090,253.68
710,022.45
3,883.29
624,468.30

Pan Pacific
Amount
deposited to
PNB account
Date
of Citystate
Deposited
P575,880.00
5-Dec-2016

(Under)/Over
deposit
P
0

0

Not deposited

(1,067,155.58)

1,506,763.02
652,539.98
621,024.00

12-Dec-16
13-Dec-16
14-Dec-16

(95,401.02)
10.00
5,762.40

1,425,202.30
1,090,253.68
709,522.45
0
1,451,865.79

19-Dec-16
27-Dec-2016
29-Dec-16
30-Dec-16
3-Jan-17

(47,747.40)
0
(500.00)
(3,883.29)
827,397.49
(P381,517.40)

Remarks
4 days delayed
No deposit was
made

Under deposit
Over deposit
Over deposit
The amount
deposited was
net of loss
incurred on 18Dec-2016
4 days delayed
Under deposit
Under deposit
Over deposit

The table below shows the test of transactions on the daily winnings and
deposits of Pan Pacific, Tropicana and Madison to Citystate for the month of
December 2016.

Date
1-Dec-2016 (Thu)
2-Dec-2016 (Fri)
3-Dec-2016 (Sat)
4-Dec-2016 (Sun)
Total
9-Dec-2016 (Fri)
10-Dec-2016 (Sat)
11-Dec-2016 (Sun)
Total
15-Dec-2016 (Thu)
22-Dec-2016 (Thu)
23-Dec-2016 (Fri)
29-Dec-2016 (Thu)
Total over deposit

Slot Machine
Winnings
P264,700.24
3,386,041.44
2,235,816.47
1,671,262.76
7,293,120.67
3,026,504.43
3,239,447.18
1,564,482.45
7,830,434.06
(413,165.88)
1,947,723.25
1,376,711.14
2,941,110.26

Tropicana
Amount
deposited to
PNB account
Date
of Citystate
Deposited
P802,595.64
2-Dec-16

(Under)/Over
deposit
P537,895.40

Remarks
Over deposit

7,993,120.67

5-Dec-16

700,000.00

Over deposit

7,820,434.06
663,476.92
2,007,723.25
1,376,711.14
2,941,110.26

12-Dec-16
16-Dec-16
23-Dec-16
27-Dec-16
3-Jan-17

(10,000.00)
663,476.92
60,000.00
0
0
P1,951,372.32

Under deposit
Over deposit
Over deposit
4 days delayed
5 days delayed
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Madison
Amount
deposited to
PNB account
Date
of Citystate
Deposited
P568,178.23
2-Dec-16

Date
1-Dec-2016 (Thu)
2-Dec-2016 (Fri)
3-Dec-2016 (Sat)
4-Dec-2016 (Sun)
Total
5-Dec-2016 (Mon)
6-Dec-2016 (Tue)
7-Dec-2016 (Wed)
8-Dec-2016 (Thu)
9-Dec-2016 (Fri)
10-Dec-2016 (Sat)
11-Dec-2016 (Sun)
Total
12-Dec-2016 (Mon)
13-Dec-2016 (Tue)
14-Dec-2016 (Wed)
15-Dec-2016 (Thu)
16-Dec-2016 (Fri)
17-Dec-2016 (Sat)
18-Dec-2016 (Sun)
Total
19-Dec-2016 (Mon)
20-Dec-2016 (Tue)
21-Dec-2016 (Wed)
22-Dec-2016 (Thu)

Table Games
and Slot
Machine
Winnings
P381,540.00
1,733,812.34
1,596,656.14
1,422,060.37
4,752,528.85
827,401.83
1,856,383.01
1,526,180.76
2,192,186.52
1,015,581.12
1,086,716.47
1,022,139.65
3,124,437.24
785,586.65
1,960,617.28
1,052,741.13
418,000.00
1,953,366.30
1,841,748.93
1,445,445.39
5,240,560.62
1,376,677.95
1,476,904.56
933,413.74
1,038,758.15

23-Dec-2016 (Fri)
26-Dec-2016 (Mon)
27-Dec-2016 (Tue)
28-Dec-2016 (Wed)

471,270.00
1,895,642.47
3,005,291.45
1,524,746.89

0
1,206,231.01
1,835,452.47
2,903,731.45

29-Dec-2016 (Thu)
30-Dec-2016 (Fri)
Total under deposit

2,356,559.94
286,505.32

0
3,881,306.83

(Under)/Over
deposit
P186,638.23

Remarks
Over deposit

3,582,579.59
1,414,950.37
634,601.83
1,850,293.01
1,512,620.76

5-Dec-16
6-Dec-16
7-Dec-16
8-Dec-16
9-Dec-16

(1,169,949.26)
587,548.54
(1,221,781.18)
324,112.25
(679,565.76)

Under deposit
Over deposit
Under deposit
Over deposit
Under deposit

4,278,164.11
1,022,139.65
653,586.65
1,960,617.28
821,456.13

12-Dec-16
13-Dec-16
14-Dec-16
15-Dec-16
16-Dec-16

1,153,726.87
236,553.00
(1,307,030.63)
907,876.15
403,456.13

Over deposit
Over deposit
Under deposit
Over deposit
Over deposit

2,597,328.70
1,445,445.39
1,376,677.95
2,330,784.56
851,163.74

19-Dec-16
20-Dec-16
21-Dec-16
22-Dec-16
23-Dec-16
Not
deposited
27-Dec-16
28-Dec-16
29-Dec-16
Not
deposited
3-Jan-17

(2,643,231.92)
68,767.44
(100,226.61)
1,397,370.82
(187,594.41)

Under deposit
Over deposit
Under deposit
Over deposit
Under deposit
No deposit was
made
Under deposit
Under deposit
Over deposit
No deposit was
made
Over deposit

(471,270.00)
(689,411.46)
(1,169,838.98)
1,378,984.56
(2,356,559.94)
3,594,801.51
(P1,756,624.65)

8.3

It could be gleaned from the above tables that daily winnings were not
deposited intact on a regular basis and there were days in which over
remittances were made contrary to the provision that all collections be
deposited intact daily or not later than the next banking day.

8.4

Further inquiries revealed that rebates paid to players and losses incurred in
the previous day were deducted from the winnings remitted to Citystate.
Despite the fact that each satellite – Pan Pacific, Tropicana, and Madison has
its own Treasury Fund Capital where operating expenses such as payment of
rebates to players and losses incurred are to be taken. This practice was not
justifiable and not in conformance with the provision that all collections shall be
deposited intact daily or not later than the next banking day.
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8.5

We recommended that Management:
a. Conduct inquiry or investigation on big amount of winnings that were
not deposited intact as required under Section 69 of PD No. 1445 and
Section 21, Volume 1 of the Manual on NGAS;
b. Likewise, conduct an investigation on over deposit of P1.951 million;
c. Take/impose appropriate legal and/or administrative sanctions against
the concerned officials and employees responsible for the probable
loss or misuse of winnings after the results of the
inquiry/investigation, if warranted; and
d. Set guidelines on the proper remittance and deposit of winnings in
accordance with abovementioned provisions.

8.6

Management informed the Audit Team that:
8.6.1

Unlike big Casino Filipino branches, casino sites of Satellite
Operations Group 4 (SOG4) do not have banks or foreign currency
exchange booths to service its day-to-day operations; hence, a bank
pick-up was arranged by the corporate office for convenience, security
and safety of deposits.

8.6.2

Bank pick-up of cash/income for deposit is carried out daily except
during Saturdays, Sundays and holidays, there being no bank
operations.

8.6.3

Pick-up is done during the next banking day, usually on Mondays.
However, there are instances when pick-up of deposit is carried out in
the morning when money counting is still in progress. This is one of
the reasons why the previous day’s winnings may not be deposited.
As per bank policy, armored vehicles picking up cash are only allowed
to wait for 15 minutes; otherwise, they will leave and be back to pickup the deposit the following day.

8.6.4

To ensure that there is sufficient cash in the vault for large payouts or
rebates, and considering that these Satellites do not have immediate
access to banks for replenishment of cash capital for losses, winnings
are deposited net of deductions such as the following:
a.
b.
c.
d.

8.6.5

Replenishment of Loss (ROL)
Credit Card sales
Rebates
Bills and coins exchanges

Last February 2017, SOG4 revised the process of depositing income
and payment of ROL, credit card sales and rebates. The branch
sought clearance and approval from the Finance and Treasury
Department (FTD) at the corporate head office to deposit the income
of each satellite directly to the Interim Treasury Fund Capital (TFC)
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account of PAGCOR instead of depositing the same to Citystate, to
avoid the under/over deposit to the TFC account of SOG 4.

8.7

9.

8.6.6

Moreover, payments for ROL, credit card sales and rebates of
satellites are now being paid by Citystate Satellite weekly except
when there is a need to augment the cash capital immediately.

8.6.7

SOG4 has also requested from its depository bank to adjust the pickup time of income deposits in the afternoon to have the pick-up time
and money counting asynchronous with each other.

We took note of Management’s comments, however, the Audit Team’s audit
observation with regard to the over/under deposits of collections was not
addressed by Management.

The Treasury Fund Capital (TFC) account of Satellite Operations Group (SOG) 4,
of P75.039 million as of December 31, 2016, disclosed the following deficiencies:
9.1

Reconciling items of Citystate in the Branch Capital Accountability Report
(BCAR)
9.1.1

Analysis of the TFC showed that reconciling items in the BCAR of
Citystate for the month of December 2016 included shortages and
unaccounted promo chips amounting to P89,600 and P9,500,
respectively.

9.1.2

Moreover, the unreplenished rebates amounting to P0.519 million was
overstated by P91,850 due to the understatement of paid rebates for
the month of December 2016 by the same amount, as follows:

PARTICULARS
Unreplenished rebates,
beginning balance
Add: Rebates
expenses for the
month
Less: Replenishment
from Corporate for
the month
Unreplenished rebates,
ending balance

9.1.3

Per Summary of
Premium Player
Rebate Program
(PPRP)

Per Summary of
Receipts and
Disbursements
(Replenishment)

Discrepancy

P269,381.00

P91,850.00

P150,186.00

546,660.00

177,531.00
P519,315.00

Rebates are paid from the Treasury Fund Capital of the
satellites/arcades to expedite processing of claims but is subject for
reimbursement from Corporate, thus, it is one of the reconciling items
in the Branch Capital Accountability Report.

60

9.1.4

9.2

We recommended that Management monitor the reconciling
items in the Branch Capital Accountability Report of the
satellites to avoid unnecessary reconciling items such as
shortages, unaccounted cash or chips and rebates.

Unreconciled balance of Pan Pacific TFC per treasury cash balance and per
book balance.
9.2.1

Treasury Fund Capital refers to the peso treasury capital for gaming
and slot machine operations maintained in the branch’s treasury vault
and the peso savings account.

9.2.2

On May 30, 2012, the board approved the provision for Slot Machine
(SM) Progressive Jackpot in which an amount is set aside to be
deducted as month-end adjustments by Treasury from slot machine
winnings and recorded by Accounting as additional TFC accountability
with a corresponding liability set up.

9.2.3

In 2013, relative to the opening of SOGs, Pan Pacific has P5 million
cash capital and the provision for SM Progressive Jackpot as of
December 31, 2016 was P4.537 million.

9.2.4

However, review of the Branch Capital Accountability Report of Pan
Pacific and accounting records as of December 2016, revealed the
following discrepancy:

TREASURY FUND
CAPITAL
Cash
Less: Unclaimed credits
(refer to No. 3)
Cash, net of unclaimed
credits
Less: Provision for SM
Progressive
Jackpot
TFC original balance

Per SOG
Records
(BCAR)
P 9,480,879.65

Per Accounting
Records
P 9,537,076.40

Discrepancy

1,006,240.05
P8,474,639.60

P9,537,076.40

(P1,062,436.80)

3,474,639.60
P5,000,000.00

4,537,076.40
P5,000,000.00

P

1,062,436.80
0.00

9.2.5

The table above showed a discrepancy amounting to P1.062 million
from the unmatched provision of SM progressive jackpot..

9.2.6

We recommended that Management cause the immediate
reconciliation/validation of pertinent records relating to the
subject account to make the necessary adjustments if there is an
error in recording or make the TFC equivalent to the book
balance in order to present fairly the balance of the Treasury
Fund Capital account in the financial statements.
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9.3

Long outstanding unclaimed credits
9.3.1

As of December 31, 2016, Pan Pacific and Tropicana have P1.006
million and P0.902 million, abandoned or unclaimed credit,
representing which are as follows:
Unclaimed SM credit
For safekeeping
Unclaimed payout
Unattended / abandoned credits
Due to Customer E-BET/TITO
Due to PNB
Total outstanding unclaimed credits

Pan Pacific
P 990,784.77
9,817.50
4,125.50
1,492.50
16.38
3.40
P 1,006,240.05

Tropicana
P 902,275.62
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
2.23
P 902,277.85

9.3.2

Further inquiries with the Assistant Treasury Officer of the concerned
satellites revealed that the unclaimed SM credits were long
outstanding since July 2014 contrary to the policy that unclaimed
credits shall be deposited to PAGCOR Non-OPEX account after a
holding period of six months.

9.3.3

We recommended that Management should observe the policy
on the handling of abandoned/unclaimed credits of players and
deposit to PAGCOR Non-Opex account after a holding period of
six months.

9.4

Management informed that the shortage amounting to P89,600.00 was
incurred by Treasury Personnel due to overpayment to customers but have
already been settled through restitution and/or retrieved back from customer.

9.5

On the Unaccounted Promo Chips of P9,500.00, Management explained that
when the Table Games Division of SOG4 introduced the Win Time Big Time
Marketing Promo, non-cashable chips (NCCs) were used to pay winning
proposition bets for the said marketing program.

9.6

On the unreconciled balance of Pan Pacific treasury cash balance and per
book balance Management informed that during the money counting on
December 30, 2016 (closing/suspension of casino operations), the amount of
P1.062 million representing SM jackpot provision for December was
inadvertently not deducted in the Win/Loss Report for the same date. The said
amount was immediately adjusted upon the resumption of casino operations on
the January 1, 2017 income report.

9.7

The outstanding unclaimed SM credits at Pan Pacific and Tropicana Satellites
of SOG4 in the amount of P0.990 million and P0.902 million, respectively, were
caused by the system migration from card-based to TITO. SOG4 is waiting for
the instruction from the Corporate Office whether to deposit the said amounts
to Non-opex account, since these Satellites are under an income sharing
(65/35) agreement and any adjustment in the win/loss report may have a
corresponding effect on the proponent share. The
concerned
Corporate
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Departments are currently drafting the guidelines in the treatment of these
unclaimed/abandoned credits to address this matter.
10.

Certificate to Operate (CTO) or Gaming License (GL) of Poker Clubs disclosed
that the license of ATI, operators of Davao and Pasig Gaming Sites have already
expired since January 21, 2016 and October 24, 2016, respectively, but still
continued operations contrary to Regulation 6, Section 2 and 2(c) of PAGCOR
Gaming Site Regulatory Manual (GSRM) for Poker Games.
10.1

Regulation 6, Section 2 of the GSRM for Poker Games provides that the
operation of a gaming site without a License is strictly prohibited.
Regulation 6, Section 2 (c) of the same Manual also provides that the nonrenewal of license upon expiration of the current license, operations of the
concerned gaming site shall be suspended. The Operator shall then be given
thirty (30) days from license expiration date to secure the license renewal
otherwise the gaming site shall be permanently closed.

10.2

The copies of CTO and GL submitted to this Office as of April 7, 2017
disclosed that those for Davao and Pasig Gaming Sites of ATI were already
expired, however, these two poker sites were continuously conducting poker
gaming operation without the renewal of their gaming licenses in violation of
Section 2 and 2(c) of PAGCOR GSRM.

10.3

Currently, the following poker clubs still conducts transactions and remittances
to PAGCOR although their licenses have already expired, to wit:
Poker Clubs
ATI – Davao
ATI – Pasig

Date of Expiration
January 21, 2016
October 24, 2016

10.4

It showed that the renewal process of license was not being monitored. Nonrenewal of license may affect the rights of PAGCOR over these Poker Club
Operators since no valid license was granted.

10.5

We recommended that Management:
a. Suspend the operations of the above poker club operators pending
the renewal of their licenses; and
b. Monitor the compliance of poker operators on the regulations
provided under Sections 2 and 2 (c) of the Gaming Site Regulatory

10.6

Management informed that the PAGCOR Board of Directors, in its meeting
held on January 18, 2017, deferred the approval of license renewal of the
poker club in Pasig with instruction to renegotiate the increase in License Fee
or Minimum Guarantee Fee (MGF) of poker clubs for the first four tables from
P0.500 million to P0.800 million for NCR and P0.650 million for Non-NCR. The
renewal applications of the above poker clubs have not yet been acted upon
due to their pending appeal to revert the license fee to the old rate of P0.500
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million. The Gaming, Licensing and Development Department (GLDD) allowed
the poker club operators to continue operating even after expiration date of
their licenses on the basis that the Corporate Legal and Services Department
(CLSD) opined in a memorandum dated January 31, 2017 that there is no legal
impediment to the above practice of GLDD, since it is within its regulatory
function, as long as the operator’s license has not expired at the time of
submission of their application for renewal.

11.

Management failed to imposed the submission of reports on the fund transferred
to the Department of Energy (DOE) amounting to P60 million for the proper
accounting and reporting on the utilization and liquidation of the funds in
accordance with the rules and regulations of COA Circular No. 94-013.
11.1

Paragraph 4.6 of COA Circular No. 94-013 dated December 13, 1994 provides
that within ten (10) days after the end of each month/end of the agreed period
for the Project, the implementing agency shall submit the Report of Checks
Issued and the Report of Disbursement to report the utilization of the funds.
Section 10 of Republic Act No. 8479, otherwise known as the “Downstream Oil
Industry Deregulation Act of 1998 provides that, to enable the Department of
Energy (DOE) to effectively carry out the mandate, the same section of the
said Act established a Gasoline Station Training and Loan Fund with the Three
Hundred Million Pesos (P300,000,000) to be provided by the Philippine
Amusement and Gaming Corporation (PAGCOR) and administered by the
DOE under a separate account.

11.2

The PAGCOR, being the source agency, have obligated an allotment for the
project to be implemented based on the Memorandum of Agreement signed on
February 21, 2002. From 2002 up to 2007, PAGCOR have allotted a total of
P300 million, to wit:
Year
2002
2003
2005
2006
2007
Total

11.3

Allocation
P 80,000,000
10,000,000
70,000,000
63,500,000
76,500,000
P300,000,000

Remittance to DOE
P 30,000,000
30,000,000

P60,000,000

Balance
P 50,000,000
10,000,000
40,000,000
63,500,000
76,500,000
P 240,000,000

PAGCOR have transferred a total amount of P60 million already, however,
DOE have not submitted copies of the report covering the utilization of the fund
transferred.
Below is the summary of remittances by PAGCOR to the DOE:
Date
3/5/2002
4/4/2002
5/6/2002
4/19/2005
Total Remittances

Reference
DV# 06-02-302085
DV#01-02-0401251
DV# 06-02-0504415
DV# 05-04-04475

Check Number
LBP# 64838
PNB# 70938
LBP# 67074
PNB# 86795

Remittances
P 10,000,000
10,000,000
10,000,000
30,000,000
P 60,000,000
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12.

11.4

As of December 2016, the balance of the allotment amounting to P240 million
remained outstanding in the books and recorded under the account Due to
NGAs-Gas Station Training and Loan Fund. To date, the details and the
validity of this fund could not be fully ascertained due to lack/unavailability of
supporting records/documents and it seems that the present accounting
personnel has no knowledge thereof.

11.5

We recommended that management require the DOE to submit the
required reports and documents pursuant to COA Circular No. 94-013
dated December 13, 1994.

11.6

Management commented that a letter will be sent to the Department of Energy
(DOE), the Implementing Agency, for compliance with COA Circular No. 94-013
and COA Circular No. 2012-001, as amended by COA Circular No. 2016-002.
In case of non-compliance, the matter will be referred to CLSD for appropriate
legal action.

The undisbursed amount of the financial assistance granted by PAGCOR to the
City of Alaminos, Pangasinan for the E-Kawayan Project amounting to P15.667
million was not refunded despite the fact that the implementation of the project
had stopped since November 2015, resulting in the funds being idle exposing
the funds to the risk of being used for other purpose.
12.1

The financial assistance granted by PAGCOR to the City of Alaminos,
Pangasinan was released on January 6, 2012 amounting to P31 million to be
used in the Hundred Islands E-Kawayan Factory Project.

12.2

On October 1, 2013, the Audit Team issued Audit Observation Memorandum
(AOM) No. 13-004 and recommended that PAGCOR terminate the MOA with
the City of Alaminos and cause the return of the undisbursed amount due to
the discrepancies noted on the validation and ocular inspection conducted on
the project.

12.3

Records showed that in May 2015, the AVP, Community Relations and
Services Department (CRSD) seek the legal opinion/assistance of the
Corporate Legal Services Department (CLSD) on whether the undisbursed
amount of the financial assistance be returned and that the Memorandum of
Agreement (MOA) be terminated since the City of Alaminos failed to complete
the project despite being given an ample time to utilized the approved
assistance to attain the project’s objectives.

12.4

The Senior Legal Counsel of CLSD suggested that the MOA be amended to
include in its provision the time table for the completion of the project as well as
the periodic submission of Progress Report, Liquidation Report and
Status/Statement of Funds, however, inquiry with CRSD revealed that as of
this date the Memorandum of Agreement has not been amended and only the
Report of Disbursements and Bank Statements were submitted by the City
Accountant of Alaminos.
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12.5

Presently, the remaining fund was placed under LBP Time Deposit and LBP
Current Account that have an outstanding balance as of January 13, 2017 of
P11.930 million and P3.737 million, respectively.

12.6

Nevertheless, the undisbursed amount which should have been made available
for other beneficial use remained idle for more than three years and exposing
the funds to the risk of being misappropriated or used for other purpose.

12.7

We reiterated our previous audit recommendations that Management:
a. Terminate the Memorandum of Agreement with the City of Alaminos;
and
b. Cause the refund of the undisbursed amount pursuant to the
provision under Paragraph No. 11, which states that, “In the event that
facts or circumstances arise or are discovered which render this
Agreement disadvantageous to the government, the Parties hereto
agree to immediately renegotiate its terms and conditions, or at the
option of PAGCOR, terminate the same.”

13.

The service contract entered into by and between the PAGCOR and the
Contractor for the procurement of food and beverages requirements for casino
customers and guests of Biñan Table Games for three years amounting to
P10.440 million was awarded without complying/satisfying the conditions
provided under the direct contracting mode of procurement, which is
inconsistent with Section 50 of the IRR-A of RA No. 9184.
13.1

Section 10, Rule IV of IRR-A of RA No. 9184 provides that all procurement
shall be done through competitive bidding, except as provided under Rule XVI
of this same IRR-A on alternative methods of procurement, which includes
direct contracting. Section 50 of the IRR-A of RA No. 9184 strictly provides that
direct contracting method of procurement may be resorted to under any of the
following conditions:
a. Procurement of goods of proprietary nature, which can be obtained only
from proprietary source, i.e., when patents, trade secrets, and copyrights
prohibit others from manufacturing the same item;
b. When the procurement of critical components from a specific supplier is
a condition precedent to hold a contractor to guarantee its project
performance, in accordance with the provisions of its contract; or
c. Those sold by an exclusive dealer or manufacturer which does not
have sub-dealers selling at lower prices and for which no suitable
substitute can be obtained at more advantageous terms to the government.
(emphasis ours)

66

13.2

Review of the said service contract including its supporting documents
revealed that PAGCOR resorted to direct contracting without complying with
any of the conditions stated above.

13.3

The Satellite Operations Group (SOG) 5, in its Memorandum dated August 22,
2016, provided the justification for the use of Direct Contracting that the
Contractor currently operates the only restaurant within the premises of the
Hotel but outside the leased area and that it is the exclusive caterer at the said
venue. However, the food and beverages are goods that are common in
nature, which can be provided by multiple dealers or suppliers without
specifying the location of the customer. The proximity between the Biñan
Satellite and the Contractor does not make the latter the proprietary source of
such food and beverages for the former. Hence, direct contracting is not the
appropriate mode of procurement for this type of project. The justification of
Management did not comply with the strict provision of the law.

13.4

Moreover, the provisions in the contract of lease entered into with the Lessor in
November 25, 2014 for the lease of the Hotel did not disclose any restriction on
the exclusivity of the contractor for the supply and delivery of the food and
beverages in order to utilize the leased area.

13.5

Likewise, the Audit Team could not validate if PAGCOR was able to obtain the
most advantageous price for the government through direct contracting as well
as the capacity of the contractor to supply and deliver the food and beverages
due to the absence of the following documents/reports/information:
a. Basis on arriving at the Approved Budget for the Contract (ABC) of P10.440
million;
b. Detailed breakdown of the Contract Cost of P10.440 million;
c. Survey or research that will support the justification on the exclusivity of
catering services at the Biñan, Laguna in compliance with the Annex “H” of
RA No. 9184 on specific guidelines of using Direct Contracting method of
procurement, which is quoted as follows:
“To justify the need to procure through the Direct Contracting
method, the End-user should conduct a survey of the industry
and determine the supply source. In all cases where Direct
Contracting is contemplated, the survey must be conducted
prior to the commencement of the procurement process.
Moreover, the End-User must justify the necessity for an item
that may only be procured through Direct Contracting, and must
be able to prove that there is no suitable substitute in the market
that can be obtained at more advantageous terms.”
d. Validation by PAGCOR if the price of food and beverages served by the
Contractor are really subjected to 20 per cent discount pursuant to
paragraph 2, Article 1 of Service Contract; and
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e. Price quotation of other food and beverage providers on specific items
provided for comparison purposes. This is to further evaluate the claim of
Management that the food and beverages offered by Contractor are sold at
lower prices.
13.6

As a result of the non-submission of the above documents, Management was
not able to sufficiently support why it resorted to direct contracting for the
procurement of food and beverage requirements for casino customers and
guests of Biñan Table Games amounting to P10.440 million, which was not in
conformity of the provisions of Section 50 of the IRR-A of RA No. 9184.

13.7

We recommended that Management:
a. Submit documents that will prove that PAGCOR obtained the most
advantageous price for the supply and delivery of food and beverage
requirements of Biñan Table Games; and
b. Comply with any of the conditions provided under the direct
contracting mode of procurement, otherwise, conduct competitive
bidding as a mode of procurement in compliance with the provisions
of Section 10, Rule IV of IRR-A of RA No. 9184.

13.8

Management explained that the nearest possible food and beverage provider is
600 meters away and has limited operating hours. Small eateries within 200
meters radius are likewise present which are not responsive to end-user’s
requirement as to quality and timeliness of supply and delivery of food and
beverage to casino players.

13.9

The SOG 5 further certified that the food and beverages offered by the
Contractor are exclusively provided by the latter which does not have subdealers selling at lower prices and for which no suitable substitute can be
obtained at more advantageous terms of PAGCOR. They also presented a
Certification from the General Manager of Contractor that they are the sole
concessionaire.

13.10 The ABC in the amount of P3.480 million per year or P10.440 million for a
period of three years, was based on the allowable marketing expense margin
of five per cent of P74.044 million which is the target income of Biñan Satellite
for 2017. Moreover, SOG 5 conducted a survey on the price and food variety
from the two hotels. A comparative report revealed that in terms of food variety,
the Contractor has more offerings and as to price, the Contractor extended a
20 per cent discount above the published rates. To evidence the 20 per cent
discount, they submitted copies of the one month transaction of ERHI clearly
reflected therein the discount was applied prior to processing of payment and
copies of the Comparative Pricelist and of the one month transaction were
submitted as reference.
13.11 By way of an audit rejoinder, the procurement of food and beverages did not
fall under any conditions provided under Direct Contracting on the ground that
the Contractor was the only concessioner allowed by the proponent of
PAGCOR nor the food and beverages are exclusively provided by the
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Contractor which does not have sub-dealers selling at lower prices and no
suitable substitute that can be obtained at more advantageous price aside from
the fact that the submitted list of food and beverages offered by Contractor are
common goods in nature. Hereunder are the following reasons that
Management should not resort to Direct Contracting:
a. PAGCOR is the one responsible for paying the food and beverages and not
the proponent nor the lessor. Thus, Management has prerogative to
determine the proper mode of procurement in line with the Implementing
Rules and Regulations of the RA No. 9184.
b. Competitive public bidding, through ordering agreement, will determine if
there will be no other supplier that can provide the supply of the food and
beverages at the most advantageous price to the government. If public
bidding was carried out, there were possible prospective food and
beverages providers other than mentioned by the Management. In case of
two failed biddings, a negotiated procurement may thereafter be conducted
with the Contractor. Hence, the Management could not immediately
conclude that the Contractor is the only provider of the required food and
beverages without undertaking public bidding.
c. Determination whether the PAGCOR obtain the most advantageous price
for the government could not still be validated due to the following ground:
c.1

Management established the ABC of P10.440 million based on the
certain percentage of the target income for CY 2017 and not on the
factors in determining the ABC which includes, among others, the cost
or market price of the product itself as provided by GPPB under
Volume 2 on Manual of Procedures for Procurement of Goods and
Services.
Prior to the subject Service Contract, the cost of the food and
beverages, with the contract entered into the same Contractor in CY
2014, amounted to P8.153 million which increased by P2.287 million
or 22 per cent of the current contract price of P10.440 million.
Notably, the prices of each food/menu in the Annex A of the CY 2014
Service Contract have the same offered prices in the subject Service
Contract. Hence, ABC or the contract cost should have not increased
to P10.440 million.

c.2

Based on the submitted comparative price list between the discounted
price offered by Contractor and market price from other Hotels, only
17 items out of 59 food/menu were provided with market prices to
justify the claim of the Management that they obtained the most
advantageous price. Of the 17 items, 10 food/menu have lower
market prices by 12 per cent to 72 per cent of the discounted price
offered by the Contractor. The subject prices were not even
negotiated by PAGCOR with the Contractor even if they have
validated that there were lower market prices of food.

69

13.12 As stated under Memorandum of the Branch Manager of SOG 5 dated May 19,
2017, Management has difficulty on establishing the actual breakdown of
budget because it is similar to an ordering agreement where goods and
services are delivered on “as-need” basis. Therefore, Management considered
instead the evaluation of price per food and beverage item.
14.

The non-amendment of the terms of delivery either in the Purchase Order or
Deed of Assignment in the procurement of 72 units Shuffle Master Equinox Slot
Machines and six Signages during the procurement process period resulted in
non-deduction of liquidated damages of $46,511.40 or P2.316 million due to
delayed deliveries of the slot machines for 26 days, thus, payments made were
not in compliance with Section 2, Annex A of the PO No. 430.
14.1

Section 2, Annex A of the Purchase Order No. 430 provides:
R Co. shall complete the supply and delivery of the said items
within the time prescribed in the PO. Should R Co. incur delay in
its performance, it shall pay liquidated damages in the amount of
at least one-tenth of one per cent (1/10 of 1%) of the total cost of
the undelivered item/s for each day of delay. The maximum
deduction shall be ten per cent (10%) of the amount of the
contract. Xxx .
In case R Co. still fails to deliver the item after the lapse of thirty
(30) calendar days from the supposed date of delivery, in
addition to the forfeiture of the performance security and the
penalties agreed upon, PAGCOR shall have the option to
terminate the purchase. (emphasis supplied)

14.2

Verification of the same PO revealed that the delivery must be in accordance
with the date specified in the Notice to Proceed (NTP). Accordingly, the NTP
dated June 5, 2014 provides that R Co. should complete the delivery of the slot
machines and signages within forty-five (45) to sixty (60) calendar days which
was from June 6, 2014 to August 5, 2014. However, the delivery of these items
were made on October 24, 2014 only as evidenced by delivery receipt Nos.
241917, 241918 and 241949 which was 79 days delayed from the scheduled
delivery.

14.3

Subsequently, the BAC Secretariat informed the supplier that the procurement
of slot machines could be subjected to 30 per cent final tax on May 2, 2014
when the PO No. 430 was finalized and executed. As a result, the supplier
transferred the obligations to its local company or Assignee, through the
execution of the Deed of Assignment (DOA) on July 29, 2014.

14.4

However, Section 3 of the DOA stated that “Assignment shall take effect from
the date the assignment is made in which all terms and conditions of the
Purchase Order shall be fully responsible by the Assignee”.
The local
company was therefore bound to deliver the Slot Machines in accordance with
the terms and conditions specified in PO including the terms of delivery. Due
to late information and resolving issues on the applicable tax, the supplier could
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not be blamed alone for the delayed delivery. Hence, PAGCOR could not
impose nor deduct the corresponding liquidated damages of $141,323.10 (1/10
of 1% x 79 days x $1,788,900) in the first payment nor in the subsequent
payments.
Likewise, Management could not file for the forfeiture of the
performance security in his favor in the amount of $89,445, with validity period
until June 4, 2015, despite the lapse of the delivery period as agreed upon
under Section 2, Annex A of the PO.

15.

14.5

On the other hand, considering that the date of effectivity of the DOA becomes
the reckoning date of the terms of delivery to 60 days thereafter or until
September 28, 2014, the supplier was liable for liquidated damages of
$46,511.40 ($1,788,900 x 1/10 x 1% x 26 days) due to delayed deliveries of
Slot Machines of 26 days.

14.6

In view of the foregoing, we recommended that Management deduct the
liquidated damages in the succeeding payment to the supplier. Moving
forward, we also recommended that Management:
a.

include in the provision of Deed of Assignment the new terms of
delivery to be complied with by the supplier; and

b.

settle all procurement issues during the procurement process period
to properly implement the term of delivery provided under the
Purchase Order.

14.7

Management commented that the application of tax rate effectively changed
the terms and conditions of the supply and delivery of the subject machines.
The supplier claimed that with the new tax rate, they could not recover the cost
of manufacturing the machines and accessories. Hence, they executed DOA
in attempt to enable PAGCOR to acquire the needed machines. They further
averred that the DOA was found to be unnecessary in light of the subsequent
clarification about the applicable tax.

14.8

The Audit Team considered the decision of Management and supplier to
execute the DOA in lieu of settling the issue on applicable taxes which brought
the delay in delivering the machines. However, the supplier was still not able
to comply with the terms of delivery from the reckoning date of effectivity of the
DOA. Hence, the supplier was still liable for the liquidated damages due to
delayed delivery.

The actual period of procurement activities of four Purchase Orders (POs) on the
Supply and Delivery of Electronic Gaming Machines (EGMs)/Slot Machines and
Spare Parts for CY 2016 was beyond the scheduled date specified in the Annual
Procurement Plan (APP) which exceeded the prescribed three month
requirement under Section 38.1 or 73 calendar days (cd) for applicable
procurement activities for Direct Contracting mode of procurement under Annex
“C” of RA No. 9184 and may result in opportunity loss in the generation of
additional income from Slot Machines.
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15.1

For CY 2016, PAGCOR approved/awarded six Purchase Orders through Direct
Contracting mode of procurement for the Supply and Delivery of EGMs,
signages with accessories and various spare parts for existing slot machines
which were considered in the Annual Procurement Plan for CYs 2015 and 2016
as shown below:

APP for CY
SMD2016
Supply and
(revised as
Delivery of
of Dec. 29,
Goods
2016)
Slot
Submission
Machines/
and
Electronic
Opening of
Gaming
Bids in May
Machines
2016
to
(EGMs)
Contract
Signing
in
June 2016.
Various
Submission
KO
spare and
parts
Opening of
Bids
in
March 2016
to Contract
Signing
in
April 2016
Various
Submission
A
spare and
parts
Opening of
Bids in April
2016
to
Contract
Signing
in
May 2016
Various
Submission
J spare parts and
Opening of
Bids in July
2016
to
Contract
Signing
in
August
2016.
Various F2 Submission
spare parts and
Opening of
Bids in July
2016
to
Contract
Signing
in
August
2016.

15.2

APP for CY
Disclosed ABC per APP for
Actual Procurement
2015
Period for CY 2016
PO No. for
rd
(3 revision as
(From Submission and
CY 2016
CY 2016
CY 2015
of August 04,
Receipt of RFQ to
2015)
issuance of NTP)
Pre$3,600,000.00 P500,000,000.00* 798 and 799 From May 31 to October
procurement in (for 124 EGMs (for various EGMs both dated
25, 2016 (PO 798), 147
October 2015 to or
slot or slot machines Oct. 13, 2016 cd; From June 1, 2016 to
issuance
of machines only) inclusive of 124
Nov. 3, 2016 (PO 799),
Notice
to
EGMs)
155 cd
Proceed
in
November 2015
Preprocurement
conference
in
February 2015
to issuance of
Notice
to
Proceed
in
March 2015
Preprocurement in
February 2015
to issuance of
Notice
to
Proceed
in
March 2015

$67,078.89

$42,305.84

P3,018,550.03

791 dated From Feb. 18, 2016 (reset
Sept. 16, 2016 SOB date) to Dec. 5,
2016, 290 cd

P7,427,275.19* 711 dated
(for various spare Mar. 2, 2016
parts
which
includes
the
Aristocrat spare
parts in CY 2016)

From Jan. 8 to Mar. 28,
2016, 79 cd

Preprocurement in
April 2015 to
issuance
of
Notice
to
Proceed in May
2015

$32,917.65

P1,481,294.25

705 dated
Feb. 23, 2016

From December 14 to
Mar. 7, 2016, 83 cd

Pre-procurement
in April 2015 to
issuance
of
Notice
to
Proceed in May
2015

$30,554.10

P1,374,934.50

786 dated From Feb. 1, 2016 (reset
Sept. 3, 2016 SOB date) to Oct. 26,
2016, 267 cd

Review of the procurement processing period of the abovementioned six POs,
disclosed that actual period of action on procurement activities of the four POs
were beyond the scheduled date specified in the APP or even the prescribed
maximum period of three months or 73 cd applicable for Direct Contracting
procurement activities under Section 38.1 or Annex “C” of RA No. 9184, to wit:
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PO No. 791
Company A
Contract Amount
$66,742.57
Submission
and Originally
set
the
Receipt of RFQ and deadline on Dec. 14,
other documents by 2015 and re-set on Feb.
supplier
18, 2016.
Konami
submitted accomplished
RFQ on May 1, 2016

PO No. 786
Company B
$29,908.10
Originally set on Dec.
14, 2015 and re-set on
Feb. 1, 2016. Other
documents
were
submitted by supplier
on June 30, 2016

Submission
of
Verification Report to
BAC Secretariat by:
 AVP, PPD and May 12 and 17, 2016
AVP, LMD
May 5, 2016
 AVP, SMD
 AVP, LMD

Feb. 9, April 28 and
May 17, 2016

Particulars

PO No. 798
Company C
$2,031,000.00
Received by BAC
the accomplished
RFQ on May 31,
2016;
Deadline
on
submission
of
RFQ was set on
June 2, 2016

Feb. 3, 2016

June 7, 2016
June 14, 2016

PO No. 799
Company D
$1,470,000.00
Received by BAC
the accomplished
RFQ on June 1,
2016 ;
Deadline
on
submission
of
RFQ was set on
June 2, 2016

Post-qualification
Report
Issuance of BAC
Resolution
on
Recommendation of
Award
Receipt of Notice of
Award by supplier
Approval
of
the
Purchase Order

June 23, 2016

May 6, 2016

June 17, 2016

June 9 and 14,
2016
June 14, 2016

August 22, 2016

June 20, 2016

June 20, 2016

June 20, 2016

September 22, 2016

August 11, 2016

August 17, 2016

Aug. 17, 2016

November 2, 2016

Sept. 21, 2016

Issuance of Notice to
Proceed by supplier
Total calendar days
(cd)
from
Submission
and
Receipt of RFQ to
issuance of NTP

December 5, 2016

October 26, 2016

Undated approval
but with noted
signature on the
box
for
the
availability
of
funds on Oct. 18,
2016
October 25, 2016

Undated approval
but with noted
signature on the
box
for
the
availability
of
funds on Nov. 18,
2016
Nov. 3, 2016

From Feb. 18, 2016
(reset SOB date) to
Dec. 5, 2016, i.e., 290
cd
(per APP for CY 2016
but this was also an
extension
of
APP
CY2015)

From Feb. 1, 2016 From May 31 to From June 1,
(reset SOB date) to October
25, 2016 to Nov. 3,
Oct. 26, 2016, i.e., 267 2016, i.e., 147 cd 2016, i.e., 155 cd
cd
(per APP for CY 2016
but this was also an
extension of APP
CY2015)

PPD = Procurement and Property Department
SMD = Slot Machine Department

LMD = Logistics Management Department

15.3

As can be gleaned from the above table, the planned schedules of
procurement activities were not met by the Management. Delays in the
implementation of the procurement activities may result in opportunity loss in
generating additional income from the slot machines.

15.4

Considering that the procurement for the supply and delivery of said Spare
Parts and Slot Machines were crucial to the efficient discharge of governmental
functions as included in the APP (Section 7.1 of RA No. 9184) and that Direct
Contracting does not require elaborate bidding documents (Section 50 of RA
No. 9184), the schedule of procurement activities should be shorter or not
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beyond the three months prescribed for bidding process (Section 38.1 of RA
No. 9184) or maximum of 73 cd from Submission and Receipt of Bids to
issuance of Notice to Proceed applicable procurement activities for Direct
Contracting (Annex “C” of RA No. 9184).
15.5

In addition, we identified the following deficiencies on the procurement for the
supply and delivery of various Spare Parts of existing KO Slot Machines that
prolonged the duration of procurement process:
a. Schedule of procurement activities, from pre-procurement conference
in January 2015 to the acceptance of the goods in March 2015, set
under Annual Procurement Plan (APP) for CY 2015, was not observed
for supply and delivery of various spare parts of existing KO slot
machines amounting to $66,742.56 under Purchase Order (PO) No.
791 dated September 16, 2016 entered into with Company A resulting
in procurement activities that was completed by more than one year
that further extended the procurement activities to CY 2016.
Although the Audit Team considered some delays in the activities that were
beyond the control of the BAC, the following interval of scheduled activities,
however, notably prolonged the duration of procurement process:
a.1

Despite the fact that the Assistant Vice President of Slot Machine
Department (SMD), in its Memorandum dated June 10, 2015 to the
Bids and Awards Services Department (BASD), marked with “Rush!!!
Urgent!!!”, the deadline for the Submission and Receipt of Quotation
by the Company A was set on December 14, 2015 which already took
187 cd. The Memorandum showed that there was an urgent need of
the slot machines.

a.2

From the submission of eligibility requirements by Company A on April
20, 2016, verification report was submitted to BAC by:
 SMD on technical and financial components of KO slot machine
spare parts on May 4, 2016;
 BASD on Certificate of Non-registration of Company, PhilGEPS
Certificate and Tax clearance for 22 cds on May 12, 2016; and
 Logistics and Management Department (LMD) on Certificate of
Authentication, Consulate General of the Republic of the Philippines
Sydney both Sworn Statement and Declaration that took 125
calendar days before submission of verification report on August 23,
2016.

Notwithstanding the creation of four Bids and Awards Committees (BACs)
on the distribution of responsibilities to handle all PAGCOR procurement
transactions for the year, utmost priority on the BAC assignment was not
apparently given due course. Each member of the BAC was also assigned
to verify particular eligibility/technical and financial documents and
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submitted the reports thereof on different dates. In this regard, attention is
invited to Section 38.1 of RA No. 9184 which quoted as follows:
“xxx All members of the BAC shall be on a “jury duty” type of
assignment until the Notice of Award is issued by the HOPE
in order to complete the entire procurement process at the
earliest possible time.
For purposes of this section, the term “jury duty” shall be
understood to mean a state by which the members give
utmost priority to BAC assignment over all the other duties
and responsibilities until the requirements for the said
assignments at hand are completed.” (emphasis supplied)
a.3

BAC Resolution recommending the award of contract was approved
on September 14, 2016 which was already 21 cds from the issuance
of the BAC Resolution on August 22, 2016 which exceeded the fifteen
(15) calendar days set forth under Section 37.1.2 of the RA No. 9184.

Considering the above cases, from the notification of the need to purchase
the spare parts on June 10, 2015 or issuance of RFQ on December 10,
2015 to the issuance of Notice to Proceed on December 5, 2016, the period
of action on procurement activities took more than one year. Although the
subject procurement was considered in the APP for CY 2016, Management
did not still meet the timelines on the scheduled procurement activity on
contract signing, i.e., April 2016. Please take note that the APP was
already revised or updated as of December 29, 2016, however, BAC was
not able to correct the APP with the information of actual procurement
activities. Further, the procurement took 290 cds from the re-set date of
Submission and Receipt of RFQ to issuance of Notice to Proceed in
CY
2016.
b. Terms and Conditions as to preferential attention on the shipment and
delivery period as well as the relevant tax for the procurement of KO
spare parts of the slot machines was not considered initially in the
Terms and Conditions for the procurement of slot machines with
Company A since that the replacement of the spare parts of the
existing slot machines were already expected by Management. Thus,
prolonging the process of procurement.
15.6

Apparently, the supplier has the option as to when to comply with the RFQ
despite of failure to submit the required RFQ on two given set schedules, i.e.,
December 14, 2015 and February 18, 2016. Nonetheless, the Company A did
not submit the Request For Quotation (RFQ) instead they raised issues such
as: (1) revisions of shipping terms from DAP PAGCOR Imus Warehouse to
EXW KO Australia; (2) imposition of final tax on non-resident foreign
Corporation. On March 30, 2016, PAGCOR resolved the issue on imposing
withholding tax of one per cent from the contract price in the RFQ. The
supplier submitted the accomplished RFQ on May 1, 2016.
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15.7

The repairs and maintenance of the slot machines which included the
replacement of spare parts and maintenance services were, however,
expected to occur. Hence, it should be initially taken into consideration upon
entering into contract on procuring the slot machines.

15.8

Had Management initially considered the same terms for the procurement of
spare parts in the contract for the slot machines, the period of procurement
activities was not prolonged nor exceeded the maximum three months set forth
under Section 38.1 of RA No. 9184.

15.9

We recommended that Management:
a. Comply strictly with the schedule of procurement activities provided
in the APP;
b. Expedite the process of Direct Contracting mode of procurement that
will not exceed the maximum three months prescribed under Section
38.1 of RA No. 9184 or the applicable 73 calendar days for Direct
Contracting mode of procurement as set under Annex “C” of RA No.
9184;
c. Develop a systematic monitoring that will fast track the execution of
the scheduled procurement activities; and
d. Consider the terms of reference for the procurement of spare parts
and other maintenance services in the terms and conditions of the
contract for slot machines to avoid any further clarifications or
negotiations for the succeeding procurement of its spare parts and/or
accessories which will fast track the procurement activities.

15.10 Management informed the Audit Team that the completion of the procurement
activities for said requirements took a long period of time. However, there were
number of factors which contributed to the actual period of completion, namely:
a. Concerns raised by the supplier regarding the Shipping Terms of the
project and taxes to be deducted from the total contract price;
b. Revision on the composition of the Bids and Awards Committee (BAC) and
designated approving authorities arising from the change of administration;
and
c. Long period of time allotted for the negotiations conducted by the end-user
and the BAC on the terms and conditions for the project
15.11 On the factor that the supplier has a number of concerns on the taxes deducted
from the total contract price, series of meetings not only with the BAC but also
with the Accounting Department and Corporate and Legal Services Department
(CLSD) were occured. There even came a time where PAGCOR requested for
a legal opinion from the Department of Justice (DOJ) on the taxes to be
imposed relative to the project.
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15.12 As discussed during the exit interview, they have already explored the
procurement of spare parts simultaneously with the procurement of the
machines. However, said approach will mean procuring parts equivalent to a
specific percentage cost of the machines across the entire lot/batch of
machines considering its utilizations and the substantial occurrence of wear
and tear of the machines. Searching for better option, they believe that
procuring spare parts under an Ordering Agreement is most efficient and avoid
wastage:
a. A batch/mix of spare parts with fixed total amount shall be included in the
one-time procurement with the cost per item fixed within the effectivity
period of the agreement;
b. Ordering of items on per need basis (without undergoing procurement
process); and
c. Only items actually ordered/delivered shall be paid.
The Procurement Department and the concerned suppliers found this mode of
procurement viable/acceptable.
15.13 By way of an audit rejoinder, emphasis is given to the long duration of resolving
procurement issues on the shipping terms and delivery point of spare parts and
applicable taxes and not on the certain quantity of spare parts to be ordered in
the future. The issues could have been avoided, had the Management
considered the terms and conditions particularly the raised issues on shipping
and delivery terms in the contract for the procurement of KO Slot Machines
since the subject spare parts were expected to occur as part of its repairs and
maintenance under Direct Contracting mode of procurement. Nonetheless, the
time of resolving the issues by the supplier, from February 18, 2016 to March
18, 2016, took 40 cd and the period of issuing the Notice to Proceed on
December 5, 2016 from the approval of the BAC resolution on recommendation
of award on September 15, 2016, have interval period of 81 days. Hence, we
assert that Management expedite their procurement processing period in
accordance to the schedule specified in the APP pursuant to the maximum
period of procurement prescribed under by RA 9184.
16.

PAGCOR’s Bids and Awards Committees (BACs) 1 to 4 exercised full reliance on
the results of verification of the bid documents made by the BAC Secretariat
during Submission and Opening of Bids, which was beyond the functions and
responsibilities of the latter as provided under Section 14.1 of RA No. 9184.
16.1

Section 14.1 of RA No. 9184 provides among others, the functions and
responsibilities of BAC Secretariat such as the following:
a. Provide administrative support to the BAC and the TWG;
b. Organize and make all necessary arrangements for BAC and the
TWG meetings and conferences;
c. Prepare minutes of meetings and resolutions of the BAC;
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d. Take custody of procurement documents and other records and
ensure that all procurements undertaken by the Procuring Entity are
properly documented;
e. Manage the sale and distribution of Bidding Documents to interested
bidders;
f. Advertise and/or post bidding opportunities, including Bidding
Documents, and notices of awards;
g. Assisting managing the procurement processes;
h. Monitor procurement activities and milestones for proper reporting to
relevant agencies when required;
i. Consolidate PPMPs from various units of the Procuring Entity to
make them available for review as indicated in Section 7 of this IRR
and prepare the APP; and
j. Act as the central channel of communications for the BAC with enduser or implementing units, PMOs, other units of the line agency,
other government agencies, providers of goods, infrastructure
projects, and consulting services, observers, and the general public.
16.2

On the other hand, the functions of the BAC as provided under Section 12 of
RA No. 9184 are as follows:
a. Advertise and/or post the invitation to bid/request for expressions of
interest;
b. Conduct pre-procurement and pre-bid conferences;
c. Determine the eligibility of prospective bidders;
d. Receive and open bids;
e. Conduct the evaluation of bids;
f. Undertake post-qualification proceedings;
g. Resolve requests for reconsideration;
h. Recommend award of contracts to the HOPE or his duly authorized
representative;
i. Recommend the imposition of sanctions in accordance with Rule
XXIII;
j. Recommend to the HOPE the use of Alternative Methods of
Procurement as provided in Rule XVI hereof;
k. Conduct any of the Alternative Methods of Procurement;
l. Conduct periodic assessment of the procurement processes and
procedures to streamline procurement activities pursuant to Section
3(c) of this IRR; and
m. Perform such other related functions as may be necessary, including
the creation of a Technical Working Group (TWG) from a pool of
technical, financial, and/or legal experts

16.3

During the year, the Audit Team observed the procurement process during
the Submission and Opening of Bids conducted by the BACs 1 to 4 and
noted the following proceedings:
a. The first envelope containing the technical, legal and financial
documents of all bidders were opened at the same time.
b. All pages of bid documents were initialled or signed by the BAC
members.
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c. One BAC Secretariat personnel was assigned for every bidder to
verify the bid documents. A Checklist of Eligibility requirements was
accomplished by the BAC Secretariat, in the presence of the bidder,
with bid document references.
At some instances, the BAC
Secretariat disclosed their evaluation of the eligibility requirements
either “PASSED” or “FAILED” in the Checklist.
d. The BAC Secretariat communicated to the BAC members the
deficiency(ies) noted on the submitted bid documents, if any.
e. The BAC validated the deficiencies noted by the BAC Secretariat and
declared the results of eligibility of bidder.
f. Each page of the accomplished Checklist, showing verification of the
BAC Secretariat for 1stenvelope, was signed by the BAC members
and the concerned bidder.
g. Likewise, all second envelopes, containing the bid quotation price,
were simultaneously opened and summarized by one BAC
Secretariat into Checklist of Bid Quotations or Abstract of Bids.
h. The Checklist of bid quotations was signed by the BAC and all
prospective bidders showing that they agreed with the disclosed bid
quotations.
16.4

Based on the above procedures, it can be gleaned that there was full reliance
on the works done by the BAC Secretariat during the Submission and Opening
of Bids without validating if the disclosure of information in the Checklist was
correct or not. Nowhere in the responsibilities of the BAC Secretariat was it
stated that they are responsible for validating the bid documents.

16.5

As a consequence, only those documents that based on the discretion of the
BAC Secretariat need to be brought to the attention of the BAC were reviewed.
The BAC members signed the Checklist for the eligibility requirements without
checking if all disclosures of the BAC Secretariat stated therein were correct or
not. The risk lies on those documents that were passed and not relayed by the
BAC Secretariat in which there was no opportunity for the competitors to
question the submitted eligibility requirement of other bidders. Moreover, when
envelopes were opened simultaneously, it may possibly result in: (1) other
bidders could not anymore attend to or focus on the opened envelope of its
competitors which were verified by other BAC Secretariat; and (2) the
document(s) may be placed in the opened envelope without notice of other
bidder(s) or BAC Secretariat. Hence, transparency with regard to the eligibility
requirements was not ensured during the Submission and Opening of Bids.

16.6

We recommended that Management require all BACs to:
a. Consider opening the envelope one at a time and designate a BAC
member or Secretariat to announce by describing the submitted
document while other BAC members are verifying the copy of the
submitted documents;
b. Perform assessment to determine whether the eligibility requirements
are Passed or Failed all the time; and
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c. Revisit the provisions stated under Sections 12 and 14.1 of the RA No.
9184.
16.7

Management informed the Audit Team that what is being done by the BAC
Secretariat during the submission and opening of bids was only to check the
presence or absence of the documents as per checklist of the requirements.
The evaluation and determination of the propriety of the submitted documents
shall always be the function of the BAC itself. In any event, to ensure that all
the submittals during the submission and opening of bids passed through and
were duly evaluated by each BAC member, and to promote further
transparency, they shall be adopting the following procedures:
a. All the submitted envelopes containing the documentary requirements shall
be opened in front of or within the view of the BAC members. One BAC
member shall supervise the actual opening of each submitted envelope;
and
b. To guarantee that the BAC members themselves saw and duly evaluated
the submittals, all the contents shall first pass through and be signed or
initialed at by each member once the envelopes are opened. Only after this
process shall then the BAC Secretariat tabulate the presence or absence of
the documents as per checklist. Through this procurement, it is ensured
that the assessment and determination of the documents submitted being
“Passed” or “Failed” resides solely on the BAC, as a collegial body, all the
time;

16.8

They also explained that the documents submitted may be accessed by any of
the bidders and/or its representative at any given time, even after the meeting,
as the same are considered public documents. PAGCOR never prohibits
access to the documents, hence, the bidders or their duly authorized
representatives always have the opportunity to question anything. In relation
thereto, they cannot mandate or expect any of the bidders and/or its
representatives to look at each and every document submitted during the
submission and opening of bids as even their presence during the same is not
even mandatory. The paragraph of Section 29 (Bid Opening) of the
Implementing Rules and Regulations of RA No. 9184 clearly provides that the
presence of bidders during bid opening is only permissive, thus: xxx The
bidders or their duly authorized representatives may attend the opening of bids
xxx. At any rate, to promote further transparency, they will add in their present
process the following, hence:
a. All bidders or their duly authorized representatives present during the
submission and opening of bids will be encouraged and shall be expressly
notified that they may, under the supervision of the BAC and BAC
Secretariat, loot at or check in on the submittals of the other bidders during
the proceedings and register their comments on the same;
b. As provided for by RA No. 9184 and its Implementing Rules and
Regulations, during the Submission and Opening of Bids (Section 30.1) the
determination of the qualification of the bidders shall be dependent on the
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mere presence or absence of the required documents using a “nondiscretionary ‘pass/fail’ criterion.”
16.9

As regards to the authenticity or accuracy of the documents submitted, the
same will be duly addressed upon verification and validation of the lowest
calculated bid/highest rated bid during the Post-Qualification process (Section
34).

16.10 As audit rejoinder, the Audit Team explained during the exit conference that it
is not only sufficient for the BAC Secretariat to check the presence and
absence of the bid documents but the BAC should have to determine whether
the submitted bid documents and passed by the BAC Secretariat are the
required bid documents. The determination of required bid documents could
only be done by verification of the BAC members and not merely observe by
putting their initials or signing the documents. The BAC’s verification was done
when there were issues raised by the BAC Secretariat as a result of their
verification.
16.11 Although BAC never prohibits the bidder to have access on the submitted bid
documents, the eligible bidder was not assured whether her/his competitors
were certainly passed the eligibility requirements or not because attention
focused on its own bid documents subject of verification of BAC Secretariat.
All submitted bid documents were not announced nor verified by BAC
members during the Submission and Opening of Bids.
16.12 Further, the verification and validation of documents mentioned during the
Post-Qualification process are done for eligible bidder who provided the lowest
calculated bid or highest rated bid. The observation pointed out that the
determination of who, among the bidders, passed the eligibility requirements
should be done through proper verification of bid documents by BAC members
during the Submission and Opening of Bids before going to the next
procurement process of determining the authenticity of the documents
submitted by eligible bidder who provided the lowest calculated bid or highest
rated bid.
17.

The Internal Audit Department (IAD) performed pre-audit of vouchers and other
regular activities related to operations, which were specifically excluded from
the internal audit activities provided under Administrative Order (AO) No. 278
dated April 28, 1992 and neither among the functions of IAD provided under
Section 3.2 of Philippine Government Internal Audit Manual (PGIAM)
17.1

This is a reiteration of prior year’s observation under AOM No. 16-001 dared
February 24, 2016. It was pointed out that the Internal Audit Department of
PAGCOR conducted pre-audit of disbursements and other activities which
were mere duplication of the functions of the Accounting Department and
essentially part of regular operating activities.
A similar Audit Observation Memorandum was also issued by the Audit Team
Leaders of Casino Filipino – Malate and Pavilion under AOM Nos. 2017-003
and 2017-002 dated March 20, 2017 and April 21, 2017, respectively.
81

17.2

In response, the Assistant Vice President of Internal Audit Department (IAD)
stated that the pre-audit of vouchers aims to standardize the testing procedures
for all types of disbursements and to guide, particularly, the new auditors in the
examination of vouchers in which top Management is cautious in approving
disbursements without IAD’s validation.

17.3

However, the AO No. 278 dated April 28, 1992 emphasized among others, that
the Internal Audit Services (IAS) shall be detached from all functions of routine
operating character, such as the following:
a. Pre-audit of voucher and counter-signature of checks;
b. Inspection of deliveries, although the internal auditor may, as part of his
examination, observe inspection;
c. Preparation of treasury and bank reconciliation statements;
d. Development and installation of systems and procedures; however, in
exceptional cases, the internal auditor may assist by way of giving
suggestions;
e. Taking physical inventories, however, the internal auditor may review the
plans in advance and observe and test-check the accuracy of counting,
costing and summarizing;
f. Maintaining property records; and
g. All other activities related to operations.

17.4

Further, the pre-audit of disbursements and involvement in other regular
activities are not among the functions of the IAD as provided under Section 3.2
of the PGIAM, to wit:
a. Advise the Governing Body through the Audit Committee, on all matters
relating to management control and operations audits;
b. Conduct management and operations audit of GOCC functions, programs,
projects, activities with outputs, and determine the degree of compliance
with their mandate, policies, government regulations, established
objectives, systems and procedures/processes and contractual obligations;
c. Review and appraise systems and procedures, organizational structures,
asset management practices, financial and management records, reports
and performance standards of the department proper, bureaus and regional
offices;
d. Review and appraise systems and procedures, organizational structures,
asset management practices, financial and management records, reports
and performance standards of the department proper, bureaus and regional
offices;
e. Analyze and evaluate management deficiencies and assist top
management by recommending realistic courses of action; and
f. Perform such other related duties and responsibilities as may be assigned
or delegated by the Secretary or the Governing Board or as may be
required by law.

17.5

Moreover, the Internal Auditor in the Philippine Government has the
fundamental role of assisting the Audit Committee of the Governing Board in
promoting effective, efficient, ethical and economical operations by appraising
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the adequacy of internal controls, consistent with the National Guidelines on
Internal Control Systems (NGICS) and Section 16.2 of GCG Memorandum
Circular No. 2012-07 dated December 20, 2012. The findings on the appraisal
of internal controls are supposed to be provided to said officials to institute
corrective and preventive measures and achieve the agency objectives.

18.

17.6

Further, the supposed functions of the IAD were not being fully undertaken
considering that they were deeply involved in the regular operating activities of
PAGCOR, which were mostly the primary responsibility of other departments.
This practice was not in accordance with the provisions of AO No. 278 dated
April 28, 1992 and the NGICS and the Philippine Government Internal Audit
Manual (PGIAM), which were integral parts of DBM Circular Letter No. 2008-08
dated October 23, 2008.

17.7

We reiterated our previous recommendation that the Internal Audit
Division refrain from performing functions or participate in procedures
which are essentially part of regular operating activities or in operation
which are primary responsibility of another department of PAGCOR. The
PAGCOR Management and IAD should be guided with AO No. 278 dated
April 28, 1992, DBM Circular Letter No. 2008-8 dated October 23, 2008, the
NGICS, Section 16.2 of GCG Memorandum Circular No. 2012-07 dated
December 20, 2012 and the PGIAM on the supposed roles and
responsibilities of the Internal Audit Department.

17.8

Management informed that they will strictly comply with the provisions of AO
No. 278, NGICS and PGIAM requirements. Henceforth, IAD will fully
concentrate on functions provided under Section 3.2 of the PGIAM.

The total amount of P234 million was paid to VMC Corporation (VMCC)
representing 12 months advance rental and six months security deposit at P13
million per month pursuant to Article V of the subject Contract of Lease, despite
the fact that the premises to be leased was not yet existing at the time of the
execution of the contract. Considering that there was no leased premises to
speak of, the disbursement of P234 million was irregular and therefore,
disallowed in audit pursuant to COA Circular No. 2012-003 dated October 29,
2012.
18.1

Records showed that PAGCOR issued check no. 467986 dated January 12,
2016 amounting to P234 million to VMCC, representing 12 months advance
rental in the total amount of P156 million and six months security deposit
amounting to P78 million pursuant to Article V of the Contract of Lease
between PAGCOR and VMCC. However, we verified that at the time of the
execution of the contract, there was no leased premises to speak of as the
gaming area to be leased was not yet existing.

18.2

It is common practice in the rental industry that payment of advance rental is
being made for a leased premises that is ready for occupancy or at least
existing at the time of the execution of the lease contract. Hence, the payment
of the P234 million for advance rental and security deposit for an inexistent
leased premised was considered irregular expenditures, hence, disallowed in
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audit pursuant to COA Circular No. 2012-003 dated October 29, 2012,
particularly Paragraph 3.1 thereof, which mentions that a transaction conducted
in a manner that deviates or departs from, or which does not comply with
standards set is deemed irregular.
18.3

We also noted that all contracts of leased entered into by PAGCOR with all the
lessors of Satellite Operations Group 1 to 4 provided for six months advance
rental. It was only under this particular contract with VMCC which provided for a
12-month advance rental, which was grossly disadvantageous to PAGCOR.

18.4

VMCC is not the absolute owner of the subject property but a mere sublessee,
hence, does not satisfy the definition of a LESSOR provided under Section 6 of
Executive Order (EO) No. 301 dated July 23, 1987, from which the Department
of Public Works and Highways (DPWH) formulated the Uniform
Standards/Guidelines to Determine the Reasonableness of the Terms and
Rental Rates of Lease Contracts for Private or Government Buildings/Spaces.

18.5

LESSOR, as defined under EO No. 301 dated July 26, 1987 and adopted in the
above-stated Guidelines of the DPWH, is the absolute owner of the
building/space to be leased. However, verification revealed that the 6,500
square meters area subject of the lease contract was within the portion of the
Museo ng Maynila Complex, formerly the Army and Navy Club located at
Roxas Boulevard, Manila is owned by the City Government of Manila.

18.6

The said site was abandoned for years and was leased to OHSC for its revival
and restoration which in turn leased a portion of it to VMCC. Therefore, the
Lessor in the subject Contract of Lease is not the absolute owner of the leased
premises but a mere sublessee, which is not in accordance with the definition
of a LESSOR in the above-stated EO Guidelines.

18.7

The BAC resolved to qualify VMCC in the post-qualification process despite the
non-submission of certain documents/non-compliance with some conditions
indicated under the Technical Requirements of the bid.

18.8

Post-qualification is the process of verifying, validating and ascertaining all the
statements made and documents submitted by the bidder with the Lowest
Calculated Bid (LCB), which includes ascertaining the said bidder’s compliance
with the legal, financial and technical requirements of the bid.

18.9

Section 34.3 of Rule X of the Revised IRR of RA No. 9184 states that, “The
post-qualification shall verify, validate, and ascertain all statements made and
documents submitted by the bidder with the Lowest Calculated Bid/Highest
Rated Bid, using non-discretionary criteria, as stated in the Bidding
Documents. xxx.“ (Emphasis supplied)

18.10 However, we noted from the submitted documents that the BAC, by a vote of
majority of its members, rated the submittals of VMCC as “PASSED” despite
the non-submission of certain documents/non-compliance with some conditions
indicated under the Technical Requirements specified in the Bidding
Documents, as evaluated by the TWG, PPD, BASD and GSED. Likewise, the
BAC gave VMCC a passing rate in the table of rating factors for the lease of
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Casino Gaming Facility despite the fact that it failed to comply with some of the
factors indicated in the TWG report and therefore, should have been rated zero
on that particular factor.
18.11 We took note of Management’s comments however, in light of the issuance of
COA CGS-6 Decision No. 2017-004 dated February 17, 2017 denying the
Appeal/comments filed by the PAGCOR Management, the Audit Team stand
firm on the position that said disbursement was irregular and the act of
subleasing the property is outside the scope of its power as a corporation and
can be void for being ultra vires, thus, the Notice of Disallowance was issued
thereof. Nevertheless, the Corporation paid the total amount of P234 million to
settle the disallowed 12 months advance rental and six months security deposit
in which a Notice of Settlement of Suspension/Disallowance/Charge (NSSDC)
have been issued by this Office on February 23, 2017 thereby lifting the Notice
of Disallowance.
18.12 Copy of the Contract of Lease entered into by PAGCOR with VMCC and
its supporting documents were not submitted to the Office of the Auditor
within five working days from the execution of the contract, which was
not in accordance with the COA Circular No. 2009-001 dated February 12,
2009.
18.13 The subject Contract of Lease was executed on July 31, 2015 and duly
acknowledged before a notary public on August 07, 2015. However, copy of
the same and its supporting documents were submitted to the Office of the
Auditor on January 13, 2016, way beyond the reglementary period specified
under Section 3.1.1 of COA Circular No. 2009-001 dated February 12, 2009,
which provides:
Within five (5) working days from the execution of a contract by
the government or any of its subdivisions, agencies or
instrumentalities, including government-owned and controlled
corporations and their subsidiaries, a copy of said contract and
each of all the documents forming part thereof by reference or
incorporation shall be furnished to the Auditor of the agency
concerned. xxx.
18.14 Non-compliance with the above-stated regulation hindered the prompt
verification/evaluation of the subject contract, which could have prevented
irregular disbursement of P234 million on January 12, 2016.
18.15 We recommended that Management strictly comply with the provisions of
COA-Circular No. 2009-001 dated February 12, 2009 requiring submission
of copy of contract and each of all the documents forming part thereof by
reference or incorporation to the Office of the Auditor within five working
days from the execution thereof.
18.16 Management commented that the Procurement Department (PD), formerly the
Bids and Awards Services Department (BASD), could not immediately transmit
the signed Contract of Lease as required since it was then BASD’s policy that
all supporting documents pertaining to a procurement project should first be
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completed and duly validated prior to submission to COA. Considering that the
Notice of Proceed was only issued on December 7, 2015, the volume of
documents and the limited number of working days due to the Christmas
holidays, the assigned personnel were not able to expedite the sorting,
collation and reproduction of all the documents to be submitted. Also, the
authenticity of the Surety Bond through covering Provisional Receipt and
Official Receipt was confirmed through phone only on January 12, 2016 and
actual copies received through email on January 14, 2016. These were the
reasons cited why the official transmittal to COA was only prepared on January
12, 2016. Nonetheless, the present AVP of PD has already enjoined strict
compliance with, among others, the timely provision to COA of copies of
Purchase Contracts/Orders upon execution even prior to completion/validation
of supporting documents that may be submitted later. This move will preclude
any more instances of COA not being promptly apprised of transactions,
especially those involving substantial amounts.

19.

The funding by PAGCOR for various socio-civic projects of the Office of the
President (OP) in the amount of P5 billion was not properly supported by
Memorandum of Agreement (MOA) and the socio-civic projects worth P3.001
billion in excess of the approved original budget was not covered with DBM
Supplemental Budget.
19.1

In response to the thrust of the current Administration to provide immediate
assistance to various sectors and individuals in the society, the PAGCOR
Board approved the realignment of the allocations for the “Matuwid na Daan sa
Silid Aralan Project” to the “Socio-Civic Projects Fund (SPF) of the OP,
amounting to P5 billion, which was remitted on November 28, 2016. As a
result, the portion of the net earnings of PAGCOR earmarked to finance
infrastructure and socio-civic projects were transferred to the OP for its
implementation. Accordingly, the provision for the SPF was supported by
Section 7(a) of the PD No. 1869, PAGCOR Charter, that provides among
others the powers, functions and duties of the Board to allocate and distribute,
with the approval of the OP, the earnings of the Corporation earmarked to
finance infrastructure and socio-civic projects.

19.2

The funding for various socio-civic projects of the Office of the President
amounting to P5 billion was disbursed under LBP Check No. 000006980 dated
November 28, 2016. However, post-audit of Check Voucher for funding sociocivic projects of the Office of the President amounting to P5 billion revealed that
there was no Memorandum of Agreement (MOA) and/or Deed of Donation
(DOD) entered into by and between the PAGCOR and the OP that support the
release and utilization of SCPF. Basically, the written contract will legally
enforce all involved parties to execute terms and conditions provided therein
particularly the obligation of the source and implementing agencies and the
specific purpose of the release of funds in accordance with the existing rules
and regulations. Relative thereto, Section 3.1.1 of COA Circular No. 2012-001
dated June 14, 2012 on the Revised Documentary Requirements for Common
government Transactions requires, among others, the Memorandum of
Agreement to support the disbursement for transfer of funds to implementing
agency.
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19.3

Moreover, Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended December
31, 2016 showed that the Subsidy to National Government Agencies (NGAs)
account amounted to P6.005 billion, which includes the subject SCPF of P5
billion. However, comparative analysis of the Subsidy to NGAs account
against the Corporate Operating Budget approved by the Department of
Budget and Management (DBM) for CY 2016 revealed that the approved
budget for direct assistance to socio-civic and other projects was only P3.004
billion, thus, there was a difference of P3.001 billion for CY 2016. Incidentally,
this Office was not provided with DBM approved Supplemental Budget that
supports the appropriation for the excess/difference of P3.001 billion worth of
socio-civic project.

19.4

In view thereof, we recommended that Management:
a. Submit Memorandum of Agreement entered into by and between the
PAGCOR and the OP to support the disbursement of the SCPF and its
compliance with the existing law; and
b. Provide also the approved Supplemental Budget for CY 2016 showing
the allocated budget for the excess socio-civic project fund of P3.001
billion.

19.5

Management committed to submit the MOA and that they will coordinate with
the DBM regarding the required Supplemental Budget.

B.

Casino Filipino Branches

20.

The five per cent Franchise Tax was not withheld by three Casino Filipino (CF)
branches from the proponents on their income from operations of the casino
amounting to P6.088 million representing their share of P121.756 million on the
total gross rake collections of P313.090 million for the period, January 1 to
December 31, 2016, despite the Supreme Court’s decision on August 10, 2016 in
the case of Bloomberry Resorts and Hotels, Inc. vs. BIR that contractees and
licensees of PAGCOR are likewise subject only to 5 per cent Franchise Tax.
20.1

The non-withholding stemmed from the issuance of the Memorandum dated
April 22, 2014 by then former Vice President of the Gaming and Licensing and
Development Department (GLDD) addressed to all poker operators regarding
the implementation of BIR Revenue Memorandum Circular No. 33-2013 which
states that the Franchise Tax shall no longer be deducted from the rake and
applicable fees (for tournaments and bad beat jackpot) prior to the computation
of PAGCOR share effective April 1, 2014 and reiterated the obligation of all
poker club operators to pay their income tax on their earnings.

20.2

The implementation of the BIR Revenue Memorandum Circular No. 33-2013
was challenged before the Supreme Court (SC) in the case of PAGCOR vs.
BIR (GR No. 215427 dated December 10, 2014), wherein the Court ruled that
the PAGCOR’s income from gaming operations is subject only to 5 per cent
Franchise Tax under P.D. No. 1869 and, as amended, while its income from
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other related services is subject to corporate income tax pursuant to P.D. No.
1869, as amended, as well as R.A. No. 9337. However, in this case, it was not
ruled whether PAGCOR’s tax privilege inures to the benefit of third parties or
the contractees and licensees which has contractual relationship with
PAGCOR in connection with the operation of casinos.
20.3

It was only in the recent case of Bloomberry Resorts and Hotels, Inc vs. BIR
(GR No. 212530 dated August 10, 2016) that SC finally ruled on the tax
privilege with respect to the contractees and licensees which reads in part as
follows:
As the PAGCOR Charter states in equivocal terms that exemptions
granted for earnings derived from the operations conducted under
the franchise specifically from the payment of any tax, income or
otherwise, as well as any form of charges, fees, or levies, shall
inure to the benefit of and extend to corporation(s),
association(s), agency(ies), or individual(s) with whom the
PACGOR or operator has any contractual relationship in
connection with the operations of the casino(s) authorized to
be conducted under this Franchise, so it must be that all
contractees and licensees of PAGCOR, upon payment of the 5
per cent franchise tax, shall likewise be exempted from all
other taxes, including corporate income tax realized from the
operations of casinos.
For the same reasons that made us conclude in the 10 December
2014 Decision of the Court sitting En Banc in G.R. No. 215427 that
PAGCOR is subject to corporate income tax for “other related
services”, we find it logical that its contractees and licensees
shall likewise pay corporate income tax for income derived
from such “related services”. (emphasis supplied)

20.4

The SC decision on August 10, 2016 shed light on the liability of the
proponents being contractees/licensees that it has to pay the 5 per cent
Franchise Tax on their share on the total gross rake collections from the poker
operations with PAGCOR.

20.5

However, we noted that despite such ruling, three branches failed to
withhold/collect the supposed 5 per cent franchise tax due from the proponents
in the total amount of P6.088 million for the period, January 1 to December 31,
2016.
Details of the uncollected franchise tax for CY 2016 are shown below:
CF-Malate
Month
January
February
March

Gross Total Rake
Collections (100%)
1,014,950.00
749,625.00
928,075.00

Operator’s Share
(75%)
761,212.50
562,218.75
696,056.25

Franchise Tax (5%)
38,060.63
28,110.94
34,802.81
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Month
April
May
June
July
August
September
October
November
December
TOTAL

Gross Total Rake
Collections (100%)
840,550.00
532,650.00
596,125.00
1,207,475.00
1,020,775.00
1,825,775.00
1,117,575.00
972,600.00
823,500.00
11,629,675.00

Operator’s Share
(75%)
630,412.50
399,487.50
447,093.75
905,606.25
765,581.25
1,369,331.25
838,181.25
729,450.00
617,625.00
8,722,256.25

Gross Total Rake
Collections (100%)
3,508,320.00
936,490.00
978,360.00
890,200.00
3,012,770.00
813,240.00
1,026,660.00
2,936,440.00
889,660.00
2,125,420.00
978,290.00
711,400.00
18,807,250.00

Operator’s Share
(75%)
2,631,240.00
702,367.50
733,770.00
667,650.00
2,259,577.50
609,930.00
769,995.00
2,202,330.00
667,245.00
1,594,065.00
733,717.50
533,550.00
14,105,437.50

Franchise Tax (5%)
31,520.63
19,974.38
22,354.69
45,280.31
38,279.06
68,466.56
41,909.06
36,472.50
30,881.25
436,112.81

CF-Pavilion
Month
January
February
March
April
May
June
July
August
September
October
November
December
TOTAL

Franchise Tax (5%)
131,562.00
35,118.38
36,688.50
33,382.50
112,978.88
30,496.50
38,499.75
110,116.50
33,362.25
79,703.25
36,685.88
26,677.50
705,271.89

CF – Olongapo
Month
January
February
March
April
May
June
July
December
TOTAL

Gross Total Rake
Collections
36,853,746.10
40,665,647.20
42,607,728.90
37,997,366.75
43,589,876.44
44,117,711.06
33,522,237.08
3,299,093.08
282,653,406.61

Operator’s Share
(35%)

Franchise Tax (5%)

12,898,811.14
14,232,976.52
14,912,705.12
13,299,078.36
15,256,456.75
15,441,198.87
11,732,782.98
1,154,682.58
98,928,692.31

644,940.56
711,648.83
745,635.26
664,953.92
762,822.84
772,059.94
586,639.15
57,734.13
4,946,434.62

Operator’s Share

Franchise Tax
(5%)
436,112.81
705,271.89

Summary:
CF Branch
Malate
Pavilion

Gross Total Rake
Collections
11,629,675.00
18,807,250.00

8,722,256.25
14,105,437.50
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CF Branch
Olongapo
Total

Gross Total Rake
Collections
282,653,406.61
313,090,331.61

Operator’s Share
98,928,692.31
121,756,386.06

Franchise Tax
(5%)
4,946,434.62
6,087,819.32

20.6

Since the said franchise tax due from the proponents of P6.088 million
remained uncollected as of the year-end, we were constrained but to issue a
Notice of Charge (NC) charging in audit the non-collection of the franchise tax.

20.7

It is stressed that had the branch collected/withheld the franchise tax due from
the proponents at least from the time the SC rendered its decision, it could
have prevented the issuance of the NC. Henceforth, it would prevent further
issuance of NCs in the coming periods while they are still under contract with
CF for the poker operations.

20.8

The non-collection of the five per cent Franchise Tax was a blatant disregard of
Section 13(2) of PD No. 1869, otherwise known as the PAGCOR Charter, and
deprived the National Government to earn the total amount of P6.088 million to
date, which could have been used for its various projects.

20.9

We recommended and Management agreed to:
a. Lift the Memorandum dated April 22, 2014 to give go signal to the
Accounting Section to withhold the five per cent Franchise Tax due
from the proponents. This is to prevent the further accumulation of
uncollected Franchise Tax and to avoid the issuance of Notice of
Charge in the coming periods; and
b. Enforce the previously issued NCs for the liable persons to settle the
audit charges immediately.

21.

Failure to complete the procurement of food supplies resulted to non-operation
of the branch cafeteria for the past three years to the detriment and
disadvantage of casino employees.
21.1

CF-Bacolod was supposed to operate its cafeteria and the necessary food
supplies are to be procured thru public bidding or other alternative modes like
shopping/small value procurement. However, for the last three years CFBacolod was not able to complete the procurement of these food supplies. The
branch had difficulty in completing its procurement particularly the small wet
market items which were catered by small retailers which could not comply with
the requirements as embodied in the government procurement act. For CY
2014 and 2015, the branch Bids and Awards Committee initiated the
procurement of food supplies 95 times which all end-up either failure, cancelled
or on-going. For 2016 all of these procurements were put on hold.

21.2

For CY 2016, CF-Bacolod Branch had a total budget of P10.258 million for
meal expenses and actual expenses amounted to P2.630 million. In line with
its
employee’s
compensation
package,
PAGCOR
gives
meal
allowance/benefits to its employees either in the form of cash or meal and
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snack tickets. The branch employees received only meal allowance of P60 per
day instead of meal and snack tickets costing P80.00/meal and P40.00/snack.

22.

21.3

With the non-operation of its cafeteria the employees are at a disadvantage
particularly the night shift personnel who sometimes have difficulty in their
meals/snacks in the absence of private caterers which serve foods unlike
during day shifts and if there are, it leaves them limited options as to the choice
of foods.

21.4

We recommended that Management of CF-Bacolod make representation
with PAGCOR Corporate Office for the authority to bid and award its
branch cafeteria operation to a private concessionaire to cater
employee’s meals/snacks.

21.5

Management stated that the failure of the branch to complete the procurement
process for the employee’s cafeteria was mainly due to the limited number of
qualified suppliers of raw materials. Also, prospective suppliers could not
submit the necessary supporting documents and quotations resulting to several
failed biddings. Consequently, the branch found it more advantageous to just
procure concessionaire agreement instead of operating its own cafeteria. In
addition, the branch has already a pending board request for cafeteria
concessionaire which the management believes to be the best option to
provide the branch employees with nutritious meals.

Utilization of the Host City Shares granted by PAGCOR to Local Government
Units (LGUs) for the calendar year 2016 amounting to P263.300 million were not
properly monitored and some have not submitted the required Utilization Report
while others did not utilized their shares thereby exposing the funds to possible
risk of loss or improper use of government funds.
22.1

The LGUs where PAGCOR operates are given monthly share in the income of
the casinos located in a city/province termed as Host City Share the amount of
which was determined and approved by the Board of Directors (BOD).

22.2

The Host City Shares released to the following LGUs during the year are as
follows:
LGUs
Bacolod City
Iloilo City
Negros Occidental
City Treasurer of Cebu
Provincial Treasurer of Cebu
Mandaue City
Lapu-Lapu City
Laoag City
TOTAL

22.3

Host City Shares
15,000,000.00
6,000,000.00
6,000,000.00
144,000,000.00
18,000,000.00
15,500,000.00
54,000,000.00
4,800,000.00
263,300,000.00

The Guidelines on the Handling and Disposition of Host City Shares required
among others the submission to PAGCOR by the Office of the Governor/City

91

Mayor of COA certified Utilization Report on a quarterly basis and other reports
which PAGCOR may require from time to time.
22.4

However, confirmations and verbal inquiry from the respective LGU COA
Auditors of some LGU’s Receipt and Utilization Reports disclosed the following:
a. As of December 31, 2016, the City of Bacolod was not able to submit
quarterly Utilization Report to PAGCOR since the previous years’ up to the
present, thus, monitoring could not be made to determine if said funds were
used for the purpose of which it was given;
b. The Report on the Utilization of Host City Share for the City of Iloilo as of
June 30, 2016 reflected a balance of P17.530 million with no utilization for
the last three years, thus defeating its primary purpose to fund different
qualified social projects as provided in the guidelines that will redound to
the benefits of its constituents particularly the poor sector of the city;
c. The Province of Negros Occidental was diligent in complying with the
submission of the quarterly Utilization Report and expenditures were in line
with the guidelines set by PAGCOR;
d. A Notice of Suspension on the disbursements from prior year’s Host City
Share was issued to the City of Cebu in the amount of P2.5 million for
charging items not within the guidelines set by PAGCOR;
e. Only P152,628.52 was utilized by Cebu Province out of the P18 million
granted during the year;
f. The cities of Mandaue, Lapu-lapu and Cebu did not utilized any amount out
of the Host City Shares given during the year in the amount of P15.5 million,
P54 million, and P144 million, respectively;
g. Disbursements made by Laoag City were for the scholarship program of the
City and the amount utilized for this program was taken from prior year’s
Host City Share and therefore, the amount of P4.8 million given for the year
was not yet ulitilized; and
h. The status of the Host City Shares was not monitored by the CF Branch
Management.

22.5

We recommended that the Branch Management:
a. Require the concerned LGUs to submit to the Branch a quarterly
Report on the Utilization of Host City Share for proper monitoring;
b. Advice the LGUs to utilize the funds for relevant programs and
projects as stated in the guidelines set by PAGCOR;
c. Monitor the utilization of the Host City Shares; and
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d. Consider requiring the LGUs to prepare and submit an Annual Plan
and Budget for the purpose of determining by the Board of Directors
the correct amount of Host City Shares.
22.6 The Branch Management stated that the PAGCOR Corporate will be requesting
concerned LGUs to furnish them their responses on the Notices issued by COA
and their comments/response concerning the non-utilization and improper
utilization of the grant of Host City Share. It added that the LGUs’
responses/comments and the COA provided information/data and
recommendation for the lesser share of subsidy to LGUs shall be referred to
the PAGCOR Board of Directors for review.
23.

Total Liabilities of P5.789 million as of December 31, 2016, remained outstanding
for more than one to five years and still booked as Current Liabilities in the
Statement of Financial Position which is not in accordance with Philippine
Accounting Standards (PAS) 1 and majority of these accounts are not supported
by sufficient documents to ascertain its validity, in violation of Section 40, Book
VI of the 1987 Administrative Code.
23.1

Section 40, Book VI of the 1987 Administrative Code provides that no
obligation shall be certified to accounts payable unless the obligation is
founded on a valid claim that is properly supported by sufficient evidence and
unless there is proper authority for its incurrence. Any certification for a nonexistent or fictitious obligation and/or creditor shall be considered void.

23.2

PAS 1: Presentation of Financial Statements defined current liabilities as: (a)
it expects to settle the liability in its normal operating cycle; (b) it holds the
liability primarily for the purpose of trading; (c) the liability is due to be settled
within twelve months after the reporting period; or (d) it does not have an
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least twelve months
after the reporting period. All other liabilities are non-current.

23.3

A review of the payables account schedules showed various undocumented
and unclaimed accounts which were carried over in the books for the past
years. Some of these payables existed for more than five years.

23.4

We recommended that Management require the Accountant to:
a. Present the payables and all other accounts in accordance with PAS
1;
b. Review the payable accounts and fast track payments on all past
due accounts; and
c. Complete documentary requirements prior to the taking up of all
payables in the books.
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CF – Malate
24.

Inventory accounts of P10.780 million as of December 31, 2016 were unreliable
due to unreconciled balances in the total amount of P5.560 million between
inventory account balance and the balance per books.
24.1

Section 490 of the Government Accounting and Auditing Manual (GAAM)
Volume I on inventories of supplies, materials and equipment and as further
elucidated in the Handbook on Property and Supply Management System
(PSMS) on inventory taking, provides:
“Inventory taking is an indispensable procedure for checking
of integrity of property custodianship. The physical stocktaking of equipment and supplies serves as a basis for
preparing accounting reports. At the end of each quarter, the
Accounting and Supply/Property Unit should reconcile their
records.
The chief of agencies, are required to take physical inventory
of all the equipment and supplies of their respective offices at
least once a year. Supplies and materials in stock, including
medicines, drugs and medical supplies exclusively for either
commissary, sale, manufacture or relief purposes should be
inventoried at least every six (6) months as of June 30 and
December 31 of each year.
After the Physical inventory-taking, the Inventory Committee
shall reconcile the results of the count with the property and
accounting records. The inventory listing of the supplies and
materials shall be checked against the stock cards maintained
by the property or supply officer and to the supplies/ledger
cards and control accounts maintained in the accounting.”

24.2

Conduct of annual physical count of all inventory supplies of the Branch
under custody of each Stock keeping Department (SKD) started on
December 27, 2016 onwards with the objective of determining the existence,
completeness, accuracy, and correctness of recorded balances of inventory
accounts as of December 31, 2016. We received the copies of Annual
Physical Count Reconciliation Reports on March 15, 2017, and our
verification and comparison of inventory accounts balances per book against
balances per physical count disclosed discrepancies aggregating to P5.560
million, as shown below:

Inventory
Account

Office Supplies
Food Supplies

Balances as of December 31,
2016
Per Physical
Per Book (GL)
Count

Over/(Short)

P1,563,898.16

P 281,461.36

P(1,282,436.80)

5,370,031.08

2,868,292.50

(2,501,738.58)

Remarks
SKD unable to
provide
issuance slip
SKD unable to
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Inventory
Account

Over/(Short)

Drugs and
Medicines

43,976.49

29,574.94

(14,401.55)

Medical, Dental
and Laboratory
Supplies

24,628.19

28,534.83

3,906.64

Other Supplies:
Bingo

18,688.38

Other Supplies:
Others

3,759,111.35

2,012,844.45

(1,746,266.90)

P10,780,333.65

P5,220,708.08

P(5,559,625.57)

TOTAL

25.

Balances as of December 31,
2016
Per Physical
Per Book (GL)
Count

-

(18,688.38)

Remarks
provide
issuance slip
SKD unable to
provide
issuance slip
SKD unable to
provide receipt
slip/document
SKD unable to
provide
issuance slip
SKD unable to
provide
issuance slip

24.3

It is noted, however, that physical count was not conducted for Other Supplies Bingo. Nonetheless, we inquired with the Accounting Section, and we were
informed that the resulting shortages were due to undocumented
issuances/consumption of supplies. Accordingly, the responsible SKDs were
unable to provide Issuance Slips for some of the issuances of supplies under
their custody. We were further informed that the Accounting Section is currently
coordinating with SKDs to reconcile their records.

24.4

We recommended and the Branch Management agreed to require the
Accounting Section and SKDs to make extra effort to reconcile the
resulting variances between inventory account balances per book and
per count. Henceforth, require the SKDs to religiously and regularly
prepare the Issuance Slips as these reports shall be the basis of the
Accounting Section in recording the issuances/consumption of supplies
in the books of accounts.

Casino Filipino-Laoag did not subject its Junket Rental Income to mandated tax
and contributions which resulted in the accumulation of huge balance of
unremitted obligations to the Bureau of Internal Revenue, National Treasury and
Philippine Sports Commission in the amount of P8.516 million, P80.903 million
and P4.045 million, respectively, or a total of P93.465 million for the CYs 2014 to
2016.
25.1

The branch did not implement the audit recommendation as embodied in the
Management Letter in CY 2014 to subject the monthly guaranteed share from
the conduct of casino operations at the Fort Ilocandia Resort in Laoag City,
recognized as Rent Income, to 5 per cent franchise tax, 50 per cent
government share and 5 per cent PSC Share pending instruction from the
PAGCOR Corporate Office. We would like to express that we stand firm in our
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position that said income be subjected to mandated tax and contributions
based on the following premise:
25.1.1

The Management’s justification that the monthly guaranteed share
from the conduct of casino operations at the Fort Ilocandia Resort
(FIR), recognized as Rent Income, is fixed in amount and does not
qualify as Winnings, hence, not subject to mandated tax and
contributions, can be argued. Although the monthly generated income
was constant, it cannot be denied that the same was earned as a
consequence of its corporate power to operate and license gambling
casinos as mandated under Section 10 of Presidential Decree No.
1869 otherwise known as PAGCOR Charter. Similar amount and
nature of income would not be possible for other entities not having
the same authority as PAGCOR’s.

25.1.2

The monthly guaranteed share can be classified as “Sure Winning”
that must be reported as Income from Gaming Operations since it is
an assured amount which PAGCOR regularly receives on a monthly
basis. It is not affected with prizes paid to winning gamers as these
will be borne by the operator. In the normal conduct of gaming
operations, “Winning” is reported when there is net amount generated
after deducting from the total income the prizes won by gamers.
PAGCOR is in a safe position to claim the monthly guaranteed share
as sure winning since prior gaming history on same venue reported
losses borne by former operator and PAGCOR could have taken
uncertain chances of winning had it decided to operate casino at its
own risk.

25.1.3

Further, Section 12 of the PAGCOR Charter provides that after
deducting five per cent as Franchise Tax, the 50 per cent share of the
government in the aggregate gross earnings of the Corporation from
this Franchise, shall immediately be set aside. Emphasis was
supplied on gross earnings which encompass everything generated
from use of franchise. The quoted provision did not exclude income of
fixed amount in the computation of the required franchise tax and
government share.

25.1.4

The Office of the General Counsel, Legal Services Sector of COA,
clarified in its Memorandum dated June 29, 2015 that jurisprudence
dictates that when we speak of the “gross earnings”, we mean the
entire earnings or receipts of such person or corporation from the
business or operation to which we refer. And since the law does not
distinguish as to what constitutes the aggregate gross earnings,
PAGCOR lacks the authority to make any distinctions and must
construe the words in its general sense consistent with the principle
Ubilex necnos distinguire debemos, or “where the law does not
distinguish, neither do we distinguish.”

25.1.5

Therefore, the aggregate gross earnings of PAGCOR should not only
mean income from gaming revenues but should include income from
other related services as well.
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25.1.6

Accordingly, the monthly guaranteed share from casino operations at
the Fort Ilocandia Resort shall be properly subjected to 5 per cent
Franchise Tax, 50 per cent Government and 5 per cent PSC shares,
in compliance with the mandate of the PAGCOR Charter.

25.2

The deferment of Management in the implementation of our prior year’s audit
recommendation resulted in the accumulation of huge balance of unremitted
mandated obligations to the Bureau of Internal Revenue, National Treasury,
and the Philippine Sports Commission.

25.3

From CY 2014 to 2016, the total unremitted obligations to the aforementioned
government agencies amounted to P 93.465 million detailed as follows:
Particulars
Rent Income
5 % Franchise
Tax
50 %
Government
Share
5 % PSC’s Share
Total
Unremitted
Obligations

CY 2014
P 56,872,995.99

CY 2015
P 58,344,300.00

CY 2016
P 55,105,564.00

Total
P 170,322,859.99

2,843,649.80

2,917,215.00

2,755,278.20

8,516,143.00

27,014,673.10

27,713,542.50

26,175,142.90

80,903,358.50

1,350,733.65

1,385,677.12

1,308,757.15

4,045,167.92

P 31,209,056.55

P 32,016,434.62

P 30,239,178.25

P 93,464,669.42

25.4

We reiterated our previous audit recommendation that Management
subject the income earned from the conduct of casino operations at the
Fort Ilocandia Resort to 5 per cent Franchise Tax, 50 per cent
Government and 5 per cent PSC Shares and remit the computed amount
of obligations to the Bureau of Internal Revenue, National Treasury and
the Philippine Sports Commission, in compliance with the mandate of the
PAGCOR Charter.

25.5

Management commented that this observation involves a major accounting
policy and, thus, needs to be resolved at the level of the Corporate Office. Thus
far, the opinion of the Accounting Department that, since the Rent Income
derived from the Fort Ilocandia Promotions Limited (FIPL) at CF-Laoag is fixed
in nature and not predicated on any level of gaming activity, the account should
remain as Income from Other Related Services not subject to mandated
contributions still stands. Nevertheless, they will refer the matter for possible
final resolution by the Accounting Department.

25.6

The Audit Team maintains its view that being fixed in nature does not change
the fact that without the franchise of license granted by PAGCOR to operate
the casino in a resort in Laoag, there could be no guaranteed share to be
received there from relative to the conduct of gaming operations. Hence, the
same should be subjected to mandated taxes and contributions to be remitted
to the concerned government agencies
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VALUE FOR MONEY AUDIT
26. PAGCOR incurred an opportunity loss of approximately P33.362 million from
generating income due to delayed release of the 60 W units from the R Co. and
the 80 A from K Co. to the operational sites by 106 to 118 calendar days (cds)
and four to 35 cds, respectively.
26.1

An audit was conducted on the procurement of 620 units of Slot Machines
(SMs) and 41 signages in CY 2015 with a total contract amount of $17.817
million under five Purchase Orders, which were awarded under direct
contracting to five different suppliers described as follows:
Supplier

PO No./Date

A. Philippines
G Co.

566/5-19-2015
564/5-14-2015

K Co.
P Co.
R (Philippine Branch)
R (Philippine Branch)
Total

568/5-19-2015
565/5-15-2015
570/5-28-15
570/5-28-15

26.2

Quantity and Description of Slot
Machines (SM) with no. of
signages
SM
Signages
170 AG
16
120 AT
11
30 AS
80 A
0
80 AL
8
80 Duo
6
60 W
0
620 Slot Machines
41

$5,509,317
4,447,500
1,840,000
2,424,000
2,142,000
1,454,600
$17,817,417

Analysis of the total income generated from the 620 Slot Machines as of
December 31, 2016 showed that the 80 A and 60 W types of Slot Machines
have the lowest net profit rate of 7.00 per cent and 20.76 per cent,
respectively, taking into consideration the cost of machines only, to wit:
Quantity and
Description of Slot
Actual
Machines with
Income
signages
170 AG with 16
signages
P804,396,019
120 AT and
30 AS with 11
signages
417,349,425
80 A
89,029,570
80 AL with 8
signages
261,169,702
80 Duo with 6
signages
284,895,929
60 W
82,603,272
620
P1,939,443,917

26.3

Total Actual
Cost

Actual Cost
($1=P45)

Net Profit as of
December 31,
2016

Net
Profit
Rate

P247,919,265

P556,476,754

69.18%

200,137,500
82,800,000

217,211,925
6,229,570

52.05%
7.00%

109,080,000

152,089,702

58.23%

96,390,000
188,505,929
65,457,000
17,146,272
P801,783,765 P1,137,660,152

66.17%
20.76%

Section 14.4 of Annex “A” of each Purchase Order states that PAGCOR shall
have a maximum period of 15 working days upon receipt of the items within
which to determine the satisfaction on the condition of the Slot Machines with
signages and to acknowledge receipt thereof. In this regard, Management
should immediately release or distribute the machines to the operational sites
after 15 working days. However, examination of the Issue Slips from PAGCOR
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Imus warehouse revealed that 80 A machines from K Co. took four days to
more than one month to become operational while the 60 units of slot
machines from R Co. took three to four months before the machines were
distributed for gaming operations.
Quantity and
Description of Slot
Machines with
signages
170
120
30
80
80
80
60

26.4

AG with 16
signages
AT and
AS with 11
signages
A
AL with 8
signages
Duo with 6
signages
W

Delivery
Date
Based on
Delivery
Receipt
August 13,
2015
June 25,
2015
November 3,
2015
August 20,
2015
July 21, 2015
August 28,
2015

Ranging Period of
Distribution of the SMs
from Imus Warehouse
to Operational Sites
August 20, 2015 to
September 1, 2015
July 9, 2015 to August 17,
2015
Dec. 7, 2015 to Jan. 7,
2016
September 10, 2015 to
September 16, 2015
August 6 , 2015 to
August 17, 2015
January 11, 2016 to
February 8, 2016

Period of
Delayed
Operation
None/Complied
None/Complied

4 to 35 calendar
days
None/Complied
None/Complied
106 to 118
calendar days

As a consequence, PAGCOR incurred an opportunity loss of approximately
P33.362 million using the average actual daily income for the 60 W and 80 A
Slot Machines, from generating income due to late release of Slot Machines to
the gaming operational sites, which was computed as shown below:
Opportunity Loss based on
Ave. Actual
Projected
Income**
Income***

Number
of Slot
Delivery Date
Machines
For the 60 W SA (R Co.)

Date when
SMs become
operational

No. of days
delayed*

24
Aug. 28, 2015
8
Aug. 28, 2015
6
Aug. 28, 2015
6
Aug. 28, 2015
4
Aug. 28, 2015
4
Aug. 28, 2015
4
Aug. 28, 2015
4
Aug. 28, 2015
60
For the 80 A (K Co.)

Jan. 23, 2016
Jan. 11, 2016
Jan. 21, 2016
Jan. 18, 2016
Feb. 8, 2016
Jan. 22, 2016
Jan. 14, 2016
Jan. 13, 2016

118
106
116
113
134
117
109
108

P4,172 per day
P11,815,104
3,537,856
2,903,712
2,828,616
2,236,192
1,952,496
1,818,992
1,802,304
P28,895,272

P7,151 per day
P20,251,632
6,064,048
4,977,096
4,848,378
3,832,936
3,346,668
3,117,836
3,089,232
P49,527,826

Jan. 7, 2016
Jan. 5, 2016
Dec. 29, 2015
Dec. 9, 2015
Dec. 11, 2015
Dec. 17, 2015
Dec. 7, 2015

35
33
26
6
8
14
4

P3,091 per day
P2,055,515
1,020,030
482,196
408,012
247,280
129,822
123,640
P4,466,495
P33,361,767

P3,909 per day
P2,599,485
1,289,970
609,804
515,988
312,720
164,178
156,360
P5,648,505
P55,176,331

19
10
6
22
10
3
10
80
140

Nov. 3, 2015
Nov. 3, 2015
Nov. 3, 2015
Nov. 3, 2015
Nov. 3, 2015
Nov. 3, 2015
Nov. 3, 2015
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*No. of days delayed was computed from delivery date to date of release to the Branches less allowable 30 calendar days
(taking into consideration the holidays)
**The average actual income of P4,172 per day for 60 W is computed by dividing the average monthly income of
P7,509,388 over 30 days units while the P3,091 per day for 80 A machines by the average monthly income of P7,419,131
over 30 days.
***Based on projected daily income per Cost-Benefit analysis conducted by the SMD in which the 60 W was projected based
on 75% of P9,534 or P7,151 per day for the top performing game and the 80 A was based on five PAGCOR sites’ daily
income of P3,909.

26.5

In addition, obsolescence and deterioration could not be avoided when the slot
machines remain idle or unused at the Imus warehouse.

26.6

It is also noteworthy to mention that prior to procuring the 620 slot machines
with 41 signages in CY 2015, the Slot Machines Department (SMD) conducted
a Cost-Benefit analysis in which the projected income and period of recovering
the cost of Slot Machines were provided as follows:

Supplier’s SM

75% of P9,534 or P7,151 per
day for the top performing game

G Co.

75% of P9,534 or P7,151 per
day for the top performing game

K Co.

P3,909 per day based on five
PAGCOR sites
120% of Branch Floor Average
Income
P10,541 based on 72 DFDC
machines
75% of P9,534 or P7,151 per
day for the top performing game

R (Phil. Branch)
R (Phil. Branch)

Other cost charges for the total 620 Slot Machines
and
Total
Overall recovery Period (Total projected cost over
Total Monthly Projected Income)

26.7

P36,467,550

P242,409,948

32,177,250

195,756,000

9,381,600

80,960,000

9,190,440

108,416,000

25,298,400

92,620,000

12,870,900

66,158,400

P125,386,140

60,737,600
P847,057,948
6.76 months

The Audit Team recognized Management efforts for the overall recovery of the
cost of 620 Slot Machines within 6.53 months, which met the projected
recovery period of 6.76 months. However, comparative analysis of the actual
income generated per type of Slot Machines and its recovery period with the
above projected data revealed that four types of machines exceeded the
expectation of recovery period of the cost of machines, to wit:

Quantity and
Description of Slot
Machines with
signages
170 AG with
signages
120 AT and

Total
Projected
Cost in Peso
($1=P44)

Method of Projecting Income

A Philippines

P Co.

Monthly
Projected
Income

16

No. of
Months
Actual Income
Operational
as of Dec. 31,
A
2016* B
P804,396,019
16
417,349,425

17

Ave.
Monthly
Income
C=A/B

Actual Cost
($1=P45)
D

P50,274,751

P247,919,265

24,549,966

200,137,500

Actual
Projected
Months of
Months of Remarks
Recovery*
Recovery**
E=D/C
4.93
8.15

7.13
6.57

Met
Exceeded
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No. of
Months
Actual Income
Operational
as of Dec. 31,
A
2016* B

Quantity and
Description of Slot
Machines with
signages
30 AS with
signages
80 A
80
80
60
620

AL with
signages
Duo with
signages
W

Ave.
Monthly
Income
C=A/B

Actual Cost
($1=P45)
D

Actual
Projected
Months of
Months of Remarks
Recovery*
Recovery**
E=D/C

11
89,029,570

12

7,419,131

82,800,000

11.16

9.11

Exceeded

8

261,169,702

16

16,323,106

109,080,000

6.68

12.28

Met

6

284,895,929

17

16,758,584

96,390,000

5.75

4.15

Exceeded

82,603,272

11

7,509,388

65,457,000

8.72

5.62

Exceeded

P1,939,443,917
P122,834,926 P801,783,765
6.53
6.76
*Months of operation counted from the last month of released of Slot Machines to the operational sites.
**Projected recovery period was computed by dividing the projected cost over the projected monthly income as can be seen
under the Table showing the Cost-Benefit analysis prepared by the Slot Machine Department.

26.8

We took note that the average projected monthly income is based on the past
experience of actual income of each type of machine. However, the average
actual monthly income of those machines that exceeded the projected months
of recovery period are relatively lower by 21 per cent to 42 per cent of the
average projected monthly income, to wit:

Quantity and Description of Slot
Machines with signages
170 AG with 16 signages
120 AL and
30 AS with 11 signages
80 A
80
80
60
620

26.9

AL with 8 signages
Duo with 6 signages
W

Ave. Monthly
Actual Income
P50,274,751
24,549,966

Ave. Monthly
Projected Income
P36,467,550
32,177,250

Increase
(Decrease)
P13,807,201
(7,627,284)

Percentage
38%
(24%)

7,419,131

9,381,600

(1,962,469)

(21%)

16,323,106
16,758,584
7,509,388
P122,834,926

9,190,440
25,298,400
12,870,900
P125,386,140

7,132,666
(8,539,816)
(5,361,512)
P(2,551,214)

78%
(34%)
(42%)

Assessment on the performance of the Slot Machines disclosed that the cost of
the 34 Slot Machines distributed each to Citystate and Binondo Branches were
not yet fully covered by its generated income as of December 31, 2016, thus,
having net loss of P4.814 million and P4.473 million, respectively, from the
start of its operation to December 31, 2016. The derived net loss did not yet
considered the other related expenses such as cost of non-TITO and TITO
tickets (used in operating the machine), electricity and other indirect expenses.
Notwithstanding the case, further evaluation on the cause(s) of decrease in
income from the four types of machines (AT from G Co., A from K Co., Duo
and W from R Co.) is wanting. Such causes may be due to the declining sales
trend of the procured type of Slot Machines in the industry, possible errors in
using the basis of computing the projected income or in determining the priority
in high earning type of machine to be procured, which require improvement in
preparation of Cost-Benefit analysis before procuring a particular Slot Machine
in the future.
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26.10 We recommended that Management:
a. Require the Slot Machines Department to evaluate the cause(s) of
decrease in income from the four types of machines (AT from G Co.,
A from K, Duo from R Co. (Phil. Branch) and W from R (Phil. Branch)
and consider in the improvement of the Slot Machine gaming
operations or in the procurement of the type of machine in the future
and submit thereof the results of evaluation. Otherwise, improve the
preparation of Cost-Benefit analysis before procuring a particular Slot
Machine by using the actual past experiences in projecting income
and determining the priority in procuring high viable Slot Machines;
b. Evaluate regularly the status of the recovery of cost of machines
distributed to the Branches. If determined to have a slow recovery
period, consider possible transfer to high-earning Branches or
procure machines that will provide high sales to the particular
Branches in the future; and
c. Release immediately the Slot machines to the operational sites after
the maximum period of satisfactorily checking the conditions of
machines, to avoid opportunity loss from the slot machine gaming
operation.
26.11 Management stated that Income performance of subject purchased slot
machines appeared to have declined with respect to the income stated in the
justification/recommendation to purchase. Based on the past performance of
specific machines in other casinos, said approach did not take into
consideration the wide gap between the income generating capacity of the
latter (due to sheer volume of plays) and that of PAGCOR’s. The average
income per machine per day in those casinos easily breached the P10,000
mark while their machines only averaged about P5,000 per machine/day.
26.12 To improve our Cost Benefit Analysis for the future procurement of machines,
they shall ensure that the relative income-generating capacity of other casinos
vis-a-vis their operation is taken into consideration.
26.13 However, the performance of a particular batch of machines can sometimes be
negatively affected by the strength of competition presented by other machines
purchased and installed at the same time.
26.14 On the other hand, the current Management of PAGCOR is exercising extreme
caution in evaluating slot machines for procurement. As a matter of fact, for
almost a year, they have approved only one batch/brand of machine for
procurement. The choice has been validated by a lot of succeeding orders for
said machines by other casinos. Additionally, in order to cushion the risk of
buying new machines which may not perform well and at the same time have
the opportunity to offer new games, PAGCOR resorted to leasing arrangement
of slot machines. This enables them to balance the need to update their
machine complement and create income-generating potential versus the risk of
acquiring lemon (non-performing) slot machines.
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26.15 The Slot Machine Department (SMD) is actually evaluating performance of not
only newly procured slot machines but for all slot machines. As a matter of fact
they have been regularly rotating machines among their venues.
26.16 It has always been the policy of the SMD to put slot machines into operation
after having checked the condition of the same upon delivery. However, the
delays in the deployment of the subject machines was due to a system stability
issues which were sorted out by the system provider and the technical team of
the manufacturer. SMD stated that this also happens in other system-machine
in other casinos.
26.17 As audit rejoinder, the system stability issues of the A machines, the SMD
found that there were issues on slow ticket printing and need to upgrade the
software on the same day when they inquired the status of the machine on
February 18, 2016. After the upgrading the machine’s software, a technical
problem on the use of loyalty credit was determined on February 19, 2016.
Issues were immediately resolved per recommendation of the AVP of SMD. In
this regard, determination of and resolving issues should however settle on the
15 working days on ascertaining the condition of machines from the receipt of
the machine as provided under Section 14.4 of Annex “A” of PO. Further, the
period of determining the system stability issue was already beyond the subject
date of delayed release of A machines to branches and satellites which could
add to the opportunity loss that PAGCOR may incur.
26.18 Late delivery of 80 A Slot Machines resulting in non-deduction of
liquidated damages of $84,640 or P4.216 million from the payments made
to K Co. and non-forfeiture of the corresponding performance security
amounting to $552,000 or P24.630 million. Such liquidated damages can
be considered as “Other Income” if only deducted from the claim of the
supplier.
26.19 Section 2, Annex A of the Purchase Order No. 568 provides:
“K Co. shall complete the supply and delivery of the said
items within the time prescribed in the PO. Should K Co. incur
delay in its performance, it shall pay liquidated damages in
the amount of at least one-tenth of one per cent (1/10 of 1%)
of the total cost of the undelivered item/s for each day of
delay. The maximum deduction shall be ten per cent (10%) of
the amount of the contract. Xxx . . .
In case K Co. still fails to deliver the item after the lapse of
thirty (30) calendar days from the supposed date of delivery,
in addition to the forfeiture of the performance security and
the penalties agreed upon, PAGCOR shall have the option to
terminate the purchase.” (emphasis supplied)
26.20 The Notice to Proceed (NTP) dated June 18, 2015, provides that the delivery
should be made 90 days from the receipt of supplier. The supplier received
the NTP on June 22, 2015, hence, delivery should be on or before September
21, 2015. However, the delivery was made only on November 3, 2015, based
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on the Waybill No. 2015PAG001 and report provided by SMD or a delay of 46
days from September 21, 2015.
26.21 Despite the delay, PAGCOR did not impose nor deduct the corresponding
liquidated damages of $84,640 (1/10 of 1% x 46 days x $1,840,000) in the first
payment nor in the subsequent payments as of audit date. It is worth
mentioning that Management had already paid a total amount of $164,226 as
of December 31, 2016.
26.22 Likewise, Management did not file for the forfeiture of the performance security
or security bond in its favor in the amount of $552,000 or equivalent to P24.630
million, which was valid until May 15, 2016, despite the lapse of the delivery
period as agreed upon under Section 2, Annex A of the PO.
26.23 We recommended that Management:
a.

Deduct the liquidated damages for late delivery in the succeeding
payments to the K Co.; and

b.

Submit a written justification on why forfeiture of the performance
security was not done despite the delay in the delivery as agreed
upon in the contract.

26.24 Management stated that due to the merging of various manufacturers resulting
to sudden changing of serial plates (the W machines have plates of B which is
another brand) that took time to settle as it was initially deemed to have impact
on the compliance of the delivery with the Terms of Reference.
26.25 The approved request for extension for the delivery of 80 A slot machines
giving way for allowable delivery of the machines was until November 30, 2015.
26.26 SMD also disclosed that although the subject issue was only the 20 slot
machines, they could not still immediately release the entire slot machines.
Also, they revealed that the releasing period from January 11 to February 8,
2016 was due to the logistical capacity in delivering the slot machines to
different sites.
26.27 The delayed release of the 60 W machines, the Audit Team evaluated that 20
out of 60 WSA machines were inspected and found with different brand serial
number plate. The issue was resolved as early as October 8, 2015 when the
supplier clarified that all W branded products manufactured will carry B
Technologies identification tags after the merger of various companies,
including the W Gaming, Inc. Basically, the brand issue can be resolved within
the 15 working period allowable for determining the satisfactory condition of the
machines. However, the interval period from the date of resolving the brand
issue to the date of releasing the machine to the operational sites could still be
found substantially contributed to the opportunity loss of generating additional
income.
26.28 Further, nowhere in the terms and conditions under the PO that PAGCOR shall
return the entire slot machines if part of the total deliveries had issues on the
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condition of the machines. Also, Management should further evaluate the
logistical delivery process of machines to different sites considering that the 60
W were all set ready for operation but took 28 days of delivering all machines
to the PAGCOR branches and satellites.
26.29 Based on the Memorandum dated September 3, 2015, the extension for the
delivery of the 80 A Slot machines was approved by the former Assistant Vice
President (AVP) of the Bids and Awards Services Department (BASD).
However, similar to the case rendered by GPPB, in its Non-policy opinion No.
016-2009 on the Head of the Procuring Entity delegation to BAC Chairperson,
disclosed that the BAC Chair, in its capacity as OIC General Manager,
although bereft of authority to approve the award of contract, may sign the
contract and issue the NTP, provided proper board resolution is priority issued
for the purpose; and, provided, further, that such function is among those that
can be delegated under the GOCC’s corporate charter and other governing
rules. Currently, the Audit Team is awaiting for the board resolution showing
the approving authority of the AVP.
26.30 Management was not be able to submit copy of Board Resolution on the
approving authority for extension of the delivery of the 80 A slot machines that
will support the non-deduction of the liquidated damages of $84,640 or P4.216
million from the payments made to K Co. and non-forfeiture of the
corresponding performance security amounting to $552,000 or P24.630 million
for the late deliveries of machines.

27.

Wines, liquors, and other beverages, as well as cigarettes with a total cost of
P4.199 million as of December 31, 2016 remained in the VIP Bar storage and the
Branch has no definite plan to dispose the said items despite the fact that
Marketing and Entertainment Expenses of the Branch had already been
assumed by the proponent, effective April 1, 2016. Further, for the period April 1
to December 31, 2016, there were still deliveries of food & non-food supplies for
the VIP Bar in the total amount of P1.874 million. Since these VIP supplies are
consumable in nature and the same are exposed to loss, damage, spoilage and
theft to the prejudice of the Branch, if they will remain in storage.
27.1

Relative to the nearing expiry date of the original term, being March 31, 2016,
under the 2003 Lease Agreement, PAGCOR and the proponent entered into
another contract, an Agreement for Lease on December 18, 2015, with a term
of another period of fifteen (15) years to commence on April 1, 2016 until
March 31, 2031 for the continuance of the casino operations at Casino Filipino
Malate. Amongst the terms and conditions in the new agreement is the
provision stated on the contract rider dated December 18, 2015, written by the
proponent as concurred by PAGCOR that reads as follows:
“xxx with the aim of improving the General Gaming Revenues of the
PAGCOR Casino, our company, as the Lessor of the Leased
Premises, will as from the commencement of the New Term
voluntarily assume the expenses for what is commonly known as
Marketing and Entertainment expenses for the PAGCOR Casino
and associated manpower required, for such duration for which and
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the extent and payment of which shall be determined entirely at our
discretion and without any legal consequence to us.” (Emphasis
supplied)
27.2

Marketing Expenses, as described in the PAGCOR Chart of Accounts, include
among others, food, drinks, hotel bills, plane fare, and other amenities for VIP
customers/playing guests.

27.3

In the course of our audit, we noted that despite such agreement between
PAGCOR and the proponent, being that the latter shall shoulder the Marketing
and Entertainment Expenses, there was no provision or concrete plan by
PAGCOR as to the disposal of the VIP stock items as early as the
commencement of the new agreement. Records showed that as of April 01,
2016, the VIP bar amenities, consisting of food and non-food supplies, had a
total cost of P5.268 million. From April 1, 2016, the start of the assumption by
the proponent, to December 31, 2016, the Branch made no effort in the
immediate disposal of the said supplies. This was evident from the conduct of
actual physical count of inventories on January 3, 2017 wherein we observed
that several wines, liquors, other beverages and cigarettes in the total cost of
P4.199 million remained in stock at the VIP Bar storage.

27.4

We further noted that for the period, April 1 to December 31, 2016, there were
still some deliveries in the total amount of P1.874 million, including supplies
directly charged to Marketing Expenses when there should have been no more
VIP supplies to speak of.

27.5

Prudence dictates that VIP bar amenities should have been disposed by way of
sale or by transfer to the other casino branches as early as the commencement
of the new lease agreement. At the least, from the time of concurrence by
PAGCOR on the assumption of Marketing and Entertainment Expenses by the
proponent, provision on the assumption of the VIP supplies by the latter should
have been part of the agreement.

27.6

We wish to stress the fact that VIP supplies are consumable in nature and the
same are exposed to loss, damage, spoilage, and theft to the prejudice of the
Branch, if they will remain in storage.

27.7

We recommended that the Branch Management to consider the
immediate disposal of said items in which the Branch has the feasible
option of either selling the supplies to the proponent at cost or
transferring the supplies to other PAGCOR casino branches.

27.8

Management informed that under the new contract with the proponent,
marketing expenses of CF Malate became their obligation. Earlier on, while the
renewal of contract was still unclear, the branch completed the bidding process
for marketing complements that included cigarettes and wines. The quantity
procured was based on historical consumption to ensure that the branch will be
able to provide what is due to their valued players on demand.

27.9

When the renewal of contract was already final, CF Malate in one of the
meetings with the proponent to discuss marketing concerns, it was agreed
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upon by both parties that the branch will continue offering said complimentary
items until supply lasts and that the proponent would just pay for the cost upon
billing. However, when billing was submitted to them, they refused to pay with
the reason that the price of the same commodities are significantly lower with
their supplier, hence they offered to just replace whatever was consumed with
exactly the same items (kind, brand, size, etc.).
27.10 This resolve by the proponent prompted the Branch to offer the remaining stock
to other branches and SOG’s that maybe in need of the same. But despite their
best effort, it was only CF Tagaytay and CF Olongapo who took their offer
because all other branches and SOG’s have just completed their respective
biddings for beverages and wines. CF Malate is already in the process of
termination of the contract covering undelivered VIP amenities amounting to
P4.448 million.
27.11 In a letter dated November 23, 2016 by then General Manager to the Chief
Executive Officer of the proponent, it conferred the VIP bar amenities that were
issued sometimes in the period April 1 to August 31, 2016 to include
beverages, wines, liquors, and cigarettes while issuances for non-food items
covers the period of April to October 31, 2016. Records show that the total cost
of VIP bar amenities including items directly charged to Marketing Expenses
issued to the latter was pegged at P2.875 million.
27.12 The issuances were made during the time the proponent assumed already the
Marketing and Entertainment Expenses. We noted, however, that the
agreement was, instead of reimbursing the total purchased amount VIP bar
amenities, the proponent will replace the same items to the Branch.
27.13 The agreement was some sort of contract of commodatum wherein the Branch
gratuitously loans the VIP supplies to proponent which are to be returned
undamaged by proponent. This kind of arrangement is for the sole benefit of
proponent, being the borrower, to the disadvantage of the Branch, which the
latter could have sold the supplies to the proponent instead or transfer the
supplies to other casino branches that are still catering to the VIP customers
and playing guests’ needs.
27.14 Verification also revealed that items costing P439,071.25 or 15 per cent of the
total VIP supplies issued to proponent costing P2.875 million were replaced by
proponent as of December 31, 2016.
27.15 The remaining items costing P2.436 million or 85 per cent are yet to be
returned by the proponent.
27.16 The VIP supplies borrowed by the proponent precluded the Branch to
strategize the immediate disposal of the supplies in a manner beneficial to the
Branch.
27.17 We recommended that the Branch Management cause the immediate
retrieval of VIP supplies issued to the proponent or make representation
instead to cause the proponent pay the cost of the supplies instead.
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27.18 Management informed that due to replacement of same items by the
proponent, the branch accumulated excess and high inventory of stocks. That
is why CF Malate deferred the issuance of the remaining items to be returned
by the proponent that will result in expiration and spoilage, if not dispose or
allocated to other branches. They are now looking for a recipient that will
accept the remaining stock in their inventory including the unreturned items of
proponent.
28.

CF-Bacolod and CF-Iloilo marketing expenses amounting to P25.254 million and
P16.550 million, respectively, were more than the approved budget by P12.884
million and P8.548 million, respectively. Likewise, said marketing expenses
exceeded five per cent ceiling based on winnings by 0.41 per cent and 1.71 per
cent, respectively.
28.1

One of the management policies to control operating expenses is the setting up
of the Branch Annual Budget for Marketing Expenses setting it within the five
per cent of the total winnings. Its primary objective is to operate within the
approved budget or to reach the level equal to or below the five per cent ceiling
that will translate into a positive variance or a decrease in its marketing
expenses.

28.2

For the current year the CF-Bacolod and Iloilo Branch has a total budget of
P41.804 million for marketing expenses to cover payment for clientele’s hotel
charges, food concessionaires and other amenities. Total marketing expenses
for the year amounted to P63.236 million which exceeds its budget by P21.432
million or 61 per cent. This also exceeds the five per cent marketing expense
ceiling policy based on total winnings.

28.3

Hereunder is the comparative analysis of the negative variances for marketing
expenses for CF-Bacolod and Iloilo:
CF-Bacolod
Marketing Expenses
per budget
Actual Marketing
Expenses
Negative variance
Percentage of negative
variance per marketing
expense budget
Total Winnings
Percentage of actual
marketing expenses
per total winnings

28.4

CF - Iloilo

Total

P25,254,404.28

P16,550,000.04

P41,804,404.32

38,137,913.76
(P12,883,509.48)

25,098,277.64
(P8,548,277.64)

63,236,191.40
(P21,431,787.08)

51%

52%

51%

P704,572,510.05

P374,094,340.06

P1,078,666,850.11

5.41%

6.71%

5.86%

Branch marketing expenses had exceeded its budget and the five per cent
ceiling, particularly in CF-Iloilo, thus, needs Management immediate attention
to evaluate the current policies, controls and procedures in place. As of the
year-end, the branch management requested additional budget of P11.349
million under the principle of quantum meruit for payment of unpaid marketing
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expenses. These charges covered unpaid customers food and beverages as
well as room charges for CF-Bacolod and Iloilo.
28.5

We
recommended
that
management
re-visit
the
policies/controls/procedures in budgeting and expenditures related to
gaming operations with the end view of establishing stronger controls by
amending or exploring other policies to maximize income and reduce
expenses.

28.6

The management committed to abide with the recommendation and it has
already a pending board request on the confirmation of their actual

Gender and Development (GAD)
29.

PAGCOR‘s Gender and Development Plans and Budget (GPBs) for the years
2014-2016 was not submitted to the Philippine Commission on Women (PCW) for
review and approval and was not endorsed to the DBM in compliance with the
Joint Circular No. 2012-01 of PCW, NEDA and DBM.
29.1

Per Joint Circular No. 2012-01 of Philippine Commission on Women (PCW),
National Economic and Development Authority (NEDA) and Department of
Budget and Management (DBM), annual Gad Plans and Budget (GPBs) and
annual GAD Accomplishment Reports (GAD ARs) are submitted to Philippine
Commission on Women (PCW) for review and approval. The agency
submission to PCW shall include a letter signed by the head of agency
informing the PCW that the GAD Focal Point System (GFPS) of the agency has
accordingly reviewed the GPBs and GAD ARs and the list of
departments/offices whose GPB and GAD AR are included in the submission,
the names of the agency head and contact numbers of their respective GFPS
Chairperson. PCW shall acknowledge in writing the receipt of the GPBs within
two (2) working days. It shall then review and inform the agency of its
comments or action on the GAD plans within fifteen (15) working days. If there
are revisions to be made or questions to be answered about the submissions,
the agency shall be given thirty (30) days to resubmit the GPB. Upon receipt of
the revised GPBs, PCW shall endorse all revised GPBs and return these to the
different line departments for their submission to DBM. PCW approves and
endorses all revised GPBs and returns them to the concerned offices for
submission to DBM in time for the budget submission.

29.2

In the previous audit of PAGCOR’s GAD fund, it has always been noted that
the submitted GPBs and GAD ARs have no PCW transmittal and approval;
thus, no letter of endorsement from PCW has been submitted and assurance of
GAD Plans and Programs/ Activities of PAGCOR are acceptable.

29.3

We recommended strict compliance with the General and Procedural
Guidelines of the PCW-NEDA-DBM Joint Circular No. 2012-01 particularly
in the submission, review, and endorsement of PAGCOR’s GAD Plans
and Budgets for more responsive results of GAD programs.
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29.4

We recommended compliance with the General and Procedural
Guidelines of Joint Circular No. 2004-01 dated April 5, 2014. Moreover, the
use of the Harmonized Gender and Development Guidelines (HGDG) tool
is recommended to determine the extent of the targeted HGDG score is
attained.

29.5

PAGCOR’s GAD Focal Point System (GFPS) is weak.
29.5.1

The GAD Focal Point System (GFPS) has a vital role in the
preparation of the annual Gender and Development (GAD) Plans and
Budget and Accomplishment Reports to implement its programs,
activities, and projects. The agency GAD Focal Point Systems
(GFPS) shall take the lead in mainstreaming gender in agency
programs, activities, and projects. As such, they shall coordinate the
preparation of the agency GAD Plan and Budget (GPBS) and the
GAD Accomplishment Report (GAD AR), monitor its implementation,
and report on its result. In the process, they shall provide technical
assistance to offices or units within their agency on gender
mainstreaming. To enable them to perform their roles, it is important
that GFPS members are provided with the required gender capacity,
such as the application of gender analysis tools. We observed that
PAGCOR GPBs and GAD ARs on its past years have no GFPS
review; thus, proposed activities and issues are not correctly identified
or formulated.

29.6

We recommended the strengthening of the existing GFPS to have an
institutionalized and functional GFPS to more effectively plan and
implement the sectoral programs on GAD.

29.7

There was an absence of documents to support expenses incurred in
implementing GAD Plans Activities and Programs.
29.7.1

Pursuant to Section 36 of Magna Carta of Women (MCW), the
Commission on Audit (COA) shall conduct audit on the use of the
GAD budget for the purpose of determining its judicious use and the
efficiency and effectiveness of interventions in addressing gender
issues toward the realization of the objectives of the country’s
commitments, plans, and policies on women’s empowerment, gender
equality, and Gender and Development (GAD). To be able to examine
the agency’s level of gender mainstreaming or the extent of the
gender-responsiveness of its policies, programs, and projects, the
following documents are needed:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.

Brief summary of the reported Programs or Projects;
Abstract of reported policies issuances;
Cash Requests/Advances;
GAD Plan and Budget duly approved and endorsed by PCW;
Certification from the Accountant for the total GAD expenditures
during the period under review;
6. Disbursement Vouchers for GAD activities; and
7. Liquidation Reports on GAD programs/training programs
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29.8

30.

Compliance with Tax Laws
30.1

31.

In compliance with the National Internal Revenue Code and BIR Revenue
Memorandum Circular No. 8-2012 dated February 29, 2012, the total
Corporate Income Tax of PAGCOR amounting to P32.584 million, as disclosed
in the Notes to Financial Statement, was remitted to the Bureau of Internal
Revenue within the prescribed period.

Compliance with SSS Regulations
31.1

32.

We recommended the submission of the above documents to determine,
among others, whether the total appropriations authorized for gender and
development were indeed appropriated and utilized for the purpose.

The agency complied with the Social Security System (SSS) regulations
regarding remittances of contributions.

Compliance with Various Republic Acts
RA No. 1869 -

As mandated under Section 1 (b) of this act, PAGCOR was able to
remit P20.608 billion to the National Treasury. This pertained to the
National Government’s income share for FY 2015, computed as 50
per cent of winnings, net of the five per cent franchise tax.

RA No. 6847 -

A total of P1.030 billion was remitted to the Philippine Sports
Commission as its income share. This was computed at five per cent
of winnings, net of five per cent franchise tax and 50 per cent
government share.

RA No. 1869 -

The Agency was able to remit P466.120 million as Host City Share for
FY 2015, to the different Cities and Provinces hosting casinos as
donations/financial assistance in the amounts approved by the Board
of Directors in fulfilment of its socio civic function under its Charter.

RA No. 7309 -

A total of P37.934 million was remitted to the Board of Claim’s as its
income share and was computed at one per cent of net income, as
provided under this Act.

RA No. 7356 -

A total of P100 million was contributed to the National Endowment for
Culture and the Arts for FY 2014, as provided under Section 20
paragraph (a) of this Act.

RA No. 8980 -

In compliance with Section 10of this Act, PAGCOR contributed P500
million to the Early Childhood Care and Development System.
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33.

Status of Suspensions, Disallowances and Charges

As of December 31, 2016, The audit suspension, disallowances and charges amounted to
P0, P671.620 million and US$8,978.58, and P40.857 million, respectively, of which the total
disallowances of P445.420 million were appealed to the COA in accordance with Chapter
IV on Decisions and Appeals of the 2009 Revised Rules of Procedures of the Commission
on Audit.
Matrix of Audit Disallowances and Charges are shown below:
ND/NC NO.
Particulars
1. Notice of Disallowance (ND)
2011-01 (06/07)
Erroneous application of percentage in
computing the software license fee remitted to
RTG Holdings Ltd.
2011-02 (08)
The approval of the Board to charge the total
cost of P26.7M to Player Tracking System was
not followed
2011-03 (10)
Irregular expenditure
2011-04 (10)
Irregular expenditure
2012-001 (08/09)
Illegal expenditure
2012-003 (08)
Irregular expenditure
2012-004 (09)
Irregular expenditure
2012-005 (09)
Irregular expenditure
2012-006 (10)
Irregular expenditure
2012-007(10)
Irregular expenditure
2013-002 (10)
Irregular expenditure
2013-003 (09)
Incomplete supporting documents
2013-004 (2004Incomplete supporting documents
2008)
2013-005(10)
Incomplete supporting documents
2013-006(10)
Incomplete supporting documents
2013-007(10)
Incomplete supporting documents
2013-011(10)
Non-compliance with COA Circular No. 2007001 dated
Oct. 25, 2007
14-005(13)
Falsified official receipts
14-002
Fake official receipts
16-002 (15)
Payment of Officers’ Performance-Based
Bonus to PAGCOR Officers for CY 2015
16-005 (16)
Payment of 12 months advance rental and six
months security deposit for lease of space for a
casino gaming facility with the Museo ng
Manila Complex with total area of 6,500 sqm.

AMOUNT in PhP

TOTAL

671,619,951.74
AMOUNT in US
Dollar

ND NO.

NATURE OF DISALLOWANCE

Excess per diem paid to 18 PAGCOR
st
personnel who participated in 1 ASEAN Civil
Service Games in KL, Malaysia
2. Notice of Charge (NC)
2014-001 Bingo 2013 Unremitted Bingo Ticket Sales
2015-001001-Bingo
Unremitted Bingo Ticket Sales
(2013)
16-001

57,926,133.63

26,700,000.00

315,683.30
680,658.00
550,000.00
16,000,000.00
3,200,000.00
750,000.00
3,000,000.00
435,000.00
2,000,000.00
20,438,130.00
26,744,471.21
31,237,500.00
1,040,000.00
1,654,000.00
1,007,237.10
1,800,000.00
1,915,830.00
248,025,308.50
226,200,000.00

8,978.58

614,000.00
34,000.00
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ND/NC NO.
16-001 (14/15) CF
Malate
16-001 (14/15) CF
Pavilion
2016-001-CF
Olongapo
2016-002-CF
Olongapo
2016-003-CF
Olongapo
2016-004-CF
Olongapo
TOTAL

Particulars
Inability to collect five per cent franchise tax

AMOUNT in PhP
839,798.06

Inability to collect five per cent franchise tax

540,053.63

Under collection of taxes and over payment to
the proponent
Under collection of taxes and over payment to
the proponent
Inability to collect five per cent franchise tax
Inability to collect five per cent franchise tax

28,525,211.86
9,635,479.48
621,637.15
46,915.31

40,857,095.49
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STATUS OF IMPLEMENTATION OF PRIOR YEAR’S AUDIT RECOMMENDATIONS
Out of the 36 audit recommendations embodied in the prior year’s Annual Audit Report, 16
were fully implemented, 10 were partially implemented and 10 were not implemented.
Reference

Observations

FINANCIAL AND COMPLIANCE AUDIT
AAR 2015
1. The remittances made by
A.1
PAGCOR to the BTr
p. 31
relative to the 50 per cent
share of the National
Government (NG) pursuant
to Section 12 of PD 1869
for CYs 2011 to 2015 was
deficient by P25.962 billion
due
to
a
different
interpretation
of
the
composition of aggregate
gross earnings.
Recomputation,
however,
disclosed
an
overremittance of the 50 per
cent cash dividend remitted
by PAGCOR to the BTr
during the same years
pursuant to Section 3 of RA
7656 in the total amount of
P10.561 billion, bringing
the net under-remittance to
P15.401 billion
AAR 2015
A.2
p. 33

2. Verification
of
the
disposition
of
funds
released by PAGCOR
during CYs 2011 to 2015 to
DepEd and DPWH in the
total amount of P9.935
billion for the construction
of school buildings to help
address the classroom
needs of public elementary
and secondary schools, in
line with its Matuwid na
Daan sa Silid Aralan
Project,
disclosed
the
following deficiencies:

Recommendations
That Management should
cause the remittance of
the total amount of
P15.401 billion to the BTr,
representing
underremittance of the 50 per
cent government share for
CYs 2011 to 2015 in
accordance with PD 1869,
net of the over-remittance
of the 50 per cent cash
dividend
pursuant
to
Section 3 of RA 7656
totalling P10.561 billion.
Thereafter, computation
of the 50 per cent
government share should
be based on the entire
income of PAGCOR, not
only income from gaming
revenues.

Status of
Implementation
Not Implemented
Status Quo.
Reiterated in the
CY 2016 audit
observations and
recommendations

That Management should
cause the submission of
the following supporting
documents pertaining to
the
P9.935
billion
releases of funds to the
DepEd/DPWH, to wit:

a. Supporting
computations on how
the estimated number
of
classrooms
indicated in each of
the five MOAs and the
corresponding
cost
per classroom were
arrived at;
a) The Memoranda of
Agreement (MOAs) for

Partially
Implemented
Some documents
were submitted to
COA for
verification.
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Reference

Status of
Implementation
the P9.935 billion funds b. Justifications/
Partially
released by PAGCOR
explanations for the Implemented
for the construction of
increase
in
the
public elementary and
estimated cost per Some documents
secondary
school
classroom as inferred were submitted to
buildings
have
no
from the decrease in COA for
supporting
the estimated number verification
computations on how
of classrooms as well
the estimated number
as the corresponding
of classrooms and the
supporting
estimated unit cost
computations; and
thereof were arrived at.
Likewise, the increase c. Other
pertinent Partially
in the estimated unit
documents.
Implemented
cost in CYs 2014 and
2015, as inferred from
the decrease of the
estimated number of
classrooms, have no
supporting
recomputations
nor
justifications/
explanations.
Observations

b) The

Office of the
Auditor
was
not
provided with copies of
the
Reports
of
Disbursements, Proofs
of
Payments
and
Certificates of Turnover
and Acceptance of the
classrooms/school
buildings, as required
under Paragraph 6,
Financial
Allocation
section of the four MOA
entered
into
by
PAGCOR with DepEd
and DPWH for the
project funds totalling
P6.935 billion.

Recommendations

That Management should
cause the submission by
the DepEd/DPWH to the
Office of the Auditor of the
documents
specified
under
Paragraph
6,
Financial
Allocation
section of each of the
subject MOAs. In addition,
we also recommended for
the submission of a status
report relating to the use
of the P6.935 billion funds
containing the following
information:

Fully
Implemented
Some documents
were submitted to
COA for
verification.

a. Balance of the Fund Fully
as of December 31, Implemented
2015;
b. Total
number
of Fully
classrooms/school
Implemented
buildings constructed
as of December 31,
2015;
115

Reference

Observations

Recommendations

Status of
Implementation

c. Actual costs of each Fully
constructed
Implemented
classroom/school
building; and
d. Total
number
of Partially
classrooms/school
Implemented
buildings turned-over
and/or accepted as of
December 31, 2015.
AAR 2015
A.3
p. 36

3. Result of bank confirmation
of the balance as of
December 31, 2015 of the
Peso
OPEX
account
maintained by PAGCOR
with
the
PNB-Ermita
Branch, with Accounts
Numbers
SA#108766100166/CA#10
9281300021, disclosed a
P47.895
million
discrepancy compared with
the balance per books as
of the same date, casting
doubt on the validity and
reliability of the balance of
the Cash in Bank account
presented in the financial
statements
as
of
December 31, 2015.

That
the
Accounting Fully
Department effect the Implemented
necessary
adjusting
entries to take up the
reconciling
items
identified in the Bank
Reconciliation Statement
as of December 31, 2015,
which need adjustments
in the books, in order to
reconcile the balance of
the Peso OPEX account
maintained by PAGCOR
with
the
PNB-Ermita
Branch per books with the
balance confirmed by the
bank as of the same date.

AAR 2015
A.4
p. 37

4. Balance of the Physical
Inventory
Report
of
PAGCOR’s Property, Plant
and Equipment (PPE) for
CY 2015 disclosed a
P58.716
million
discrepancy compared with
the balance of the PPE
account per books, net of
depreciation,
as
of
December 31, 2015 of the
Corporate and the Satellite
Operations Group (SOG) 1
to 4

Conduct
deeper
investigation on the 2,719
items of PPE with book
values totalling P57.881
million, which were not
found during the physical
count.

Partially
Implemented
There was a
significant
reduction of listed
but not found
(LBNF) items
consisting of
2,231 items with
net book value
amounting to
P52.298 million.
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Reference

Observations

Status of
Implementation
Appropriate legal and/or Partially
administrative
actions Implemented
may be taken against the
officials and employees
responsible for the loss, if
the
circumstances
warrant.
Recommendations

Thereafter,
necessary Not
adjusting
entries
be Implemented
effected so that the PPE
account shall be fairly
presented in the financial
statements.
Likewise,
effect
the Not
necessary
adjusting Implemented
entries relative to the 956
items of PPE with book
values of P0.835 million
that were already donated
as of December 31, 2015,
in order to reflect the
correct balances of the
affected accounts in the
financial statements as of
the same date.
AAR 2015
A.5
p. 40

5. Validation
of
the
implementation
of
PAGCOR’s project funded
in the amount of P6 million
pertaining to the painting of
bunkhouses
in
areas
affected by super typhoon
“Yolanda”, specifically in
Tacloban, Palo, Basey and
Marabut, disclosed the
following:
a) The
Evaluation/
Assessment Report as
of May 14, 2015
furnished
by
the
Regional Director of the
DPWH, Region VIII,
showed that 248 units
of bunkhouses were
painted
while
the

Follow-up the submission Fully
by the concerned DPWH Implemented
officials of the completion
report required under the
above-mentioned MOA,
which should address the
observations noted by the
Audit Team.
Moreover,
cause
the
submission of data and/or
information
on
the
disposition over the 1,522
gallons of Boysen paints
that were not utilized and
demand for the return of
the unexpended amount,
if there is any, in
accordance
with
the
pertinent provision of the
MOA.

Not
Implemented
Unutilized fund
were not yet
refunded to
PAGCOR.
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Reference

Observations

Recommendations

Status of
Implementation

inventory
report
submitted by the Chief,
Supply
and
Procurement
Management Section
as of the same date
indicated that 5,869
gallons
of
Boysen
paints were issued to
the
end-users,
or
almost 24 gallons per
unit, which was an
enormous quantity for
the
size
of
a
bunkhouse.
b) No completion report
accompanied
by
pictures
of
the
completed
Project
together
with
a
liquidation
report
showing the expenses
incurred
in
the
disbursements of the
financial
assistance,
duly
audited
and
verified by the DPWHCOA
Auditor,
was
submitted
by
the
DPWH to PAGCOR,
contrary to the No. 4
undertaking provided in
the MOA dated March
5, 2014 relative to the
P6 million financial
assistance granted by
PAGCOR
to
the
DPWH, strictly for the
painting of bunkhouses
in areas affected by
super
typhoon
“Yolanda”.

AAR 2015
A.6
p. 42

6. Audit of the payment made
to a Service Event Provider
in the amount of P1.572
million,
net
of
tax,

Ensure compliance with Fully
the pertinent provisions of Implemented
RA 9184, particularly on
the conditions to be met
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Reference

Observations
representing service fee for
the
20-Year
Loyalty
Awards
for
PAGCOR
employees, showed the
following deficiencies:
a) Direct
Contracting
mode was resorted to
in the procurement of
the
service
event
provider despite the
fact that it did not meet
the
conditions
enumerated
under
Section 50 of the
Revised Implementing
Rules and Regulations
(RIRR) of RA 9184
and, therefore, should
have
undergone
competitive
public
bidding.
b) The services provided
by a Service Event
Provider for the 20Years loyalty awarding,
with a contract price of
P1.850
million,
included concepts and
production designs that
displayed extravagance
and
the
amount
incurred therefor is
considered excessive,
which
are
both
prohibited under COA
Circular No. 2012-003
dated
October
29,
2012.

Recommendations

Status of
Implementation

before resorting to other
modes of procurement.
Likewise,
we Fully
recommended
Implemented
compliance with COA
Circular No. 2012-003
dated October 29, 2012,
specifically
on
the
prevention of incurrence
of
excessive
and
extravagant expenditures,
which are disallowable in
audit pursuant to the said
COA regulation.

CASINO FILIPINO BRANCHES
AAR 2015
7. Five per cent Franchise
B.7
Tax not remitted by the
p. 45
proponents
a) Proponents from four
branches of PAGCOR
did not remit the five
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Reference

Observations

Recommendations

Status of
Implementation

per cent Franchise Tax
for CY 2015 in the total
amount
of
P3.282
million,
contrary to
Section 13(2) of PD
1869, otherwise known
as
the
PAGCOR
Charter and Item No.
VIII of the Certificate to
Operate a Poker Sports
Club issued to the said
proponents.

CF-ANGELES
A proponent of CF-Angeles
City did not remit the five
per cent Franchise Tax on
the Poker Gross Rake
Collections amounting to
P1.312 million for CY 2015.

Require
the
subject Fully
proponents to remit the Implemented
five per cent Franchise
Tax to PAGCOR in faithful
compliance
with
the
PAGCOR Charter and
Item No. VIII of the
Certificate to Operate a
Poker Sports Club, which,
in turn, be remitted by
PAGCOR to the National
Government.

CF-MALATE
A proponent of CF-Malate
did not remit the five per
cent Franchise Tax on
Poker
Gross
Rake
Collections amounting to
P0.840 million, contrary to
Section 13(2) of PD No.
1869, otherwise known as
the PAGCOR Charter,
resulting in the under
collection of taxes and
remittances to the National
Government by the same
amount.

Not Implemented
Reiterated in the
CY 2016 audit
observations and
recommendations
Notice of Charge
was issued.
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CF-OLONGAPO
A
proponent
of
CFOlongapo did not remit the
five per cent Franchise Tax
for CY 2015 on the Poker
Gross Rake Collections
amounting to P467,103,
contrary to the PAGCOR
Charter and the Certificate
to Operate a Poker Sports
Club
at
CF-Olongapo,
resulting in the under
collection
and
under
remittances of taxes to the
National Government

Not Implemented

CF – PAVILION

Not Implemented

Audit of the Total Poker
Rake Collections during
2015 revealed that the
corresponding five per cent
Franchise Tax amounting
to P0.663 million was not
remitted by the proponent,
as required under the
above-stated provision of
PD 1869.

Since the case
has not yet
reached finality it
is the opinion of
the Corporate
and Legal Service
Department
(CLSD) of
PAGCOR that the
status quo of not
withholding the
5% franchise tax
in question be
maintained.

Reiterated in the
CY 2016 audit
observations and
recommendations
Notice of Charge
was issued.

CF –OLONGAPO
b) The five per cent CF
–
Olongapo
Franchise Tax on the Management should:
share in the winnings of
proponents of CF– a. Deduct the five per
Subic for CY 2015
cent Franchise Tax on
amounting to P30.302
the gross winnings
million
were
not
before the distribution
deducted
by
CFof shares to the
Olongapo, contrary to
proponents
in
the PAGCOR Charter,
compliance with the
as amended, and Joint
PAGCOR Charter and
Venture
Agreements
the
Joint
Venture
with
the
subject
Agreements;

Not Implemented
Notice of Charge
was issued.
Reiterated in the
CY 2016 audit
observations and
recommendations
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proponents, resulting in
under collection and b. Set up the receivables
under remittances of
from
the
subject
taxes to the National
proponents for the
Government
and
excess payments and
overpayments
of
demand for the refund
P10.606 million to the
thereof; and
proponents.

Status of
Implementation
Not Implemented
Notice of Charge
was issued.
Reiterated in the
CY 2016 audit
observations and
recommendations

c. Remit to the National Not Implemented
Government the five
per cent Franchise Notice of Charge
Tax to be collected.
was issued.
Reiterated in the
CY 2016 audit
observations and
recommendations
AAR 2015
B.8
p. 50

AAR 2015
B.9
p. 51

CF – ANGELES
8. The income generated
from the bingo operations
for CY 2015 amounting to
P9.208
million
was
recorded
net
of
commissions/discounts,
contrary to PAS 1, thus,
the balances of the Bingo
Income and the affected
Expense accounts were
understated by P1.528
million.

CF – Angeles should Fully
adhere to the requirement Implemented
of PAS 1 and refrain from
recording
the
bingo
revenues
at
the
discounted amount.
In
addition,
we
recommended
to
strengthen
the
supervisory controls over
the recording of bingo
transactions to ensure the
completeness
and
accuracy of the account
balances.

CF-BACOLOD
9. Total reductions of 98.19
square meters in the space
leased by CF-Iloilo resulted
in
excess
refundable
security deposit totalling
P0.884 million.

CF – Bacolod should Fully
negotiate with its lessor Implemented
for the immediate refund
of the excess security
deposit
or
have
it
deducted
in
the
succeeding
monthly
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payments to be made by
the branch.
AAR 2015
B.10
p. 51

CF-CEBU
10. Utilization of the Host City CF – Cebu Management
Shares given by PAGCOR should:
to the Local Government
Units (LGUs) in Cebu a. Require the recipient Partially
during CYs 2013-2015 in
LGUs to submit to CF- Implemented
the
total
amount
of
Cebu, for submission
P231.500 million was not
to
the
PAGCOR
monitored resulting in its
Corporate Office, a
improper
use
and
monthly Report on the
ultimately
waste
of
Utilization of Host City
government funds.
Share
for
proper
monitoring;
b. Provide feedback to Partially
the
PAGCOR Implemented
Corporate Office on
the huge amount of
unused funds that
have remained idle for
a long period of time
and recommend for a
lesser Host City Share
to these LGUs in order
to avoid waste of
government funds that
could have been used
for other more relevant
programs,
projects
and activities; and
c. Provide
the
COA Partially
Auditors of CF-Cebu Implemented
and recipient LGUs of
Host City Share with a
copy of the MOA as
well as with the
Guidelines relative to
the Host City Share,
duly
approved
by
concerned PAGCOR
Officials.

123

Reference

Observations

AAR 2015
B.11
p. 54

CF-MALATE

AAR 2015
B.12
p. 55

CF-TAGAYTAY

11. Inadequate
planning
resulted in unnecessary
purchases of various items
for the use of a cafeteria
amounting
to
P2.881
million.

12. Inventory items of wines
and liquors and grocery
items of CF–Tagaytay, for
the
consumption of its
very important customers,
the playing public and its
bar
&
restaurant,
amounting
to
P4.332
million as of December 31,
2015,
were
charged
immediately to Marketing
Expenses
instead
of
recording
them
as
Inventories, contrary to the
provisions of Sections 112
and 119 of PD 1445,
resulting
in
the
overstatement
of
the
balance of the Marketing
Expense
account
and
understatement of the
Inventory and Net Income
accounts’ balances by the
same amount as of yearend.

Recommendations

Status of
Implementation

CF – Malate should Fully
comply with Section 7.1 of Implemented
the RIRR of RA 9184
requiring
that
all
procurement
be
meticulously
and
judiciously planned to
avoid
unnecessary
purchases and cause the
submission of a written
information relative to the
disposition of the subject
cafeteria
requirements
costing P2.881 million.

Senior Branch Accountant Fully
should
effect
the Implemented
necessary
adjusting
entries in order to present
fairly the balances of the
Inventory,
Marketing
Expense and Net Income
accounts in the financial
statements.
All items of wines, liquors Fully
and
grocery
items Implemented
intended for consumption
by
very
important
customers, the playing
public and its bar and
restaurant
should
be
recognized as Inventories
upon purchase.
The
same should be treated
as Marketing Expenses
once they are issued
and/or consumed.

VALUE FOR MONEY AUDIT
AAR 2015
B.13

13. PAGCOR
could
have Should
consider
the Partially
earned
an
additional possibility of renegotiating Implemented
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Reference
p. 56

Observations
amount of P3.148 billion
during the entire duration
of the lease contract with
its lessee had it followed
the normal practice in the
rental industry of providing
escalation of rental within a
specified period instead of
diminishing rate of rental.

Recommendations

Status of
Implementation

the
Lease
Contract,
including
the
two
addenda, pursuant to
Section 9 of the original
contract which provides
that, “In the event that
facts and circumstances
arise or be discovered
which render this Contract
of Lease disadvantageous
to the government, the
parties hereto agree to
immediately renegotiate
its terms and conditions”.
Considering
that
the
declining rate was grossly
disadvantageous to the
government, renegotiation
of the lease contract is in
order, which provide for
rental
rates
with
escalation
within
a
specified
period
in
accordance
with
the
normal practice in the
rental industry.
CF – Pavilion should Fully
cause the submission of a Implemented
written
explanation/justification
on
the
nonimplementation of the
subject Feeding Program
that could have benefitted
the
identified
1,000
malnourished
school
children of some public
schools.
In
addition,
return
to
PAGCOR
Corporate the unutilized
fund of P4.300 million,
considering
that
the
purpose for which it was
transferred
was not
attained.

AAR 2015
B.14
p. 58

14. Non-implementation
by
CF-Pavilion
of
the
PAGCOR
Feeding
Program for School Year
2014-2015 amounting to
P4.300 million deprived the
identified
1,000
malnourished
school
children of the benefit from
the said program.

AAR 2015
B.15

15. PAGCOR
could
have Enforce adherence to the Fully
saved the total amount of provisions of Paragraph 5, Implemented
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Reference
p. 59

Observations
P0.582 million had the
concerned officers availed
of the Economy Class
airfare instead of the
Business Class and/or
Premium Economy Class
airfare.

Recommendations

Status of
Implementation

Section 6, EO 248 dated
May
29,
1995,
as
amended by EO 298
dated March 23, 2004, as
well as Paragraph 3.1.1.5
of COA Circular No. 96004 dated April 19, 1996,
stating that only the
ordinary
public
conveyance or customary
modes of transportation
shall be used during local
travels,
except
in
meritorious cases and
justified by prevailing
circumstances.
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